
 REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING - REVISED 
WEDNESDAY, MAY 13, 2020 

       Regular Meeting - 6:30 PM 

City Hall – Beryl P. Robinson, Jr. Conference Room 317 Broad 
Street, Nevada City, CA  95959 

MISSION STATEMENT  
The City of Nevada City is dedicated to preserving and enhancing its small town  

character and historical architecture while providing quality public services for our 
 current and future residents, businesses and visitors. 

Reinette Senum, Mayor 
Duane Strawser, Council Member Erin Minett, Vice Mayor 

      David Parker, Council Member Valerie Moberg, Council Member 

The City Council welcomes you to its meetings which are scheduled at 6:30 PM on the 2nd and 4th Wednesdays of 
each month.  Your interest is encouraged and appreciated.  This meeting is recorded on DVD and is televised on 
local public television Channel 17.  Other special accommodations may be requested to the City Clerk 72 hours in 
advance of the meeting.  Please turn off all cell phones or similar devices.  Action may be taken on any agenda item.  
Agenda notices are available at City Hall.  Materials related to an item on this Agenda submitted to the Council after 
distribution of the agenda packet are available for public inspection in the City Hall at 317 Broad Street, Nevada 
City, CA during normal business hours. 
In order to minimize the spread of the COVID 19 virus Governor Newsom has issued 
Executive Orders that temporarily suspend requirements of the Brown Act.   Please be advised 
that the Council Chambers are closed to the public and that some, or all, of the City of Nevada 
City, City Council Members may attend this meeting telephonically. 

1. You are strongly encouraged to observe the City Council meetings live on PUBLIC
TELEVISION CHANNEL 17,  ONLINE AT THE CITY’S WEBSITE
WWW.NEVADACITYCA.GOV. or Nevada City Public Meetings-YouTube Channel or at
HTTP://NEVCO.GRANICUS.COM/PLAYER/CAMERA/2?PUBLISH_ID=7
2. If you wish to make a comment on a specific agenda item, please submit your comment
via email to the City Manager at NEVADACITY.OLSON@GMAIL.COM.
Comments will be accepted at the email provided until 2pm the day of the meeting PLEASE
INCLUDE THE AGENDA ITEM NUMBER AND LETTER IN YOUR SUBJECT LINE.  For
comments during the meeting subscribe to the City’s youtube channel Nevada City Public
Meetings and submit your public live during the meeting.  Please limit to 200 words or less.
Every effort will be made to read your comment into the record, but some comments may not
be read due to time constraints.

3. In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, if you need special
assistance to participate in this meeting, please contact the Deputy City Clerk at (530) 265-
2496 x133.  Notification at least 48 hours prior to the meeting will enable the City to make
reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to this meeting.  [28 CFR 35.102.35.104 ADA
Title II].  Language translation services are available for this meeting by calling (714) 754-
5225 at least 48 hours in advance.

The City of Nevada City thanks you in advance for taking all precautions to prevent spreading 
the COVID 19 virus.  
ANY MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC DESIRING TO ADDRESS THE COUNCIL ON ANY ITEM ON THIS 
AGENDA: After receiving recognition from the Mayor, give your name and address, and then your comments or 
questions. Please direct your remarks to the Councilmembers. In order that all interested parties have an opportunity 
to speak, please limit your comments to the specific item under discussion. All citizens will be afforded an 
opportunity to speak, consistent with their Constitutional rights. Time limits shall be at the Mayor's discretion. 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCXSQwrXtey12YIl3IbyGMYQ
http://nevco.granicus.com/player/camera/2?publish_id=7
mailto:NEVADACITY.OLSON@GMAIL.COM


IF YOU CHALLENGE the Council's decision on any matter in court, you will be limited to raising only those 
issues you or someone else raised at the meeting or Public Hearing described on this agenda, or in written 
correspondence delivered to the City Council at, or prior to, the meeting or Public Hearing. 

CLOSED SESSION:  None 

Under Government Code Section 54950 members of the public are entitled to comment on the closed session 
agenda before the Council goes into closed session. 

REGULAR MEETING – 6:30 PM - Call to Order 

Roll Call:  Mayor Senum, Vice Mayor Minett, Council Members Moberg, Parker and Strawser 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

PROCLAMATIONS:   

PRESENTATIONS:  170 Ridge Road - Cashin's Field Affordable Housing Project

BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR 

1. PUBLIC COMMENT
Under Government Code Section 54954.3, members of the public are entitled to address
the City Council concerning any item within the Nevada City Council’s subject matter
jurisdiction. Comments on items NOT ON THE AGENDA are welcome at this time.
Normally, public comments are limited to no more than three minutes each.  Except for
certain specific exceptions, the City Council is prohibited from discussing or taking
action on any item not appearing on the posted agenda.

2. COUNCIL MEMBERS REQUESTED ITEMS, COMMITTEE REPORTS AND
FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS:

3. CONSENT ITEMS:
All matters listed under the Consent Calendar are to be considered routine by the City
Council and will be enacted by one motion in the form listed.  There will be no separate
discussion of these items unless, before the City Council votes on the motion to adopt,
members of the Council, City staff or the public request specific items to be removed
from the Consent Calendar for separate discussion and action.

A. Subject: Accounts Payable Activity Report – April 2020
Recommendation: Receive and file.

B. Subject: Rescheduling of Fiscal Year 2020/2021 Budget Workshop
Recommendation: Approve rescheduling the Fiscal Year (FY) 2020/2021 Budget
Workshop from May 14, 2020 to May 20, 2020.

C. Subject: 3rd Quarter Financial Update, Fiscal Year (FY) 19/20
Recommendation: Receive and file.

D. Subject:  Authorization for Procurement of Nevada City Wastewater Plant Belt
Press Wash Water Return Pump



Recommendation: Pass Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City of Nevada 
City Council authorizing the City Manager or designee to sign purchase orders for 
the procurement of Nevada City Wastewater Plant Belt Press Wash Water Return 
Pump from Pac Machine Company in the amount of $11,277.00 plus $2,000.00 in 
contingencies. 

E. Subject:  Lease Purchase of Two Chevy Silverado SSV (Special Service Vehicle) 
Trucks for the Nevada City Police Department
Recommendation: Pass Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the of the City 
Council of the City of Nevada City Authorizing the City Manager to execute lease 
agreements for two Chevy Silverados for the Nevada City Police Department.

F. Subject:  Resolution Approving a Notice of Exemption for Commercial Street Phase 
II Improvements
Recommendation: Pass Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council of 
the City of Nevada City, State of California, Recommending Approval of a Notice of 
Exemption (NOE) for Commercial Street Phase II Improvements and authorize the 
Mayor to sign.

G. Subject:  Action Minutes April 22, 2020 City Council Meeting 
Recommendation: Review and approve City Council Meeting Action Minutes of 
April 22, 2020.

H. Subject:  Action Minutes May 1, 2020 Special City Council Meeting 
Recommendation: Review and approve Special City Council Meeting Action 
Minutes of May 1, 2020. 

4. DEPARTMENT REQUESTED ACTION ITEMS AND UPDATE REPORTS:

A. Subject: Approval of Street Closure at the 300 and 400 block of Broad Street to
Vehicular Traffic from Fridays at 6AM Until Mondays at 6AM until the COVID-19
Pandemic Shelter in Place Orders are Lifted and Suspend the Imposition and
Collection of City Parking Meter Fees Until the End of the Local Emergency
Recommendation:

1. Provide approval for City staff to block off the 300 and 400 block of Broad
Street from 6AM on Fridays until 6AM on Mondays in an effort to create
more area to social distance in the downtown area.

2. Review and approve Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council
Of The City Of Nevada City Suspending The Imposition And Collection Of
Parking Fees At City Parking Meters During The Covid-19 Local
Emergency.

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS:

A. Subject: Consideration of and First Reading of Ordinance Repealing and
Readopting Chapter 17.150 of the Nevada City Municipal Code entitled “Wireless
Telecommunication Facilities in the City”
Recommendation: Hold first reading, waive reading of Ordinance in its entirety,
and read by title only, Ordinance 2020-XX Repealing and Readopting Chapter
17.150 of the Nevada City Municipal Code entitled “Wireless Telecommunication
Facilities in the City”.



6. OLD BUSINESS:

7. NEW BUSINESS:

A. Subject: Declaration of Fiscal Emergency
Recommendation: Approve Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council
of the City of Nevada City Proclaiming a Local Financial Emergency and
Recognizing the financial Hardship Facing the City in Fiscal Years 19/20 and 20/21.

8. CORRESPONDENCE:

9. ANNOUNCEMENTS:

10. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT:

11. ADJOURNMENT

Certification of Posting of Agenda 
I, Neil Locke, City Clerk for the City of Nevada City, declare that the foregoing agenda for the May 
13th, 2020 Regular Meeting of the Nevada City City Council was posted May 9th, 2020 at the entrance 
of City Hall. The agenda is also posted on the City’s website www.nevadacityca.gov. 

Signed May 9th, 2020, at Nevada City, California 

______________________________________________________ 
Neil Locke, City Clerk  
__________________________________________________________________________________ _ 

CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
City Council 

Long Range Calendar 

May 25, 2020 Holiday 
May 20, 2020 Budget Workshop 
May 27, 2020 Regular Council Meeting 
June 10, 2020 Regular Council Meeting 
June 24, 2020 Regular Council Meeting 
July 8, 2020  Regular Council Meeting 
July 22, 2020  Regular Council Meeting 
August 12, 2020 Regular Council Meeting 
August 26, 2020 Regular Council Meeting 

NOTE:  This list is for planning purposes; items may shift depending on timing and capacity of a 
meeting. 

NOTICE:  As presiding officer, the Mayor has the authority to preserve order at all City Council meetings, to 
remove or cause the removal of any person from any such meeting for disorderly conduct, or for making personal, 
impertinent, or slanderous remarks, using profanity, or becoming boisterous, threatening or personally abusive 
while addressing said Council and to enforce the rules of the Council. 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
May 13, 2020         www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:   Accounts Payable Activity Report – April 2020 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Receive and file.  
 
CONTACT:  Loree’ McCay, Administrative Services Manager 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  
The attached Accounts Payable Activity Report includes all the cash disbursements associated 
with the citywide expenditures for the month of April 2020. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:   Not applicable.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Varies Monthly  
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 Accounts Payable Activity Report – April 2020 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/
















REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
May 13, 2020         www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:   Rescheduling of Fiscal Year 2020/2021 Budget Workshop   
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Approve rescheduling the Fiscal Year (FY) 2020/2021 Budget 
Workshop from May 14, 2020 to May 20, 2020. 
 
CONTACT:  Catrina Olson, City Manager 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  
At the February 26, 2020 City Council meeting the City Council adopted the fiscal year 
2020/2021 budget calendar.  The budget workshop was scheduled for May 14, 2020 at 9 a.m.  
With the Governor of California’s declaration of a Statewide state of emergency due to the 
COVID-19 virus on Wednesday March 4, 2020 and it’s ongoing economic impacts it has 
completely changed the original outlook of the City’s budget projections for the FY 2020/2021.   
 
With the drastic changes in the revenue projections and the need to cut originally requested 
operational budget expenditures it seemed prudent to reschedule the budget workshop to 
further review the impacts to the upcoming budget.    
 
It is being recommended that the budget workshop be rescheduled from May 14, 2020 at 9 
a.m. to May 20, 2020 at 11 a.m. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:   Not applicable.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Not applicable. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  None. 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City, CA 95959 
May 13, 2020        www.nevadacityca.gov 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:    3rd Quarter Financial Update, Fiscal Year (FY) 19/20 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Receive and file.  

CONTACT:  Loree’ McCay, Administrative Services Manager 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  
 
As of March 31, 2020, the City has a cumulative cash total of $3.3 million vs. $3.2 million March 31, 
2019, including $515k in the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) yielding 2.03%, and $1.2 million in 
Certificates of Deposit (CD’s) with an average portfolio maturity of 2.8 years and an average yield of 
2.86%.  The increased cash flow year over year (YOY) is significantly tied to an increase in cash in the 
general fund. 
 
The City’s General Fund has $453k remaining in long term debt from obtaining loans with Tri Counties 
Bank for the purchase of 425 Nimrod Nevada City, CA 95959, a Department of Public Works (DPW) 
replacement truck and a replacement street sweeper.   
 
The City’s Measure “C” Fund has $368k remaining in long term debt from obtaining a lease/purchase of 
a new Fire Truck needed to replace an aged engine. 
 
The City’s Enterprise Fund long term debt was $3.6 million as of March 31, 2020vs. $3.7 million as of 
March 31, 2019, $103k lower, associated to regular principal reduction payments. 
 
As of March 31, 2020, General Fund revenues were $3.7 million vs. $2.8 million March 31, 2019, an 
increase of $897k YOY associated to an increase of sales tax, excise tax, cannabis business permit 
fees and proceeds from debt for the street sweeper and DPW vehicles.  General Fund revenues 
received at $3.7 million were 76% of the $4.8 million budget.   
     
As of March 31, 2020, General Fund expenditures were at $4.2 million vs. $3.53 million March 31, 
2019 an increase of $621k YOY.  General Administration expenditures at $830k were 76% of the $1.1 
million operational budget. The Fire Department expenditures at $605k were 89% of the $677k 
operational and capital budget.  3rd quarter YOY comparison of the decreased costs in the Fire 
Department are associated to a reduction of “Strike Team” involvement in the current fiscal year which 
reduced the costs associated with Non-permanent Salary and overtime needed for the assistance 
provided by the Nevada City Fire Department at several fires that occurred in the State of California 
(Strike Team) The State has paid the City for participation on the “Strike Teams”.  The Police 
Department expenditures at $1.6 million were 76% of the $2.1 million budget. 3rd quarter YOY 
comparison the increased costs in the Police Department are tied to department salary and benefits 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


associated to having previously vacant positions filled, as well as, an increase in Capital Outlay for the 
purchase of a replacement vehicle.  The Police Department currently has two vacant positions that will 
not be filled due to the financial implications of the Coronavirus pandemic. The Department of Public 
Works expenditures at $721k were 110% of the $653k operational and capital budget.  This variance 
will be corrected with a budget adjustment at year end for the purchase of the street sweeper.  The 
Parks and Recreation Department expenditures at $287k were 75% of the $383k budget.  Veteran’s 
Building expenditures at 44k were 69% of the $64k budget.  Typically at the completion of the 3rd 
quarter, departmental expenditures should be approximately 75% of the budget.  Overall operational 
expenditures at $4.1 million were 82% of the $5.0 million operational and capital outlay budget. 
 
The General Fund had expenditures exceeding revenues of $462k as of March 31, 2020, lower than FY 
18/19 at $738k million.  The City has a positive unassigned fund balance of $789k ending FY 18/19 up 
from $345k ending FY 17/18. It continues to be crucial that City Staff monitor incoming revenues and 
prioritize and review program expenditures to support preserving and improving the current financial 
status. 
 
As of March 31, 2020, Special Fund revenues were $1.8 million and were 43% of the $4.3 million 
budget.  The City’s special tax measures have been performing on or better than budget.  The City has 
received $516k in Measure “S” sales tax revenues or 56% of the $923k budget and $368k in Measure 
“C” sales tax revenues or 80% of $458k budget. Most Special Fund revenues are tied to the timing of 
expenditures by the City and reimbursement based.     
  
As of March 31, 2020, the Special Fund expenditures including capital outlay were $1.5k or 35% of the 
overall $4.2 million budget.  Special Fund expenditures are all timing related.   
 
As of March 31, 2020, Water Fund revenues were $592k vs. $618k March 31, 2019.   Water Fund 
revenues received at $592k were 67% of the $879k budget. 
 
As of March 31, 2020, the Water Fund expenditures were at $751k vs. $436k  March 31, 2019.  The 
increase of $314k in Water Fund expenditures was associated to increased capital outlay costs of plant 
improvements associated to a chlorine Building project and an NID Cross Connect project and outside 
services. The Water Department and Water Distribution Fund with expenditures of $751k were 86% of 
the $783k operational and capital budget (not including the A87 allocation).  
 
The Water Fund had expenditures exceeding revenues of $158k as of March 31, 2020.  The Water 
Fund had been experiencing an improved unrestricted financial position, however, with the increases in 
expenditures for necessary repairs it is critical that City Staff explore efficiencies in operations and 
reductions in expenditures to maintain the improving financial position of the Water Fund. 
 
As of March 31, 2020, the Wastewater Fund revenues were $940k vs. $982k March 31, 2019.  The 
decrease in Wastewater Fund revenues of $42k was associated to the decrease in program income 
from Leachate hauling as well as lower than expected water usage during January and February of 
2019 which is directly linked to the revenues received from customers.  Wastewater Fund revenues 
received at $940k were 67% of the $1.4 million budget. 



 
As of March 31, 2020, the Wastewater Fund expenditures were at $1.2 million vs. $1.2 million March 
31, 2019.  The increase of $41k in Wastewater Fund expenditures was primarily associated to a 
increase in Capital Outlay for projects at the wastewater plant. The Wastewater Department and 
Wastewater Distribution Fund with expenditures of $1.2 million were 80% of the $1.5 million operational 
and capital outlay budget (not including the A87 allocation).  
 
The Wastewater Fund had expenditures exceeding revenues of $284k as of March 31, 2020vs. $201k  
as of March 31, 2019.  The Wastewater Fund continues to maintain a positive fund position with an 
approximate unrestricted balance of $1.6 million ending FY 18/19.  However, the last 5 fiscal years the 
fund has experienced significant erosion.  City staff will need to closely monitor incoming revenues and 
review and prioritize operational and capital expenditures to support preserving the Wastewater Fund 
financial status.   
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 Fund Financial Status Report 
 Statement of Condition 
 Revenue and Expenditure Report (General Fund, Special Funds, Water Fund & Sewer Fund) 
 Major Revenue Graphs 



March 31, 2020

1) Checking Account Tri Counties 1,065,511.96$             
2) Core Account 417,824.15$                
3) LAIF 514,778.06$                
4) Fire Department 78,623.36$                  
5) Certificates of Deposit 1,233,000.00$             see attachment A

Total City Cash Accounts    3,309,738$                 **Ties to Fund balances

6) Petty Cash 500.00$                      Admin $100/PD$400

Other Cash Accounts 500.00$                       

TOTAL CASH 3,310,237.53$           

FY 19-20 Activity to FY 18-19 Activity to
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019 $ Change

General Fund Balances:
100 GENERAL FUND                       1,433,039$                 785,480$                                  647,559$                 

Subtotal General Funds 1,433,039$                 785,480$                                  647,559$                 

200 AB1600 62,927$                       85,955$                                    (23,028)$                   
201 P&R QUIMBY 307$                            29,210$                                    (28,903)$                   
205 DONATION PRJT 3,987$                         43,413$                                    (39,426)$                   
209 NEVADA/MAIN PRJ (121,040)$                    (93,679)$                                   (27,361)$                   
210 GAS TAX-STREETS                       235,611$                     127,552$                                  108,059$                  
212 RSTP/STIP -$                                 (1)$                                            1$                             
215 RURAL PLANNING (40,751)$                      (303,597)$                                 262,846$                  
216 TRAFFIC RELIEF 10,871$                       7,312$                                      3,559$                      
217 REG.TRAFFIC MIT                       2,624$                         3,785$                                      (1,161)$                     
218 FEMA (15,962)$                      1,713$                                      (17,675)$                   
220 INDIAN TRAILS 46,238$                       46,137$                                    101$                         
221 UST PROJECT -$                                 (30)$                                          30$                           
223 CALFIRE GRANT -$                                 (9,805)$                                     9,805$                      
224 LCWF POOL REHAB 25,020$                       25,020$                                    -$                              
227 LITTLE DEER CRK (114,691)$                    (109,958)$                                 (4,733)$                     
229 BROWNSFIELD '10 2,612$                         7,820$                                      (5,208)$                     
230 TAX - FIRE DEPT                       20,206$                       18,510$                                    1,696$                      
231 2003 FIRE TAX                       38,885$                       35,620$                                    3,265$                      
241 NC REC/QUIMBY -$                                 (17,909)$                                   17,909$                    
250 CDBG ENTERPRISE (105,532)$                   (21,152)$                                   (84,380)$                  

265 CABY - NEV CITY -$                                (5,778)$                                     5,778$                     

266 CABY- MISC AGENCY (324,341)$                   (319,053)$                                 (5,288)$                    

271 PROP 172 81,006$                      87,888$                                    (6,882)$                    

272 MATHIVET 10,812$                      19,533$                                    (8,721)$                    

273 SLESF 75,176$                      71,403$                                    3,773$                     

280 MEASURE "L"                       (2,892)$                       215,667$                                  (218,559)$                

285 MEASURE "C" 112,087$                    188,385$                                  (76,298)$                  

710 CONSTITUTION DAY PARADE (1,599)$                        76$                                           (1,675)$                     
715 MEASURE "S"                       (115,106)$                    125,872$                                  (240,978)$                 

Subtotal Special Revenues 770 BECKER                       18,777$                       18,611$                                    166$                         
(94,768)$                     278,520$                                  (373,288)$                

Enterprise Funds:

600 WATER FUND                       267,865$                     421,442$                                  (153,577)$                 
614 WATER-AB1600                       36,354$                       36,033$                                    321$                         
625 WTP - UPGRADE -$                                 (1)$                                            1$                             
650 SEWER FUND                       1,642,907$                  1,684,766$                               (41,859)$                   

Subtotal Enterprise Funds 654 SEWER-AB1600                       24,339$                      24,124$                                    215$                        

1,971,465$                 2,166,364$                               (194,899)$                

TOTAL OF FUNDS 3,309,736$                 3,230,364$                               79,372$                   

CITY OF NEVADA CITY
Fund - Financial Status Report

March 31, 2020

Prepared By:  Loree' McCay
5/5/2020

1



Actual Actual
Cash & Investments March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019

Checking 1,065,512$                           1,368,261$                        
Core 417,824$                              21,450$                             
LAIF 514,778$                              502,323$                           
Certificates of Deposit 1,233,000$                           1,232,000$                        
Fire Department 78,623$                                106,330$                           
Petty Cash 500$                                    900$                                  
     Total Cash & Investments 3,310,238$                          3,231,264$                        

Balance Balance
Debt Governmental Activities March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019 Comments

   Leases:
        REV Financial Services, LLC 368,457$                              401,867$                           Fire Engine - KME Predator Severe Service 1500 GPM Pumper
   Loans:
         Tri Counties Bank 250,485$                              263,804$                           Mortgage - 425 Nimrod Nevada City CA 95959
         Tri Counties Bank 189,683$                              -$                                       DPW-2019 Badger Sweeper 
         Tri Counties Bank 12,712$                                -$                                       DPW Vehicle-2019 Chevrolet Colorado*
     Total Governmental Debt 821,337$                             665,670$                           

*Allocated to 100,600 & 650 Funds

Debt Business Type Activities (Water&Wastewater)

   COP's:

          Citizens - Wastewater Treatment Plant Refunding 2008 284,314$                              353,965$                           Payments made twice yearly Jun/Dec 

          USDA - Wastewater COP's Series 2005 1,788,000$                           1,825,000$                        
Payments made twice yearly Dec/July (1st pmt Int only/2nd 
pmt princ. & int)

          USDA - Wastewater COP's Series 2007 1,506,000$                           1,536,000$                        
Payments made twice yearly Dec/July (1st pmt Int only/2nd 
pmt princ. & int)

   Loan:
         First Security Finance - Water Plant Bond Refi -$                                       Payments made twice yearly Mar/Sept
         Tri Counties Bank 25,424$                                -$                                       DPW Vehicle-2019 Chevrolet Colorado*

*Allocated to 100,600 & 650 Funds

     Total Business Type Debt 3,603,738$                          3,714,965$                        

PERs projected Contribution Rates: Empl. Contrib. 18/19 Empl. Contrib. 19/20 Unfunded Accrued Liability as of 6/30/19

Miscellaneous Employees 33.150%+ 8% 41.944%+8% 2,164,705$                                                                            
Safety Employees 38.843%+ 9% 43.254%+ 9% 2,662,500$                                                                            

2nd Tier Retirement (employee contributes 5% towards 7% employee portion)
Miscellaneous Employees (2%@60) 8.271%+7% 9.063%+7% 10,559$                                                                                

PEPRA (new members)
7.213% + 6.25% 7.533% + 6.75% 15,161$                                                                                
10.151% + 9.5% 10.880% + 9.5% 16,796$                                                                                
10.622% + 9.5% 11.145% + 9.5% 5,178$                                                                                  

Total 4,874,899$                                                                            

City of Nevada City 
Statement of Condition

March 31, 2020

Miscellaneous Employees (2%@62)(Employee contributes 6.25%)

Safety Fire Employees (2.7%@57) (Employee contributes 9.5%)
Safety Police Employees (2.7%@57) (Employee contributes 9.5%)

Prepared By:  Loree' McCay
5/5/2020

-2-



Actual Actual Adopted Annual Budget $$ %
March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019 FY 19/20

Revenues - Governmental Activities
Sales Taxes 950,739$                    836,655$                 1,050,000$                           (99,261)$         91%
Property Taxes (includes prop tax in lieu of VLF) 996,386$                    949,366$                 1,715,438$                           (719,052)$       58%
Transient Occupancy Taxes 355,357$                    319,198$                 420,000$                              (64,643)$         85%
Measure "F" Cannabis Tax 340,224$                    16,965$                   240,000$                              100,224$        142%
Franchises 86,469$                      87,181$                   165,000$                              (78,531)$         52%
Licenses & Permits 206,084$                    76,605$                   149,600$                              56,484$          138%
Planning & Inspection Fees 52,977$                      49,052$                   98,500$                                (45,523)$         54%
Parks & Recreation 64,728$                      64,776$                   140,500$                              (75,772)$         46%
Veteran's Building 13,103$                      20,163$                   23,500$                                (10,397)$         56%
Parking Meters 83,350$                      77,442$                   270,000$                              (186,650)$       31%
Safety (Includes PD POST, Fire Department/Strike, Asset Forfeiture/mvlf etc) 223,878$                    227,841$                 188,000$                              35,878$          119%
Grants (includes Reim. PD Air quality Grant) 31,015$                      5,000$                     10,000$                                21,015$          310%
Sale of Real Property/Proceeds from Debt 223,292$                    -$                             -$                                          223,292$        N/A
All Other Revenues 68,673$                      69,103$                   366,790$                              (298,117)$       19%
      Total Governmental Revenue 3,696,274$                2,799,347$             4,837,328$                          (1,066,230)$    76%

Funds from Other Financing Sources
Transfers In (fire taxes, CABY Admin., SLESF, Prop 172, Measure 'L') -$                               -$                            200,000$                             

TOTAL GENERAL FUND REVENUES 3,696,274$                2,799,347$             5,037,328$                          

Expenditures - Governmental Activities
General Government (Finance & Administration) 387,649$                    348,117$                 491,855$                              (104,206)$       79%
             Capital Outlay 14,777$                     -$                            14,400$                               377$               
              A-87 Cost Allocation Adjustment -$                                -$                             (208,868)$                            
City Council 15,010$                      7,990$                     22,250$                                (7,240)$           67%
              A-87 Cost Allocation Adjustment -$                                -$                             1,668$                                 
Planning Commission 3,876$                        2,588$                     5,260$                                  (1,384)$           74%
              A-87 Cost Allocation Adjustment -$                                -$                             467$                                    
City Attorney 72,831$                      105,988$                 137,175$                              (64,344)$         53%
             Capital Outlay -$                                -$                             1,400$                                  (1,400)$           
City Planner 174,323$                    148,765$                 202,590$                              (28,267)$         86%
             Capital Outlay -$                                -$                             1,800$                                  (1,800)$           
              A-87 Cost Allocation Adjustment -$                                -$                             18,311$                               
City Manager 173,948$                    153,773$                 225,625$                              (51,677)$         77%
             Capital Outlay -$                                1,973$                     -$                    
              A-87 Cost Allocation Adjustment -$                                -$                             (28,936)$                              
City Clerk&Treasurer 1,987$                        1,987$                     2,584$                                  (597)$              77%
Fire Department 605,365$                    631,586$                 676,645$                              (71,280)$         89%
      Capital Outlay -$                                -$                             -$                    
      A-87 Cost Allocation for Administrative Staff  - Charge to FD -$                                -$                             30,407$                               
Police Department 1,598,440$                 1,401,554$              2,096,760$                           (498,320)$       76%
      Capital Outlay 3,885$                        60,183$                   3,885$            
      A-87 Cost Allocation for Administrative Staff - Charge to PD -$                                -$                             70,201$                               
Public Works (b&g, streets) 386,096$                    313,619$                 467,795$                              (81,700)$         110%
             Capital Outlay 335,108$                    658$                        185,000$                              150,108$        
      A-87 Cost Allocation for Administrative Staff - Charge to PW -$                                -$                             56,192$                               
Community Agency Support 34,605$                      42,605$                   61,550$                                (26,945)$         56%
             Capital Outlay 20,000$                      -$                             1,400$                                  18,600$          
Parks and Recreation (p&r, pool, summer prg.) 286,912$                    270,452$                 382,072$                              (95,160)$         75%
             Capital Outlay (525)$                          -$                             1,400$                                  (1,925)$           
      A-87 Cost Allocation for Administrative Staff  - Charge to P&R -$                                -$                             55,369$                               
Veteran's Building 44,396$                      46,315$                   64,075$                                (19,679)$         69%
      A-87 Cost Allocation for Administrative Staff  - Veteran's Building -$                                -$                             1,192$                                 (1,192)$           
     Total General Fund Expenditures 4,158,684$                3,538,154$             5,037,639$                          (863,273)$       83%

NET GENERAL FUND REVENUES/EXPENDITURES (462,410)$            (738,807)$          (311)$                            

Annual Budget

City of Nevada City 
Revenues & Expenditures General Fund

March 31, 2020

Prepared By:  Loree' McCay
5/5/2020

-3-



Actual Adopted Annual Budget Variance to
Revenues - Special Fund March 31, 2020 FY 19/20 Budget
AB1600 Mitigation Fees 200 1,130$                          23,490$                                    (22,360)$        
P&R Quimby 201 -$                                 1,810$                                      (1,810)$          
Donation Projects 205 621$                             2,150$                                      (1,529)$          
Highway Bridge Grant Project 209 149,539$                      2,100,000$                               (1,950,461)$   
Gas Tax 210 108,790$                      151,670$                                  (42,880)$        
NCTC RSTP & Local Ped & Bike 212/213 -$                                 40,000$                                    (40,000)$        
CMAQ Streets and Roads 215 287,775$                      140,000$                                  147,775$       
Traffic Relief 216 3,510$                          3,670$                                      (160)$             
Regional Traffic Mitigation 217 2,610$                          7,565$                                      (4,955)$          
FEMA Grant 218 -$                                 -$                                             -$                   
CEC Grant 219 -$                   
Indian Trails 220 -$                                 -$                                             -$                   
Underground Storage Tank Project 221 -$                                 -$                   
PSPS Grant 222 225,000$                      -$                                             225,000$       
Calfire Grant 223 -$                                 -$                                             
LWCF - Pool Rehab 224 -$                                 -$                                             -$                   
Little Deer Creek 227 -$                                 -$                                             -$                   
Brownsfield '10 Grant Reimbursement 229 7,814$                          55,000$                                    (47,186)$        
Fire Tax 230/231 59,091$                        100,500$                                  (41,409)$        
CDBG-Enterprise 250 -$                                 185,000$                                  (185,000)$      
Prop 172 271 36,284$                        38,000$                                    (1,716)$          
SLESF - Supplemental Law Enforcement 273 75,000$                        100,200$                                  (25,200)$        
Measure "L" Sales Tax 280 2,071$                          5,600$                                      (3,529)$          
Measure "C" 285 367,801$                      458,000$                                  (90,199)$        
Constitution Day 710 2,000$                          8,000$                                      (6,000)$          
Measure "S" Sales Tax 715 516,792$                      922,750$                                  (405,958)$      
Special Revenue Interest 810$                             700$                                         110$              
     Total Special Revenue 1,846,639$                  4,344,105$                              (2,497,577)$   

Expenditures - Special Revenue Activities
Donation Projects 205 21,461$                        2,000$                                      19,461$         
Highway Bridge Grant Project 209 -$                                 -$                                             -$                   
             Capital Outlay 100,612$                      2,100,000$                               (1,999,388)$   
Gas Tax 210 19,601$                        100,000$                                  (80,399)$        
             Capital Outlay 3,977$                          -$                                             3,977$           
NCTC RSTP & Local Ped & Bike 212/213 -$                                 40,000$                                    (40,000)$        
             Capital Outlay -$                                 -$                                             -$                   
CMAQ - ST&RD 215 -$                                 -$                                             -$                   
             Capital Outlay 11,590$                        140,000$                                  (128,410)$      
Regional Traffic Mitigation 217 -$                                 7,565$                                      (7,565)$          
CEC Grant 219 -$                   
FEMA Grant 218 -$                   
             Capital Outlay -$                                 -$                   
Indian Trails 220 310$                             1,000$                                      (690)$             
Little Deer Creek 227 575$                             -$                                             575$              
Brownsfield '10 229 6,418$                          55,000$                                    (48,582)$        
Fire Tax 230/231 -$                                 100,500$                                  (100,500)$      
CDBG 250 92,631$                        -$                                             92,631$         
             Capital Outlay 818$                             185,000$                                  (184,182)$      
Prop 172 271 54,579$                        38,000$                                    16,579$         
SLESF - Supplemental Law Enforcement 273 -$                                 100,000$                                  (100,000)$      
Measure "L" 280 -$                                 -$                                             -$                   
             Capital Outlay 84,411$                        95,000$                                    (10,589)$        
Measure "C" 285 458,473$                      482,690$                                  (24,217)$        
Constitution Day 710 5,675$                          8,000$                                      (2,325)$          
Measure "S" 715 159,026$                      112,195$                                  46,831$         
             Capital Outlay 501,704$                      701,500$                                  (199,796)$      
      A-87 Cost Allocation for Administrative Staff  - Charge to -$                                 27,000$                                    (27,000)$        
     Total Special Revenue Expenditures 1,521,860$                  4,295,450$                              (2,773,590)$   

Revenues & Expenditures Committed Funds
March 31, 2020

Prepared By:  Loree' McCay
5/5/2020

-4-



Actual Actual Annual Budget $$ %
Water Fund Revenues March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019 FY 19/20
Water Fund (includes interest) 592,193$                      615,201$                     879,480$           (287,287)$      67%
Water AB1600 Mitigation 68$                               2,964$                         -$                       
      Total Water Revenues 592,262$                     618,165$                    879,480$           (287,218)$      67%

Water Fund Expenditures
Water Plant 279,417$                      280,549$                     350,820$           (71,403)$        80%
      Capital Outlay 104,265$                      21,575$                       65,000$             39,265$         160%
Water Distribution 144,480$                      116,721$                     167,020$           (22,540)$        87%
      Capital Outlay 222,508$                      17,433$                       200,000$           22,508$         111%
      A-87 Cost Allocation for Administrative Staff - Charge to Water -$                                 -$                                93,000$            (93,000)$        
     Total Water Expenditures 750,669$                     436,278$                    875,840$           (125,171)$      86%

NET WATER FUND REVENUES/EXPENDITURES (158,407)$                     181,887$                     3,640$               

Wastewater Fund Revenues 
Wastewater Plant (includes interest& Proceeds from Debt) 838,035$                      869,180$                     1,336,270$        (498,235)$      63%
Wastewater - Program Income 101,520$                      111,160$                     60,000$             41,520$         
Wastewater AB1600 Mitigation 46$                               1,755$                         -$                       
     Total Wastewater Revenues 939,601$                     982,096$                    1,396,270$        (456,669)$      67%

Wastewater Fund Expenditures 
Wastewater Plant 927,327$                      912,577$                     1,051,095$        (123,768)$      88%
      Capital Outlay 130,597$                      51,390$                       75,000$             55,597$         174%
Wastewater Collection 150,414$                      126,908$                     201,885$           (51,471)$        75%
      Capital Outlay 15,488$                        92,290$                       200,000$           (184,512)$      8%
      A-87 Cost Allocation for Administrative Staff - Charge to Wastewater -$                                  -$                                130,000$          
     Total Wastewater Expenditures 1,223,825$                  1,183,165$                 1,657,980$        434,155$       74%

NET WASTEWATER FUND REVENUES/EXPENDITURES (284,225)$                     (201,069)$                   (261,710)$          

City of Nevada City 
Revenues & Expenditures Enterprise Funds

Annual Budget

March 31, 2020

Prepared By:  Loree' McCay
5/5/2020

-5-



YTD Analysis Sales Tax (includes property in lieu of sales tax)
3200-107 

Year Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Total

FY 05/06 82,600$      110,200$ -$             94,004$   73,700$   114,885$   202,709$ 105,000$ -$              99,035$   212,337$ 89,076$    1,183,547$,$ ,$ ,$

FY 06/07 75,600$      100,800$ 64,661$   62,700$   83,700$   117,358$   206,922$ 101,300$ -$              150,002$ 200,622$ 91,491$    1,255,156$,$ ,$ ,$

FY 07/08 69,800$      93,100$   -$             137,713$ 58,800$   64,326$     261,046$ 107,800$ 42,475$     45,700$   241,146$ 109,416$  1,231,322$,$ ,$ ,$

FY 08/09 -$                78,700$   83,300$   50,100$   66,800$   120,161$   162,516$ 81,400$   -$              -$             106,987$ 152,525$  902,489$   ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 09/10 56,100$      66,500$   6,902$     51,400$   -$             73,747$     154,471$ -$             97,734$     28,400$   148,071$ 31,725$    715,050$   ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 10/11 36,500$      48,700$   57,749$   35,100$   46,800$   96,873$     123,798$ 63,700$   36,695$     34,100$   125,998$ 62,874$    768,887$   ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 11/12 41,800$      55,800$   58,493$   44,800$   44,000$   79,233$     154,208$ 62,200$   59,591$     35,900$   155,408$ 75,347$    866,780$   ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 12/13 43,800$      58,400$   87,494$   52,200$   69,600$   35,096$     164,179$ 67,700$   44,530$     41,500$   168,679$ 66,270$    899,448$   ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 13/14 52,300$      69,700$   58,370$   46,300$   61,700$   56,847$     161,122$ 65,900$   60,167$     36,100$   159,922$ 97,309$    925,737$   ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 14/15 54,200$      72,200$   34,768$   45,500$   60,700$   75,592$     179,747$ 71,000$   49,672$     45,200$   186,647$ 80,897$    956,123$   ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 15/16 48,264$      63,800$   61,898$   49,600$   66,200$   52,000$     51,300$   68,500$   75,726$     57,700$   76,800$   87,926$    759,715$   ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 16/17 62,100$      82,800$   107,090$ 60,800$   81,200$   114,963$   68,800$   91,700$   72,127$     50,100$   66,700$   109,486$  967,866$   ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 17/18 68,100$      90,800$   95,722$   66,600$   88,700$   119,070$   68,100$   90,700$   134,705$   53,100$   89,986$   83,345$    1,048,928$,$ ,$ , ,$

FY 18/19 85,257$      80,063$   87,770$   139,114$ 32,443$   131,570$   118,553$ 96,625$   65,260$     81,673$   106,826$ 138,932$  1,164,086$253,090$      836,655$      1,164,086$   

FY 19/20 106,826$    141,823$ 81,407$   139,958$ 172,861$ 87,617$     116,364$ -$             103,883$   -$             -$             -$              950,739$   
330,056$      950,739$       950,739$       

 $-

 $100,000

 $200,000

 $300,000

 $400,000

 $500,000

 $600,000

 $700,000

 $800,000

 $900,000

 $1,000,000

Sales Tax
9 months ending FY 19/20

FY 05/06

FY 06/07

FY 07/08

FY 08/09

FY 09/10

FY 10/11

FY 11/12

FY 12/13

FY 13/14

FY 14/15

FY 15/16

FY 16/17

FY 17/18

FY 18/19

FY 19/20

-6-

Prepared By:  Loree' McCay

5/6/2020



YTD Analysis Measure "L" Sales Tax
3200-107 

Year Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Total

FY 12/13 -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            -$             -$            -$            -$            26,822$  26,400$  35,200$   88,422$  $ $ $

FY 13/14 26,400$  35,200$  44,384$  30,200$  40,200$  36,796$   30,500$  40,700$  45,879$  31,700$  42,200$  20,971$   425,130$,$ ,$ ,$

FY 14/15 29,100$  38,800$  51,160$  30,400$  40,500$  45,730$   33,000$  44,000$  26,978$  25,500$  34,000$  61,573$   460,741$,$ ,$ ,$

FY 15/16 33,200$  44,200$  32,965$  32,600$  43,500$  22,286$   32,800$  43,700$  36,510$  28,100$  37,500$  23,889$   411,250$,$ ,$ ,$

FY 16/17 30,300$  40,400$  42,786$  29,800$  39,800$  52,729$   32,400$  43,200$  39,589$  25,500$  34,000$  49,276$   459,779$,$ ,$ ,$

FY 17/18 30,500$  40,600$  52,667$  33,100$  44,200$  45,586$   33,100$  44,200$  39,757$  27,500$  41,991$  (62,886)$  370,315$,$ ,$ ,$

FY 18/19 -$            -$            738$       360$       373$       1,452$     -$            915$       372$       711$       257$       195$        5,374$    738$           4,211$        5,374$       

FY 19/20 257$       195$       144$       630$       202$       574$        69$         -$            -$            2,071$    
596$           2,071$         2,071$        

 $-

 $50,000

 $100,000

 $150,000

 $200,000

 $250,000

 $300,000

 $350,000

 $400,000

Measure "L" Sales Tax
9 months ending FY 19/20

FY 12/13

FY 13/14

FY 14/15

FY 15/16

FY 16/17

FY 17/18

FY 18/19

FY 19/20

-7- Prepared By:  Loree' McCay5/5/2020



YTD Analysis Measure "S" Sales Tax
3200-107 

Year Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Total

FY 06/07 -$              -$              -$              -$             -$            -$             -$            -$             -$             -$             -$            58,800$    58,800$     $                   $                $                 

FY 07/08 29,400$    39,200$    -$              79,769$   42,100$  100,974$ 40,100$  53,400$   79,588$   22,600$   30,100$  137,228$  654,459$   ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 08/09 -$              48,800$    79,940$    45,200$   60,200$  63,900$   51,400$  56,300$   -$             47,701$   33,100$  101,532$  588,073$   ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 09/10 37,200$    49,600$    45,591$    40,200$   44,700$  41,377$   38,000$  -$             86,066$   28,100$   41,000$  43,297$    495,131$   ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 10/11 35,100$    46,800$    50,183$    36,800$   49,000$  51,244$   38,300$  51,100$   44,096$   30,100$   44,200$  52,610$    529,534$   ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 11/12 37,600$    50,100$    90,158$    37,000$   49,300$  65,276$   41,100$  54,800$   44,133$   32,300$   43,100$  93,994$    638,861$   ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 12/13 51,300$    68,400$    17,008$    43,500$   58,000$  51,363$   42,400$  56,400$   41,623$   33,600$   44,800$  34,587$    542,981$   ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 13/14 41,900$    55,800$    45,504$    45,900$   61,200$  34,106$   42,700$  56,900$   48,950$   35,400$   47,200$  43,217$    558,777$   ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 14/15 40,600$    54,100$    63,977$    40,900$   54,600$  61,086$   44,200$  58,900$   38,774$   34,400$   45,800$  39,251$    576,588$   ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 15/16 44,700$    59,600$    45,133$    44,000$   58,600$  29,429$   44,000$  58,600$   52,555$   38,500$   51,300$  31,193$    557,609$   ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 16/17 40,800$    54,400$    58,438$    40,000$   53,300$  71,113$   43,700$  58,200$   53,134$   34,600$   46,100$  61,254$    615,039$   ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 17/18 40,800$    54,400$    70,688$    44,400$   59,200$  60,865$   44,300$  59,100$   53,192$   36,800$   56,572$  58,028$    638,345$   ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 18/19 52,185$    84,848$    45,792$    53,653$   61,877$  54,674$   46,893$  56,249$   35,240$   54,749$   70,907$  51,465$    668,532$   182,825$       491,411$    

FY 19/20 70,907$    51,465$    61,236$    58,655$   73,625$  57,683$   64,849$  -$             78,373$   516,792$   
183,608$       516,792$     

 $-

 $50,000

 $100,000

 $150,000

 $200,000

 $250,000

 $300,000

 $350,000

 $400,000

 $450,000

 $500,000

 $550,000

Measure "S" Sales Tax
9 months ending FY 19/20

FY 06/07

FY 07/08

FY 08/09

FY 09/10

FY 10/11

FY 11/12

FY 12/13

FY 13/14

FY 14/15

FY 15/16

FY 16/17

FY 17/18

FY 18/19

FY 19/20

-8-

Prepared By:  Loree' McCay

5/6/2020



YTD Analysis Measure "C" Sales Tax
3200-107 

Year Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Total

FY 16/17 -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            26,449$  26,400$  35,200$  88,049$  $ ,$

FY 17/18 26,400$  35,200$  58,157$  29,000$  38,700$  55,231$  30,900$  41,200$  46,573$  28,400$  36,568$  52,373$  478,702$,$ ,$

FY 18/19 39,393$  63,393$  33,402$  40,016$  45,807$  40,738$  35,955$  42,141$  24,370$  41,024$  52,771$  38,561$  497,572$136,188$    365,216$   497,572$   

FY 19/20 52,771$  38,561$  46,239$  54,271$  43,710$  42,975$  48,921$  -$            58,939$  386,388$
137,571$    386,388$    386,388$    

 $-

 $50,000

 $100,000

 $150,000

 $200,000

 $250,000

 $300,000

 $350,000

 $400,000

Measure "C" Sales Tax
9 months ending FY 19/20

FY 16/17

FY 17/18

FY 18/19

FY 19/20

-9- Prepared By:  Loree' McCay 5/6/2020



YTD Analysis Measure "F" Cannabis Business Tax
3200-108

Year Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Total

FY 18/19 -$            -$            -$            3,432$    -$            -$            13,532$  -$            -$            55,376$  537$       103,973$ 176,850$ ,$ ,$

FY 19/20 99,887$  4,086$    26,000$  95,185$  730$       90,251$  2,748$    21,337$  -$            -$            -$            -$             340,224$340,224$   340,224$    

FY 20/21 -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            -$             -$            
-$                -$                -$                

 $-

 $50,000

 $100,000

 $150,000

 $200,000

 $250,000

 $300,000

 $350,000

Measure "F" Cannabis Business Tax
6 months ending FY 19/20

FY 18/19
FY 19/20
FY 20/21

-10- Prepared By:  Loree' McCay5/6/2020



YTD Analysis Property Taxes
3100 3200-112
Year Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Total

Less prop in lieu o
FY 05/06 615,649$ 439,110$      73,696$   1,128,456$     
FY 06/07 775,021$ 505,087$      66,041$   1,346,150$     
FY 07/08 725,621$ 541,000$      62,527$   1,329,148$     
FY 08/09 757,317$ 555,497$      62,054$   1,374,869$     1,128,693$ 
FY 09/10 744,833$ 567,056$      55,666$   1,367,554$     1,105,080$ 
FY 10/11 705,616$ 534,009$      49,896$   1,289,522$     1,053,040$ 
FY 11/12 686,226$ 522,126$      47,026$   1,255,378$     1,018,525$ 
FY 12/13 689,971$ 515,379$      50,963$   1,256,312$     1,021,841$ 
FY 13/14 704,881$ 530,673$      57,001$   1,292,556$     1,054,844$ 
FY 14/15 746,043$ 557,144$      53,873$   1,357,059$     1,107,508$ 
FY 15/16 763,539$ 615,353$      61,563$   1,440,455$     1,184,514$ 
FY 16/17 795,443$ 605,782$      61,641$   1,462,866$     1,197,110$ 
FY 17/18 842,202$ 642,543$      73,635$   1,558,380$     1,277,045$ 
FY 18/19 875,731$ 670,018$      74,161$   1,619,910$     1,323,838$ 
FY 19/20 922,225$ -$                  -$             922,225$        768,549$    

 $-

 $200,000

 $400,000

 $600,000

 $800,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,200,000

 $1,400,000

 $1,600,000

Property Taxes
Annual totals thru FY 18/19 - 9 Months ending FY 19/20 FY 05/06

FY 06/07

FY 07/08

FY 08/09

FY 09/10

FY 10/11

FY 11/12

FY 12/13

FY 13/14

FY 14/15

FY 15/16

FY 16/17

FY 17/18

FY 18/19

FY 19/20

Prior to 
VLF

Prior to 
VLF

-11-
Prepared By: Loree' McCay 5/6/2020



YTD Analysis Transient Occupancy Tax
3200-106

Year Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Total
FY 05/06 3,412$      72,828$  8,036$    78,308$   4,509$     10,105$   66,086$ 18,053$  4,631$    4,849$    53,530$  2,921$    327,268$,$ ,$ ,$

FY 06/07 19,279$    59,088$  8,326$    74,099$   20,238$   16,328$   17,162$ 57,461$  6,273$    19,647$  35,888$  10,656$  344,444$,$ ,$ ,$

FY 07/08 22,782$    53,480$  7,486$    75,807$   7,784$     6,829$     63,626$ 4,068$    4,522$    28,673$  15,264$  3,893$    294,215$,$ ,$ ,$

FY 08/09 17,503$    51,500$  7,969$    24,812$   43,993$   7,987$     25,032$ 7,618$    7,358$    18,375$  10,039$  (18,827)$ 203,360$,$ ,$ ,$

FY 09/10 18,178$    25,562$  7,107$    32,603$   8,556$     11,546$   18,366$ 13,477$  6,930$    12,371$  8,627$    16,976$  180,299$,$ ,$ ,$

FY 10/11 36,641$    13,936$  14,242$  34,421$   10,348$   13,916$   20,191$ 11,108$  4,775$    12,078$  15,478$  (201)$      186,933$,$ ,$ ,$

FY 11/12 20,422$    32,092$  13,049$  39,416$   15,389$   19,049$   33,209$ 18,064$  5,239$    26,328$  14,286$  31,110$  267,654$,$ ,$ ,$

FY 12/13 30,720$    26,910$  29,135$  44,698$   22,224$   11,635$   34,497$ 15,100$  7,129$    17,782$  16,834$  14,218$  270,883$,$ ,$ ,$

FY 13/14 43,388$    20,864$  21,350$  139,377$ 6,414$     17,386$   41,066$ 3,571$    8,612$    11,378$  21,373$  5,989$    340,766$,$ ,$ ,$

FY 14/15 52,346$    13,222$  9,943$    25,243$   42,520$   14,207$   26,458$ 34,115$  5,217$    41,202$  1,664$    21,457$  287,593$,$ ,$ ,$

FY 15/16 46,582$    21,775$  17,906$  7,732$     55,544$   13,882$   23,931$ 54,258$  4,625$    50,453$  12,864$  14,261$  323,814$,$ ,$ ,$

FY 16/17 57,419$    20,595$  17,380$  92,630$   18,835$   19,822$   63,347$ 12,167$  6,658$    46,098$  11,472$  35,192$  401,616$,$ ,$ ,$

FY 17/18 35,639$    63,502$  19,415$  86,233$   39,397$   15,925$   23,001$ 54,609$  9,736$    49,274$  11,659$  15,928$  424,317$,$ ,$ ,$

FY 18/19 72,511$    28,465$  19,830$  30,650$   67,005$   13,556$   21,976$ 59,639$  5,566$    13,449$  42,176$  20,038$  394,861$120,806$    319,198$     394,861$    

FY 19/20 33,707$    47,738$  26,704$  35,868$   79,563$   23,501$   70,537$ 19,664$  18,074$  355,357$
108,150$    355,357$      355,357$    

 $-

 $50,000

 $100,000

 $150,000

 $200,000

 $250,000

 $300,000

 $350,000

 $400,000

TOT Collection
9 months ending FY 19/20

FY 05/06

FY 06/07

FY 07/08

FY 08/09

FY 09/10

FY 10/11

FY 11/12

FY 12/13

FY 13/14

FY 14/15

FY 15/16

FY 16/17

FY 17/18

FY 18/19

FY 19/20

-12-

Prepared By:  Loree' McCay

5/6/2020



YTD Business Licenses
3300-120

Year $ YTD

FY 05/06 67,465$   (accrued for 05/06 audit $35389.50)

FY 06/07 33,795$   (reverse for 05/06 accrual $35389.50 the $35k was an unrealized overaccrual)

FY 07/08 58,598$   

FY 08/09 54,924$   

FY 09/10 59,466$   

FY 10/11 59,831$   

FY 11/12 62,055$   

FY 12/13 61,304$   

FY 13/14 62,891$   

FY 14/15 63,719$   

FY 15/16 61,071$   

FY 16/17 72,547$   

FY 17/18 63,941$   

FY 18/19 68,750$   

FY 19/20 106,279$ 

Increased revenue related to an internal audit of non-compliant Business Licenses

 $-

 $20,000

 $40,000

 $60,000

 $80,000

 $100,000

 $120,000

Business License Collection
Annual Totals thru FY 18/19 - 9 months Ending FY 19/20 

FY 05/06

FY 06/07

FY 07/08

FY 08/09

FY 09/10

FY 10/11

FY 11/12

FY 12/13

FY 13/14

FY 14/15

FY 15/16

FY 16/17

FY 17/18

FY 18/19

FY 19/20

-13-

Prepared By:  Loree' McCay

5/6/2020



YTD Analysis Parking Meter Collection
3700-166

Year Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Total

FY 05/06 4,700$       4,700$       2,000$     4,700$    5,400$    5,205$    -$            3,700$    5,700$     -$            5,200$    4,700$      46,005$     ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 06/07 -$               7,700$       3,700$     4,200$    -$            7,400$    4,000$    -$            5,400$     5,700$    4,000$    7,300$      49,400$     ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 07/08 2,200$       7,500$       -$             10,200$  5,000$    -$            5,500$    4,125$    -$             7,500$    5,500$    9,742$      57,267$     ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 08/09 3,500$       5,000$       5,000$     6,200$    5,500$    11,400$  6,700$    7,200$    -$             6,200$    6,200$    13,078$    75,978$     ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 09/10 8,200$       6,700$       5,200$     8,200$    8,200$    5,200$    7,200$    9,215$    6,200$     7,385$    7,200$    1,822$      80,722$     ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 10/11 4,000$       8,400$       -$             7,200$    7,200$    7,200$    7,200$    6,400$    -$                 7,200$    7,200$    15,400$    77,400$     ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 11/12 -$               8,200$       6,200$     6,200$    6,200$    7,200$    7,400$    8,200$    5,200$     7,200$    7,200$    13,049$    82,249$     ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 12/13 3,080$       8,200$       7,200$     7,200$    7,200$    7,400$    7,200$    5,200$    6,919$     7,200$    8,108$    12,747$    87,653$     ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 13/14 6,285$       6,886$       6,927$     7,513$    7,582$    6,789$    12,321$  60$         13,092$  7,026$    6,310$    11,088$    91,879$     ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 14/15 6,491$       7,514$       12,705$  9,941$    6,502$    9,163$    7,498$    7,683$    7,968$     7,592$    8,112$    3,456$      94,626$     ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 15/16 7,587$       14,291$     6,453$     8,440$    7,532$    6,155$    6,995$    6,158$    8,594$     8,781$    8,945$    5,600$      95,531$     ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 16/17 8,025$       9,003$       14,727$  6,802$    8,196$    8,547$    7,920$    7,858$    7,106$     9,629$    8,751$    8,440$      105,004$   ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 17/18 8,165$       9,313$       200$        8,340$    9,346$    9,295$    16,798$  -$            8,048$     15,551$  6$           16,786$    101,847$   ,$ ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 18/19 10,189$     9,217$       11,860$  -$            12,020$  9,322$    12,478$  2$           12,353$  10,319$  8,725$    3,880$      100,366$   31,267$      77,442$     100,366$    100,366$      

FY 19/20 8,286$       8,586$       10,103$  1$           9,661$    12,002$  10,169$  13,603$  10,940$  83,350$     
26,975$      83,350$      83,350$      83,350$         

209,074$    

 $-

 $10,000

 $20,000

 $30,000

 $40,000

 $50,000

 $60,000

 $70,000

 $80,000

 $90,000

Meter Revenue Collection
9 months ending FY 19/20

FY 05/06

FY 06/07

FY 07/08

FY 08/09

FY 09/10

FY 10/11

FY 11/12

FY 12/13

FY 13/14

FY 14/15

FY 15/16

FY 16/17

FY 17/18

FY 18/19

FY 19/20

-14-

Prepared By:  Loree' McCay

5/6/2020



YTD Analysis Parking Citations Collection
3700-162

Year Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Total
FY 05/06 584$          987$          589$           997$       902$       1,705$    205$       765$       612$       452$       270$       885$       8,953$         ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 06/07 681$          716$          511$           1,839$    2,048$    2,085$    1,535$    1,561$    965$       472$       865$       2,170$    15,448$       ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 07/08 4,367$       7,172$       -$               5,300$    6,101$    2,356$    1,370$    3,353$    3,684$    3,125$    4,450$    4,265$    45,543$       ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 08/09 1,735$       3,366$       1,910$        3,210$    2,805$    1,715$    1,243$    2,766$    4,045$    3,480$    2,240$    3,379$    31,894$       ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 09/10 1,566$       3,881$       1,037$        1,261$    1,475$    1,172$    740$       1,460$    4,011$    6,860$    3,095$    2,980$    29,538$       ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 10/11 1,934$       4,484$       3,932$        4,563$    1,361$    2,559$    1,104$    2,557$    1,862$    2,658$    3,128$    2,321$    32,463$       ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 11/12 2,406$       5,767$       4,029$        1,709$    3,904$    5,180$    1,730$    3,511$    2,575$    4,086$    3,802$    3,618$    42,317$       ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 12/13 8,740$       2,053$       10,728$      6,705$    9,054$    3,161$    4,436$    4,165$    4,718$    5,760$    2,752$    2,309$    64,581$       ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 13/14 7,983$       13,950$     12,969$      10,788$  12,784$  9,367$    8,422$    10,165$  12,348$  10,014$  11,345$  9,648$    129,783$     ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 14/15 1,648$       12,581$     7,623$        6,727$    8,345$    5,098$    3,490$    2,461$    7,385$    8,053$    8,721$    8,729$    80,861$       ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 15/16 8,681$       13,166$     9,457$        68$         11,294$  20,396$  15,149$  14,996$  21,626$  17,617$  20,457$  25,428$  178,335$     ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 16/17 18,065$     15,188$     13,930$      13,994$  11,254$  12,068$  3,636$    13,711$  13,068$  9,890$    6,151$    1,279$    132,234$     ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 17/18 4,545$       4,055$       5,982$        4,567$    5,127$    5,345$    4,354$    8,159$    10,506$  11,404$  13,028$  23,002$  100,074$     ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 18/19 8,916$       11,521$     10,577$      12,754$  8,663$    7,511$    5,107$    9,825$    14,038$  14,190$  14,736$  19,702$  137,539$     31,014$          88,911$     137,539$    

FY 19/20 14,547$     18,343$     16,100$      12,924$  11,963$  14,635$  11,904$  12,651$  13,242$  126,309$     
48,990$          126,309$   126,309$    

 $-

 $20,000

 $40,000

 $60,000

 $80,000

 $100,000

 $120,000

 $140,000

Parking Citation Revenue
Collection

9 months ending FY 19/20

FY 05/06

FY 06/07

FY 07/08

FY 08/09

FY 09/10

FY 10/11

FY 11/12

FY 12/13

FY 13/14

FY 14/15

FY 15/16

FY 16/17

FY 17/18

FY 18/19

FY 19/20

-15-

Prepared By:  Loree' McCay

5/6/2020



YTD Analysis Water Revenue
600-3800

Year Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Total
FY 05/06 -$            83,311$   (585)$      79,214$   -$            76,535$   (52)$         74,947$   -$            78,957$   -$            76,286$   468,613$      ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 06/07 -$            127,617$ (2,497)$   60,253$   -$            80,008$   (25)$         78,836$   25$         80,749$   -$            114,814$ 539,779$      ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 07/08 945$       86,117$   192$       81,508$   (180)$      83,030$   (72)$         82,701$   138$       87,953$   144$       70,900$   493,375$      ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 08/09 -$            87,007$   710$       84,937$   1,264$    83,911$   (2,880)$    99,508$   18$         83,642$   (72)$        79,284$   517,329$      ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 09/10 41$         91,030$   112$       91,078$   985$       90,376$   831$         1,958$     88,554$  2,885$     93,589$  89,907$   551,345$      ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 10/11 -$            3,945$     93,760$  3,888$     90,748$  92,387$   -$             103,460$ (2,074)$   93,604$   (605)$      130,156$ 609,269$      ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 11/12 37$         180,527$ (4,613)$   135,509$ (220)$      100,593$ 1,290$     112,159$ 54$         95,213$   (71)$        154,609$ 775,088$      ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 12/13 304$       207,380$ (452)$      172,393$ (1,858)$   109,805$ (688)$       104,465$ 144$       111,234$ 854$       167,830$ 871,410$      ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 13/14 243$       208,697$ (355)$      158,209$ 50$         121,659$ 1,581$     103,964$ 434$       110,258$ 102$       151,242$ 856,083$      ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 14/15 251$       188,177$ 38$         152,804$ 767$       107,031$ (303)$       107,307$ 4,832$    103,012$ (467)$      142,414$ 805,863$      ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 15/16 110$       157,962$ -$            166,095$ 47$         76,372$   (732)$       104,136$ 41$         113,052$ 174$       127,315$ 744,573$      ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 16/17 237$       179,478$ 233$       167,947$ (597)$      114,832$ 200$         102,843$ 35$         102,303$ 357$       177,985$ 845,852$      ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 17/18 123$       198,911$ (85)$        162,614$ 347$       119,860$ (23)$         116,903$ 2,287$    119,325$ (360)$      166,018$ 885,921$      ,$ ,$

FY 18/19 75$         204,372$ (2,599)$   182,917$ (6,464)$   124,611$ 468$         112,304$ (483)$      164,406$ (1,832)$   112,498$ 890,272$      201,848$    615,201$    

FY 19/20 3,740$    178,064$ (40)$        160,553$ 496$       123,815$ (1,670)$    112,791$ 14,446$  -$             -$            -$             592,193$      
181,763$    592,193$     

YOY (23,007)$ 
due to reduced water usage and aged meter infrastructure

 $-

 $100,000

 $200,000

 $300,000

 $400,000

 $500,000

 $600,000

 $700,000

Water Revenue Collection
9 months ending FY 19/20

FY 05/06

FY 06/07

FY 07/08

FY 08/09

FY 09/10

FY 10/11

FY 11/12

FY 12/13

FY 13/14

FY 14/15

FY 15/16

FY 16/17

FY 17/18

FY 18/19

FY 19/20

-16-

Prepared By:  Loree' McCay

5/6/2020



YTD Analysis Sewer Revenue
650-3800

Year Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Total
FY 05/06 -$            166,688$ (1,169)$    129,604$ -$             158,910$   (70)$         174,912$ 59,445$     210,454$    52,975$   224,723$ 1,176,471$     $205,437 program income,$ ,$ ,$

FY 06/07 -$            197,031$ (2,405)$    200,755$ 22,900$   217,871$   11,070$   191,778$ -$              193,793$    -$             214,798$ 1,247,591$     $90,590 program income,$ ,$ ,$

FY 07/08 (1,011)$   216,250$ 22$          246,719$ (180)$       230,033$   12,411$   213,604$ -$              252,356$    22,146$   261,574$ 1,453,923$     $109,870 program income,$ ,$ ,$

FY 08/09 221,389$ 180$        218,946$ -$             225,508$   11,148$   220,233$ -$              243,601$    24,396$   205,915$ 1,371,316$     $44,020 program income,$ ,$ ,$

FY 09/10 1,900$    218,419$ (71)$         219,086$ 4,785$     217,537$   (25)$         843$        219,737$   4,496$        218,201$ 218,286$ 1,323,195$     $9,965 program income,$ ,$ ,$

FY 10/11 (3)$          343$        216,516$ 2,049$     217,466$ (179)$        303,269$ 259,607$ 12,472$     219,547$    63,426$   294,548$ 1,589,061$     $276,435 program income,$ , ,$ , ,$

FY 11/12 130$       218,474$ 63$          219,975$ -$                 218,792$   3,343$     220,465$ 42$           220,026$    (53)$         237,589$ 1,338,845$     $17,145 program income,$ ,$ ,$

FY 12/13 72$         236,619$ 193$        221,841$ 68$          236,121$   9,298$     219,176$ 2,502$      281,899$    46,273$   321,680$ 1,575,743$     $248,876 program income,$ ,$ ,$

FY 13/14 53,301$  223,197$ 128$        228,948$ 20$          223,796$   1,499$     219,455$ 5,051$      219,724$    141$        209,630$ 1,384,889$     $56,520 program income,$ ,$ ,$

FY 14/15 55$         239,871$ 2,305$     220,141$ 118$        226,522$   5,280$     244,755$ 5,741$      229,881$    557$        224,204$ 1,399,428$     $46,560 program income,$ ,$ ,$

FY 15/16 320$       186,993$ 74$          170,840$ 8,454$     183,462$   14,577$   188,060$ 1,033$      257,845$    50,366$   261,886$ 1,323,909$     $118,872 program income,$ ,$ ,$

FY 16/17 12,389$  232,359$ (318)$       231,373$ (717)$       218,433$   (1,654)$    227,985$ 78,379$     279,987$    2,130$     317,481$ 1,597,828$     $263,640 program income ,$ ,$ ,$

FY 17/18 36,709$  245,220$ 501$        215,686$ 15,215$   221,971$   13,497$   234,915$ 25,901$     239,273$    24,680$   172,473$ 1,446,041$     $163,800 program income ,$ , ,$ , ,$

FY 18/19 -$            253,221$ 1,476$     215,366$ 23,853$   212,689$   4,616$     241,374$ 27,745$     283,497$    57,043$   234,788$ 1,555,668$     $225,400 program income 254,697$     980,340$      1,555,668$   

FY 19/20 17,588$  207,213$ (155)$       206,501$ 27,463$   204,161$   36,909$   204,697$ 35,177$     939,555$        $46,320 program income 

224,646$     939,555$       939,555$       

 $-

 $100,000

 $200,000

 $300,000

 $400,000

 $500,000

 $600,000

 $700,000

 $800,000

 $900,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,100,000

Sewer Revenue Collection
9 months ending FY 19/20

FY 05/06

FY 06/07

FY 07/08

FY 08/09

FY 09/10

FY 10/11

FY 11/12

FY 12/13

FY 13/14

FY 14/15

FY 15/16

FY 16/17

FY 17/18

FY 18/19

FY 19/20

-17-
Prepared By:  Loree' McCay5/6/2020



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
May 13, 2020            www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:  Authorization for Procurement of Nevada City Wastewater Plant Belt Press Wash 
Water Return Pump  
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Pass Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City of Nevada City 
Council authorizing the City Manager or designee to sign purchase orders for the procurement 
of Nevada City Wastewater Plant Belt Press Wash Water Return Pump from Pac Machine 
Company in the amount of $11,277.00 plus $2,000.00 in contingencies.  
 
CONTACT:   Bryan K. McAlister, City Engineer 
  Kevin Timms, Chief Plant Operator 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:  
The Nevada City Wastewater Treatment Plant operates in compliance with the California 
Regional Water Quality Control Board permit which includes waste discharge effluent limitations 
and self-monitoring provisions.  The treatment process involve wasting and decanting of solid 
waste at a day tank located near the belt press building.  There are two wash return pumps that 
return a portion of the wastewater back to the basins where it is cycled back through the 
treatment system.  Both pumps are 26 years old, however only one of the pumps is in need of 
replacement at this time.    

 
City staff solicited quotes for the Wastewater Plant flow control valve from a vendor that 
specializes in this product.  This is sole source because of the rail system which is for “Flyght” 
pumps.  Quote for improvements are as follows: 
            

• Pac Machine Company 
(equipment only, installation by City staff)  $11,277.00 / Each 
 

City staff recommends that the project be awarded to Pac Machine Company who has provided 
a comprehensive bid. 
FISCAL CONSIDERATIONS:  The project will be funded as authorized in the fiscal year 
2019/2020 capital outlay appropriations for the wastewater treatment.    
 
ATTACHMENT: 
 Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City of Nevada City Council to Authorize the 

Procurement from Pac Machine Company for the Nevada City Wastewater Plant Belt Press 
Wash Water Return Pump 

 Vendor Quotes for Wastewater Plant Belt Press Wash Water Return Pump 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


RESOLUTION NO. 2020-XX 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY COUNCIL TO 
AUTHORIZE THE PROCUREMENT FROM PAC MACHINE COMPANY FOR 

THE NEVADA CITY WASTEWATER PLANT                      BELT 
PRESS WASH WATER RETURN PUMP 

 
WHEREAS, Nevada City Wastewater Treatment Plant operates in compliance 
with California Regional Water Quality Control Board permit which includes waste 
discharge effluent limitations and self-monitoring provisions; and 
 
WHEREAS, in accordance with the City of Nevada City prioritization of projects 
for permit compliance and Wastewater Treatment Plant improvements, City staff 
procured bids for Wastewater Belt Press Wash Water Return Pump; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 
Nevada City to pass Resolution 2020-XX authorizing the City Manager or 
designee to sign purchase orders for the procurement of Nevada City 
Wastewater Plant Belt Press Wash Water Return Pump from Pac Machine 
Company in the amount of $11,277.00 plus $2,000.00 in contingencies. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at the regular meeting of the City Council of the City 
of Nevada City on the 13th day of May, 2020, by the following vote:  

 

AYES:   

NOES:  

ABSENT:  

ABSTAIN:   

 
  
      ________________________________ 
      Reinette Senum, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 



From: Gerard Marquez

Qty Price Each Amount
1 $11,277.00 $11,277.00

Quote valid for 30 days

Total: $11,277.00

Regards,
Gerard Marquez

To: Kevin Timms

Flygt Model NP-3127.060 4" volute sewage pump 

motor, HT488 impeller,  50 Ft subcab power cable, FLS.

SACRAMENTO, BENICIA, CA
SPARKS, NV

Pac Machine Company

Sacramento, CA 95826

Fax: (916)387-1380 

Of: City of Nevada WWTP
Email/Fax: Kevin.Timms@nevadacityca.gov
Phone:  530-870-2471
Re: Flygt 3127 Pump Quote

8570 23rd Avenue

Please Call with any questions.

Phone: (916) 387-1336
Date:  05.04.20

equipped with a 230 Volt / 3 phase, 60 Hz,10 HP 1745 RPM 

Taxes & Freight not included.

Delivery 7-10 days
FOB:  MS

Call Gerard Marquez @  mobile 916-416-2252  or email @ gerard@pacmachine.com w/questions per 
your request we're pleased to quote the following.

Description

Includes guide pin and is drilled for flush valve.





REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
May 13th, 2020        www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE: Lease Purchase of Two Chevy Silverado SSV (Special Service Vehicle) Trucks 
for the Nevada City Police Department. 
 

RECOMMENDATION: Pass Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the of the City Council of the 
City of Nevada City Authorizing the City Manager to execute lease agreements for two Chevy 
Silverados for the Nevada City Police Department. 
 
CONTACT:  Chief Chad Ellis 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  
The Nevada City Police Department will be phasing out two Ford Explorer patrol cars originally 
purchased by the City in 2014.  The two Ford Explorers have high mileage and are costing the 
City a considerable amount of expenditures in repairs.  Further costly repairs will be needed to 
keep the current service vehicles in a suitable condition to be utilized for emergency response.  
 
Approximately two years ago, the Police Department transitioned from Ford Explorers to 
Chevy Tahoes for patrol use.  The Tahoes have proven to be more reliable than the Explorers 
and better suited as patrol vehicles.  Due to the Covid-19 Pandemic, Chevy/GMC has closed 
their factories down and have discontinued making the Chevy Tahoe 2020 body style.  The 
Tahoes were set to have a completely new design (2021 body style) that was to be released 
this summer, however, due to the Covid-19 Pandemic, Chevy/GMC is anticipating the Tahoes 
will not be available until potentially next spring. 
 
Folsom Chevrolet conducted an inventory search and there are no Chevy Tahoe PPV’s (Police 
Patrol Vehicles) available for purchase. Chevrolet had started producing the Chevy Silverados 
in a police package that has grown in popularity due to the utility of the vehicle and reliability it 
shares with the Chevy Tahoe.  Folsom Chevrolet currently has Chevy Silverados in stock 
ready for purchase.  In looking into purchase options it was found that GM offers a Municipal 
Lease Program.  The program is a 4 year lease and at the conclusion the City has the ability to 
purchase the vehicle for $1.00.  The program also has a one-time annual payment for the four 
years of the lease.  Given the unpredictability of the economy due to the COVID Pandemic, it 
is my belief that the lease option is a better way for the city to purchase these vehicles as it will 
not require a large amount of money upfront. 
    
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS: None 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  $103,148.92 (Over four years) from the Proposition 172 Safety Fund. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council of the City of Nevada City 

Authorizing the City Manager to Execute Lease Agreements for Two Chevy Silverados 
for the Nevada City Police Department 

 Folsom Chevrolet price sheet for Chevy Silverado SSV (Special Service Vehicle) 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


RESOLUTION 2020-XX 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE LEASE AGREEMENTS FOR 

TWO CHEVY SILVERADOS FOR THE NEVADA CITY POLICE DEPARTMENT 
 

 
WHEREAS, the Nevada City Police Department needs to replace two of its service 
vehicles; 
 
WHEREAS,  after researching the features, costs, and reliability of various options, the 
Police Chief has determined that the best option is leasing two Chevy Tahoes from 
Folsom Chevrolet for a total cost to lease both vehicles for 4 years with an option to 
purchase each for $1.00 at the end of the lease period of $103,148.92; and 
 
WHEREAS, funding is provided by existing City restricted Proposition 172 funds which 
are allocated for Safety purposes typically used for Police Department equipment.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED AND ORDERED the City Manager is 
hereby authorized to execute lease agreements and other necessary documents with 
Folsom Chevrolet to effectuate the lease of two Chevy Silverados trucks to be used by 
the Nevada City Police Department for a 4-year lease term with an option to purchase 
at the end of the lease period, for a total cost not to exceed one hundred $110,000.   
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regularly scheduled meeting of the City Council of 
Nevada City held on the 13th day of May, 2020 by the following vote: 
 
AYES: 
  
NOES: 
 
ABSTAIN: 
 
ABSENT: 
       _____________________________ 
       Reinette Senum, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk  





REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL      City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
MAY 13, 2020        www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:  Resolution Approving a Notice of Exemption for Commercial Street Phase II 
Improvements 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Pass Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council of the City 
of Nevada City, State of California, Recommending Approval of a Notice of Exemption (NOE)  
for Commercial Street Phase II Improvements and authorize the Mayor to sign. 
 
CONTACT:  Amy Wolfson, City Planner 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:    
Commercial Street sustains significant use by pedestrians and vehicles both during the work 
day and during evenings and weekends due to the restaurants, shops and bars in this area.    
The heavy use has contributed to the postponement of much needed street rehabilitation, due 
to relative inconvenience to users of the corridor.  In 2017, the City Council prioritized this street 
for rehabilitation to extend its useful life by 20 years or more. The attached Resolution approving 
a Notice of Exemption for the project is a requirement of the grant application to demonstrate 
the City’s compliance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).   
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:  
Staff has prepared a Notice of Exemption (NOE) pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15301 
(c) which includes those projects involving maintenance, repair and minor alterations of existing 
public streets and sidewalks for which there is no or negligible expansion of use. Consistent with 
this exemption, Phase II Commercial Street improvements will consist of roadway rehabilitation 
of approximately 600 linear feet of Commercial Street, widening of the sidewalk, enhanced at 
intersections to provide safe, convenient and efficient pedestrian access within the Downtown 
Historic District.  Pavement improvements include replacement of deteriorated pavement and 
improvements to cross-slope for drainage. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: There are no CEQA filing fees for a Notice of Exemption 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council of the City of Nevada City, State 

of California, Recommending Approval of a Notice of Exemption (NOE exhibit attached) 
for the Commercial Street Phase II Improvements 
 

 
 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


 
RESOLUTION 2020-XX                     

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

NEVADA CITY, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, RECOMMENDING 
APPROVAL OF A NOTICE OF EXEMPTION  

(Commercial Street Phase II) 

   
WHEREAS, the City of Nevada City seeks grant funding through the SB-1 Local Partnership 
Program (LPP); and 

WHEREAS, CEQA Guidelines Section 15301(c) includes those projects involving 
maintenance, repair and minor alterations of existing public streets and sidewalks involving no 
or negligible expansion of use. Consistent with this exemption, Phase II Commercial Street 
improvements will consist of roadway rehabilitation of approximately 600 linear feet of 
Commercial Street, widening of the sidewalk, enhanced at intersections to provide safe, 
convenient and efficient pedestrian access within the Downtown Historic District.  Pavement 
improvements include replacement of deteriorated pavement and improvements to cross-slope 
for drainage. 
 
WHEREAS, a Notice of Exemption has been prepared for the Project;  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Nevada City as 
follows: 

 
Section 1. Based on the review and determination of Staff, the City Council of the City of 

Nevada City finds that the Project is exempt from review under the California Environmental 
Quality Act. 
 

Section 2. A Notice of Exemption is recommended for approval for the Project and is 
attached as Exhibit 1. 

 
Section 3. Upon approval of the Project by the City Council, the City Clerk may file the 

Notice of Exemption with the County Clerk of Nevada County and, if the Project requires a 
discretionary approval from any state agency, with the State Office of Planning and Research, 
pursuant to the provisions of Section 21152(b) of the Public Resources Code and the State 
EIR Guidelines adopted pursuant thereto. 

 
PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Nevada City at a 
public meeting held on the 13th day of May, 2020 
 
AYES:   
NOES:   
ABSTAIN:   
ABSENT:    

       _______________________________________ 
        Reinette Senum, Mayor 
ATTEST:   
 
By:  __________________________________      
  Niel Locke, City Clerk 



 
 

 

 
  
 

  

  
   

   

 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

     

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 
 
 
 
 
 

   
     

 
  

 
      
 

   

   
 

       
   

 
   

 

 

  

 

  

 
 

        

          

   

_______________________________________________

Print Form 

Notice of Exemption Appendix E 

 From: (Public Agency):  ____________________________To: Office of Planning and Research 
P.O. Box 3044, Room 113

 _______________________________________________Sacramento, CA 95812-3044 

 County Clerk 
(Address) 

___________________________ 

___________________________ 

County of:  __________________ 

Project Title:  ____________________________________________________________________________ 

Project Applicant: ________________________________________________________________________ 

Project Location - Specific: 

Project Location - City: ______________________ Project Location - County: 

Description of Nature, Purpose and Beneficiaries of Project: 

_____________________ 

Name of Public Agency Approving Project: _____________________________________________________ 

Name of Person or Agency Carrying Out Project: ________________________________________________ 

Exempt Status:  (check one): 
Ministerial (Sec. 21080(b)(1); 15268); 

Declared Emergency (Sec. 21080(b)(3); 15269(a)); 

Emergency Project (Sec. 21080(b)(4); 15269(b)(c)); 

Reasons why project is exempt: 

Lead Agency 
Contact Person: ____________________________ Area Code/Telephone/Extension: _______________ 

If filed by applicant: 
1. Attach certified document of exemption finding.
2. Has a Notice of Exemption been filed by the public agency approving the project?  Yes No 

Signature: ____________________________ Date: 

Signed by Lead Agency Signed by Applicant 

Authority cited: Sections 21083 and 21110, Public Resources Code. Date Received for filing at OPR: 
Reference: Sections 21108, 21152, and 21152.1, Public Resources Code. 

_______________ 

Categorical Exemption. State type and section number: ____________________________________ 

Statutory Exemptions. State code number: ______________________________________________ 

______________ Title: _______________________ 

Revised 2011 

Exhibit 1 (RESOLUTION 2020-XX)



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
May 13, 2020         www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:   Action Minutes April 22, 2020 City Council Meeting   
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Review and approve City Council Meeting Action Minutes of April 22, 
2020.  
 
CONTACT:  Catrina Olson, City Manager 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  
The action minutes for the April 22, 2020 are attached for review. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:   Not applicable.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Not applicable. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 City Council Meeting Action Minutes April 22, 2020 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


1 

[Type here] 
 

 

CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
ACTION MINUTES 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF APRIL 22, 2020 
 

 
NOTE:  This meeting is available to view on the City’s website www.nevadacityca.gov – Go to Quick Links 
and Click on Agendas & Minutes and find the Archived Videos in the middle of the screen.  Select the meeting 
date and Click on Video to watch the meeting.  For website assistance, please contact Loree’ McCay, Deputy 
City Clerk at (530) 265-2496, ext 134. 
  
-  City Council Meetings are available on DVD.  To order, contact City Hall - cost is $15.00 per DVD.   
-  Closed Session Meetings are not recorded. 
 
 
CLOSED SESSION – None 
 
 
REGULAR MEETING – 6:30 PM - Call to Order 
 
Roll Call:    Present:  Mayor Senum, Vice Mayor Minett, Council Members Strawser and 

Moberg 
 Absent:  Council Member Parker 
      
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE    

 
PROCLAMATIONS: “Waste Management Employee Appreciation Day”- April 22, 2020 
 
PRESENTATIONS: Installation of the City Clerk, two new Council Members and one 
incumbent. 
 
BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR: 
 
1. PUBLIC COMMENT (Per Government Code Section 54954.3) 
Please refer to the meeting video on the City’s website at www.nevadacityca.gov. 
 
2. COUNCIL MEMBERS REQUESTED ITEMS AND COMMITTEE REPORTS: 
 
3.  CONSENT ITEMS: 

 
A. Subject:  Fire Activity Report – March 2020 

Recommendation: Receive and file. 
 

B. Subject:  Accounts Payable Activity Report – March 2020 
Recommendation: Receive and file. 

 
C. Subject:  Continuance of a Public Hearing for the Consideration of Ordinance 

Amendments for the Regulation of Wireless Telecommunication Facilities in the City 
Recommendation: Provide staff direction to continue a Public Hearing for the first 
reading of a draft amended Ordinance for the regulation of Wireless 
Telecommunication Facilities in the City to May 13, 2020. 
 
 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/
http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


2 

[Type here] 
 

 

 
D. Subject:  Resolution Declaring Results of March 3, 2020 Municipal Election 

Recommendation:  Pass Resolution 2020-12 declaring results of Municipal Election 
held March 3, 2020. 
 

E. Subject:  Action Minutes March 25, 2020 City Council Meeting   
Recommendation: Review and approve City Council Meeting Action Minutes of March 25, 
2020. 
 
Action: Motion by Strawser, seconded by Minett to approve consent item 3A, 3B, 3D and 3E 
and Mayor Senum pulled item and 3C for discussion.   
(Approved 4-0, Absent 1 Roll call votes ayes Minett, Strawser, Moberg and Senum) 
 
Action: Item 3C was discussed.  Motion by Moberg, seconded by Strawser to approve 
continuance of the Public Hearing for the first reading of a draft amended Ordinance for 
regulation of Wireless Telecommunication Facilities in the City to May 13, 2020. 
(Approved 4-0, Absent 1, Roll call vote ayes - Minett, Strawser, Moberg and Senum) 
 
4.     DEPARTMENT REQUESTED ACTION ITEMS AND UPDATE REPORTS: 
 

A. Subject:  City Support of the Nevada County Launch of Countywide Relief Fund with 
$100,000 Challenge Grant 
Recommendation: Review the Nevada County Relief Fund effort and structure, 
authorize Nevada City support of the development of the Nevada County Relief Fund 
and approve a budget re-allocation of the Community and Economic Support Program 
(CESP) funds of $5,000 to the Countywide Relief Program. 

Action: Motion by Strawser, seconded by Moberg to support the development of the Nevada 
County Relief Fund and approve a budget re-allocation of the Community and Economic 
Support Program (CESP) funds of $5,000 to the Countywide Relief Program. 
(Approved 4-0, Absent 1, Roll call vote ayes - Minett, Strawser, Moberg and Senum) 
 

B. Subject:  Senate Bill 2 Grant Award 
Recommendation: Receive and file. 

Action:  No action, receive and file. 
 

C. Subject:  Report Out of Closed Session Friends of Spring Street Versus the City of 
Nevada City, Mollie Poe, Declan Hickey, Real Parties in Interest  
Recommendation: Receive and file. 

Action: No action, receive and file. 
 

D. Subject:  City Dismissal from Jacquelyn Sakioka, Successor in Interest to the Estate 
of Ronson Sakioka Versus the State of California, County of Nevada, City of Nevada 
City, Genevieve Dungan Lawsuit  
Recommendation: Receive and file. 

Action: No action, receive and file. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



3 

[Type here] 
 

 

5.     PUBLIC HEARINGS:  
 
6.       OLD BUSINESS:   
 

A. Subject:  Continuation of a Public Hearing for the appeal of the Planning Commission 
Decision to Deny a Variance from Development Performance Standards and Historic 
District Signage Standards as Proposed by Representatives of the National Exchange 
Hotel for the Property Located at 211 Broad Street, Nevada City 
Recommendation: Provide staff direction to continue a Public Hearing for the appeal 
of the Planning Commission Decision to Deny a Variance from Development 
Performance Standards and Historic District Signage Standards as Proposed by 
Representatives of the National Exchange Hotel for the Property Located at 211 
Broad Street, Nevada City to June 10, 2020. 

Action: Motion by Strawser, seconded by Moberg to continue a Public Hearing for the appeal of 
the Planning Commission decision to deny a variance from development performance standards 
and Historic District Signage Standards as proposed by representatives of the National 
Exchange Hotel for the property located at 211 Broad Street, Nevada City to June 10, 2020. 
(Approved 4-0, Absent 1, Roll call vote ayes - Minett, Strawser, Moberg and Senum) 
 
7.      NEW BUSINESS: 
 

A. Subject:  Urgency Ordinance Extending a Temporary Moratorium on Commercial 
Evictions Due to COVID-19 
Recommendation: Waive reading of Ordinance and read by title only, and adopt an 
Urgency Ordinance of the City of Nevada City extending a temporary moratorium on 
evicting commercial tenants and declaring the Ordinance to be an emergency 
measure to take effect immediately upon adoption.    

Action: Motion by Strawser, seconded by Minett to waive reading of Ordinance 2020-06 and 
read by title only, and adopt an Urgency Ordinance of the City of Nevada City extending a 
temporary moratorium on evicting commercial tenants and declaring the Ordinance to be an 
emergency measure to take effect immediately upon adoption including striking from Section 1, 
“for 30 days.” 
(Approved 4-0, Absent 1, Roll call vote ayes - Minett, Strawser, Moberg and Senum) 
 

B. Subject:  Urgency Ordinance Granting an Extension for Cannabis Business Permits 
Recommendation: Waive reading of Ordinance and read by title only, and adopt an 
Urgency Ordinance of the City of Nevada City Granting a One-time Extension of Six 
Months to the Term of Annual Cannabis Business Permits and declaring the 
Ordinance to be an emergency measure to take effect immediately upon adoption.    

Action: Motion by Strawser, seconded by Minett waive reading of Ordinance 2020-07 and read 
by title only, and adopt an Urgency Ordinance of the City of Nevada City Granting a One-time 
Extension of Six Months to the Term of Annual Cannabis Business Permits and declaring the 
Ordinance to be an emergency measure to take effect immediately upon adoption.    
(Approved 4-0, Absent 1, Roll call vote ayes - Minett, Strawser, Moberg and Senum) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



4 

[Type here] 
 

 

8.      CORRESPONDENCE: 
 
9. ANNOUNCEMENTS:  
 
10. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT:  Written report available. 
 
11.      ADJOURNMENT:  - 7:53 PM 
 
 
 
 
                 
AYES:  SENUM, STAWSER, MINETT, MOBERG 
  
NOES: 
 
ABSTAIN: 
 
ABSENT:  PARKER 
 
ATTEST: 
 
       _____________________________ 
       Reinette Senum, Mayor 
 
____________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk  
 



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
May 13, 2020         www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:   Action Minutes May 1, 2020 Special City Council Meeting   
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Review and approve Special City Council Meeting Action Minutes of 
May 1, 2020.  
 
CONTACT:  Catrina Olson, City Manager 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  
The action minutes for the May 1, 2020 are attached for review. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS:   Not applicable.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Not applicable. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 Special City Council Meeting Action Minutes May 1, 2020 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


1 

[Type here] 
 

 

CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
ACTION MINUTES 

SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF MAY 1, 2020 
 

 
NOTE:  This meeting is available to view on the City’s website www.nevadacityca.gov – Go to Quick Links 
and Click on Agendas & Minutes and find the Archived Videos in the middle of the screen.  Select the meeting 
date and Click on Video to watch the meeting.  For website assistance, please contact Loree’ McCay, Deputy 
City Clerk at (530) 265-2496, ext 134. 
  
-  City Council Meetings are available on DVD.  To order, contact City Hall - cost is $15.00 per DVD.   
-  Closed Session Meetings are not recorded. 
 
 
CLOSED SESSION – None 
 
 
REGULAR MEETING – 11:00 AM - Call to Order 
 
Roll Call:    Present:  Vice Mayor Minett, Council Members Strawser, Parker and Moberg 
 Absent:  Mayor Senum 
      
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE    

 
PROCLAMATIONS:  
 
PRESENTATIONS:  
 
BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR: 
 
1.  PUBLIC COMMENT (Per Government Code Section 54954.3) 

Please refer to the meeting video on the City’s website at www.nevadacityca.gov. 
 
2.  COUNCIL MEMBERS REQUESTED ITEMS AND COMMITTEE REPORTS: 
 
3.   CONSENT ITEMS: 

 
4.        DEPARTMENT REQUESTED ACTION ITEMS AND UPDATE REPORTS: 
 
5.      PUBLIC HEARINGS:  
 
6.        OLD BUSINESS:   
 
7.      NEW BUSINESS: 
 

A. Subject:  Resolution 2020-27 Ratifying the Director of Defense and Disaster’s 
Second Supplemental Proclamation of a Local Emergency Issued on April 24, 2020 
Ordering the Partial Reopening of Pioneer Park and Authorizing the City Manager to 
Order the Reopening of Parks and Public Facilities When Appropriate 
 
 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/
http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


2 

[Type here] 
 

 

Recommendation: Discuss and approve adoption of Resolution 2020-27 of the City 
Council of the City of Nevada City.  

Action: Motion by Strawser, seconded by Parker to approve adoption of Resolution 2020-27, a 
Resolution of the City Council of the City of Nevada City ratifying the Director of Defense and 
Disaster’s Second Supplemental Proclamation of a Local Emergency issued on April 24, 2020 
ordering the partial reopening of Pioneer Park and authorizing the City Manager to order the 
reopening of parks and public facilities when appropriate. 
(Approved 4-0, Absent 1, Roll call vote ayes - Minett, Strawser, Moberg and Parker) 
 
8.      CORRESPONDENCE: 
 
9. ANNOUNCEMENTS:  
 
10. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT:   
 
11.      ADJOURNMENT:  - 11:09 AM 
                 
AYES:   SENUM, STAWSER, MINETT, MOBERG 
  
NOES: 
 
ABSTAIN: 
 
ABSENT:   PARKER 
 
ATTEST: 
 
       _____________________________ 
       Reinette Senum, Mayor 
 
____________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk  
 



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
May 13, 2020        www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE: Approval of Street Closure at the 300 and 400 block of Broad Street to Vehicular 
Traffic from Fridays at 6AM Until Mondays at 6AM until the COVID-19 Pandemic Shelter 
in Place Orders are Lifted and Suspend the Imposition and Collection of City Parking 
Meter Fees Until the End of the Local Emergency 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  

1. Provide approval for City staff to block off the 300 and 400 block of Broad Street from 
6AM on Fridays until 6AM on Mondays in an effort to create more area to social 
distance in the downtown area. 
 

2. Review and approve Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council of the City of 
Nevada City Suspending the Imposition and Collection of Parking Fees at City Parking 
Meters During the Covid-19 Local Emergency. 

CONTACT:  Mayor Reinette Senum 
  Chief Chad Ellis 
  
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  
Due to the Covid-19 Pandemic local businesses have suffered tremendously due to the 
necessary social distancing and shelter in place orders.  With the implementation of the 
Governor’s phase two and lifting some restrictions we are, and will be, seeing more people out 
in public.  In an effort to create an environment with more area to have the ability to socially 
distance we would like to close Broad Street to vehicles, giving individuals the ability to have 
more room to socially distance in the downtown area.  We believe that this is a better approach 
than having people being confined to the sidewalks while downtown.  This approach, while still 
having the public and businesses operate under the confines of the current orders, should 
provide a safer environment for the public.   
 
During the remainder of the order, we are also recommending that we as a city not require 
individuals to pay for parking in the downtown area.  
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS: None 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: To be determined 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council of the City of Nevada City 

Suspending the Imposition and Collection of Parking Fees at City Parking Meters 
During the Covid-19 Local Emergency 

 Letter to the public from the Chamber of Commerce 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


RESOLUTION 2020-XX 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY SUSPENDING 
THE IMPOSITION AND COLLECTION OF PARKING FEES AT CITY PARKING METERS 

DURING THE COVID-19 LOCAL EMERGENCY 
 

 
WHEREAS, conditions of extreme peril to the safety of persons or property have arisen within 
the City of Nevada City as a result of the spread of the COVID-19 virus throughout the State of 
California; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Governor of California declared a Statewide state of emergency due to the 
COVID-19 virus on Wednesday, March 4, 2020; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council confirmed the declaration of a local emergency due to the 
existence or threatened existence of conditions of disaster or of extreme peril to the safety of 
persons and property within the City of Nevada City on March 11, 2020; and 
 
WHEREAS, despite sustained efforts, the virus remains a threat, and further efforts to control 
the spread of the virus to reduce and minimize the risk of infection and otherwise mitigate the 
effects of COVID-19 are needed; and 
 
WHEREAS, the economic impacts of COVID-19 have been significant, and businesses are 
experiencing substantial losses; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council desires to suspend the requirement to pay parking meter fees in 
the downtown area of the City during the local emergency in order to prevent any additional 
adverse economic impacts on individuals and downtown businesses.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED AND ORDERED that imposition and 
collection of City parking meter fees in the City of Nevada City is hereby suspended until the 
end of the local emergency due to COVID-19, or until further resolution of the City Council of the 
City of Nevada City. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regularly scheduled meeting of the City Council of Nevada City 
held on the 13th day of May, 2020 by the following vote: 
 
AYES: 
  
NOES: 
 
ABSTAIN: 
 
ABSENT: 
       _____________________________ 
       Reinette Senum, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk  



Hello Nevada County Business Owners: 
 
Thank you for your diligence during these Covid-19 times.  Nevada County has done very well 
with taking their safety precautions seriously.   
 
Governor issued a Report Card on the state’s progress in fighting COVID-19.  Visit the 
link for official Office of the Governor Gavin Newsom HERE - Governor’s Report Card 
indicates California will be prepared to move into the early phase of Stage 2 of 
reopening this Friday, May 8. 
 
For Nevada County, NOTE 

● This does not mean that business returns to normal and doors are open for all 
businesses this Friday in Nevada County.   

 

● All business will be curbside pick-up only, unless you are deemed an essential 
service.  If you are deemed an essential service, you will be required to follow 
social distancing guidelines for employees, customers.  See page 8 for list of 
essential businesses HERE 

 

Social Distancing - For purposes of this Order, "Social Distancing Requirements" 
includes maintaining at least six- foot social distancing from other individuals, washing 
hands with soap and water for at least twenty seconds as frequently as possible or 
using hand sanitizer, covering coughs or sneezes (into the sleeve or elbow, not hands), 
regularly cleaning high-touch surfaces, and not shaking hands.  

This Order shall be effective immediately and will remain in effect until further Order of 
the Health Officer. 

 

Essential services:  

Later this week the state will release public health guidance for certain Stage 2 sectors 
including some retail, manufacturing, and logistics businesses, which will outline 
modifications that lower the risk of transmission. Other Stage 2 sectors, such as offices 
and dine-in restaurants, will be part of a later Stage 2 opening. 

 

If you are not deemed an essential service at this point, be sure you are following 
guidelines so as not to endanger your business license status in your specific industry. 

https://www.gov.ca.gov/2020/05/04/governor-newsom-provides-update-on-californias-progress-toward-stage-2-reopening/
https://www.gov.ca.gov/2020/05/04/governor-newsom-provides-update-on-californias-progress-toward-stage-2-reopening/
https://www.mynevadacounty.com/DocumentCenter/View/34027/PHO-Order-Stay-at-Home-April-15-002


NOTE:  Stage 2 allows gradual reopening of lower-risk workplaces with adaptations 
including bookstores, clothing stores, florists and sporting goods stores, with 
modifications. 

While the state will be moving from Stage 1 to Stage 2, counties can choose to continue 
more restrictive measures in place based on their local conditions, and the state 
expects some counties to keep their more robust stay at home orders in place beyond 
May 8. 

 
NOTE: Each County has variations based on their County and their readiness 
with the State check-off list. 
Regional Variation 

The Governor also announced today that while the state is moving into Stage 2 
together, counties can move more quickly through Stage 2, if they attest that they meet 
the state’s readiness criteria. Counties must create and submit a readiness plan which 
the state will make publicly available. 

The Governor signed an executive order today directing the State Public Health Officer 
to establish criteria to determine whether and how, in light of local conditions, local 
health officers may implement public health measures less restrictive than the statewide 
public health directives. Counties must meet criteria including demonstrating they have 
a low prevalence of COVID-19, that they meet testing and contact tracing criteria, that 
their health care system is prepared in case they see a sudden rise in cases, and that 
they have plans in place to protect vulnerable populations. The state will outline these 
criteria in the coming days. The text of the Governor’s executive order can be found 
here and a copy can be found here. 

 

 

-------- 

 

 

 

 

 
 

https://www.gov.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/5.4.20-EO-N-60-20-text.pdf
https://www.gov.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/5.4.20-EO-N-60-20.pdf


REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL    City of Nevada City 
         317 Broad Street 
         Nevada City, CA 95959 
May 13, 2020       www.nevadacityca.gov 
 
 
TITLE: Consideration of and First Reading of Ordinance Repealing and 
Readopting Chapter 17.150 of the Nevada City Municipal Code entitled “Wireless 
Telecommunication Facilities in the City” 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Hold first reading, waive reading of Ordinance in its entirety, 
and read by title only, Ordinance 2020-XX Repealing and Readopting Chapter 17.150 of 
the Nevada City Municipal Code entitled “Wireless Telecommunication Facilities in the 
City”.  

CONTACT:  Catrina Olson, City Manager 
Amy Wolfson, City Planner 
 

BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  
The City Council adopting an Ordinance amending Chapter 17.150 of the Nevada City 
Municipal Code entitled “Wireless Telecommunication Facilities in the City” on 
September 25, 2019.  The City Council subsequently authorized Council Member 
Strawser to meet with a working group of citizens, the City’s consultant Bob Ross, and 
Jones & Mayer attorney Baron Bettenhausen to make changes to Chapter 17.150 to 
add further protections to the public health, safety, and welfare, permitted under federal 
and state law.   
 
The working group met with Council Member Strawser and Mayor Senum on March 6, 
2020, and agreed upon proposed changes that were submitted to Bob Ross and Baron 
Bettenhausen for their review.  On March 13, 2020, the working group met at Nevada 
City Council Chambers with Mayor Senum and Council Member Strawser, joined by 
Baron Bettenhausen and Bob Ross via video conference to discuss all the requested 
amendments.  Baron Bettenhausen has prepared a new revised version of the 
Telecommunication Ordinance incorporating the working group’s requested changes, as 
were legally permissible.   

A redlined version of the proposed ordinance amending Chapter 17.150 comparing it to 
the currently adopted Chapter 17.150 is attached for your review.  Notable changes 
include the following:  

• Removal of option for Master Deployment Plan; 

• Update distancing requirements between facilities; 

• Include distancing from sensitive use areas; 

• Clarify frequency of recertification requirement; 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


• Conform undergrounding requirement to existing federal law; 

• Streamline standards imposed to make more objective; and 

• Removal of redundant requirements and other minor changes to clarify 
provisions of the ordinance as needed. 

The working group, Bob Ross, and Baron Bettenhausen came to consensus on all but 
one issue which was a distancing requirement for new wireless facilities located in the 
public-right-of way to be located at least 500 feet from existing wireless facilities.  This 
requirement contained in Section 17.150.070 (A)(1)(d) reads as following: “The 
installation of new wireless facilities to new or existing poles in the public right-of-way 
must be separated 500 feet away from the nearest wireless facility.”  

The working group advocates for this distance to be 1,500 feet, but Baron, Bob, and 
Duane recommend using the 500 feet as is proposed.  Staff would like the City 
Council’s specific direction on what distance to use in this section.     

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS: Not applicable at this time. 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS:  None.   

ATTACHMENTS: 
 Redlined Ordinance comparing proposed changes with the originally adopted 

Ordinance (NCMC Chapter 17.150) 
 Ordinance No. 2020-XX Ordinance Repealing and Readopting Chapter 17.150 of 

the Nevada City Municipal Code entitled “Wireless Telecommunication Facilities 
in the City” 

 



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

 
“17.150.010  Purpose and Policy. 
 
The purpose and intent of this chapter is to provide a uniform and comprehensive set of 
zoning regulations and standards for the permitting, development, siting, installation, 
modification, design, operation and maintenance of wireless telecommunications facilities 
in the city.  These regulations are intended to prescribe clear and reasonable criteria to 
assess and process applications in a consistent and expeditious manner, while reducing 
the impacts associated with wireless telecommunications facilities.  This chapter provides 
standards necessary (1) for the preservation of the public right-of-way in the city for the 
maximum benefit and use of the public, (2) to promote and protect public health and 
safety, community welfare, visual resources and the aesthetic quality of the city consistent 
with the goals, objectives and policies of the General Plan, and (3) to provide for the 
orderly, managed and efficient development of wireless telecommunications facilities in 
accordance with theall current state and federal laws, rules and regulations.   
 
This chapter is intended solely as a zoning regulation.  These requirements are in addition 
to any other applicable law, such as the requirement to obtain an encroachment permit, 
and any required authorization from a third party, such as an electric utility.   
 
17.150.020 Definitions. 
 
 “7-Hills Business District” means the areas shown in Section 17.150.230. 
 
“Accessory Facility or Structure” means an accessory facility or structure serving or 
being used in conjunction with Wireless Telecommunication Facilities, and located on the 
same property or lot as the Wireless Telecommunications Facilities, including but not 
limited to, utility or transmission equipment, storage sheds, or cabinets. 
 
“Accessory equipment” means any equipment associated with the installation of a 
wireless telecommunications facility, including but not limited to cabling, generators, fans, 
air conditioning units, electrical panels, equipment shelters, equipment cabinets, 
equipment buildings, pedestals, meters, vaults, splice boxes, and surface location 
markers. 
 
“ADA” means the Americans With Disabilities Act or ADA. 
 
“Applicant” means any Wireless service provider submitting an application for a 
specialconditional use permit or administrative permit for Wireless telecommunications 
facilities.  

 
“Application” means all necessary and required documentation that an Applicant 
submits in order to receive a specialconditional use permit, administrative permit, or a 
building permit for Wireless telecommunications facilities. 
 
“Antenna” means that part of a wireless telecommunications facility designed to radiate 

Style Definition: Revision

Style Definition: 3AutoList79

Style Definition: 1AutoList79

Style Definition: Table Heads

Style Definition: No Spacing

Style Definition: SectionTitle

Style Definition: Default

Style Definition: Normal

Formatted: Left:  1", Right:  1", Top:  1", Do not suppress
endnotes, Footer distance from edge:  0.5"

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Not Bold, Font color:
Auto

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Left



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

or receive radio frequency signals, electromagnetic waves, or other wireless signals or 
electromagnetic waves for the provision of services, including, but not limited to cellular, 
paging, personal communications services (PCS) and microwave communications. 
Such devices include, but are not limited to, directional antennas, such as panel 
antenna, microwave dishes, and satellite dishes; omnidirectional antennas; wireless 
access points (Wi-Fi); and strand-mounted wireless access points.  This definition does 
not apply to broadcast antennas, antennas designed for amateur radio use, or satellite 
dishes designed for residential or household purposes. 
 
“Base station” shall have the same meaning as set forth in 47 C.F.R. 1.6100 (b)(1), as 
may be amended.  
 
“Cellular” means an analog or digital wireless telecommunications technology that is 
based on a system of interconnected neighboring cell sites. 
 
“Code” means the Nevada City Municipal Code. 
 
“Collocation” or “Co-location” has the same meaning as set forth in 47 C.F.R. 
§1.40001(b)(2), as may be amended. 
 
“Commercial Impracticability” or “Commercially Impracticable” means the inability to 
perform an act on terms that are reasonable in commerce, the cause or occurrence of 
which could not have been reasonably anticipated or foreseen and which jeopardizes the 
financial efficacy of the project.   
 
“Complete Application” means an application that contains all necessary and required 
information and/or data necessary to enable an informed decision to be made with 
respect to an application and that all information is true, accurate and correct. 
 
“Concealment” shall have the same meaning as Stealth below.  
 
“DAS” or “Distributive AccessAntenna System” means a network of antennas and 
related fiber optic nodes, including strand-mounted antennas, which provide access and 
signal transfer for Wireless Telecommunication Service providers. DAS also includes 
antenna combining technology, managed hubs and remote antennas that distribute a 
wireless signal to a series of connected indoor or outdoor multi-band, multi-technology 
radio heads allowing for multiple carriers or Wireless Service Providers to use the same 
set of antennas, cabling or fiber optics.  
 
“CUP” shall mean conditional use permit. 
 
“Director” means the director of planningCity Manager, or his or her designee. 

 
“Eligible Facility” means an existing Wireless tower or base station that involves 
collocation of new transmission equipment or the replacement of transmission 
equipment that does not constitute a substantial modification. 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Don't adjust space between Latin and Asian
text, Don't adjust space between Asian text and numbers

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Font color: Text 1

Formatted: Font: 12 pt



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

  
“FAA” means the Federal Aviation Administration, or its duly designated and 
authorized successor agency. 
 
“Facility(ies)” means wireless telecommunications facility(ies). 
 
“FCC” means the Federal Communications Commission, or its duly designated and 
authorized successor agency. 
 
“Ground-Mounted” means any communications equipment that is mounted to a 
separate post or to a foundation on the ground, or installed in or under and extends 
above the ground.  natural grade. 
 
“Located within public right-of-way” includes any facility which in whole or in part, itself 
or as part of another structure, rests upon, in, over or under the public right-of-way. 
 
“Modification” means a change to an existing wireless telecommunications facility that 
involves any of the following: collocation, expansion, alteration, enlargement, 
intensification, reduction, or augmentation, including, but not limited to, changes in size, 
shape, color, visual design, or exterior material.  “Modification” does not include repair, 
replacement or maintenance if those actions do not involve a change to the existing facility 
involving any of the following: a change or addition of equipment, collocation, expansion, 
alteration, enlargement, intensification, reduction, or augmentation. 
 
“Monopole” means a structure composed of a hollow non-wooden pole or 
telecommunications tower used to support antennas or related equipment.  A monopole 
also includes any disguised monopole, including but not limited to trees or other object. 
 
“Mounted” means attached or supported. 
 
“Necessary” or “Necessity” or “Need” means what is technologically required for the 
equipment to function as designed by the manufacturer and that anything less will result 
in prohibiting the provision of service in violation of applicable law. Necessary or Need 
does not mean what may be desired, preferred or the most cost-efficient approach and is 
not related to an Applicant’s specific chosen design standards. Any situation involving a 
choice between or among alternatives or options is not a Need or a Necessity. 
 
“Personal wireless service(s)” shall have the same meaning as set forth in 47 U.S.C. § 
332(c)(7)(C), as it may be amended.  
 
“Pole” means a single shaft of wood, steel, concrete or other material capable of 
supporting the equipment mounted thereon in a safe and adequate manner and as 
required by provisions of this Code. 
 
“Small wireless facility” or “Small cell” means a facilityshall have the same meaning as 
definedprovided in 47 CFR 1.6002(l) as it may be amended from time to time.   

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font color: Auto

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Font: Arial Rounded MT Bold, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Font color: Text 1

Formatted: Underline

Formatted: Font color: Red



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

 
“Stealth” or “Stealth Siting Technique” means a design or treatment that minimizes 
adverse aesthetic and visual impacts on the land, property, buildings, and other facilities 
adjacent to, surrounding, and in generally the same area as the requested location of 
such Wireless Telecommunications Facilities, which means the least visually and 
physically intrusive Facility, so as to make it substantially invisible, and that is not 
technologically or commercially impracticable under the facts and circumstances. 
Stealth technique includes such techniques as i) DAS or its functional equivalent; or ii) 
camouflage where the Facility is disguised to make it less visually obtrusive and not 
recognizable to the average person as a Wireless Facility.  
 
“Substantial Modification” has the same meaning as provided in 47 C.F.R § 
1.40001(b)(7), as may be amended, which defines that term differently based on the 
particular Facility type and location.  For clarity, the definition in this section organizes 
the FCC’s criteria and thresholds for a substantial change according to the Facility type 
and location. 
 

1. For Towers outside the public rights-of-way, a substantial change occurs when: 
a. The proposed co-location or modification increases the overall height 

more than ten percent (10%) or the height of one additional antenna array 
not to exceed twenty (20) feet (whichever is greater); or 

b. The proposed co-location or modification increases the width more than 
twenty (20) feet from the edge of the Wireless Tower or the width of the 
Wireless Tower at the level of the appurtenance (whichever is greater); or 

c. The proposed co-location or modification involves the installation of more 
than the standard number of equipment cabinets for the technology 
involved, not to exceed four (4); or 

d. The proposed co-location or modification involves excavation outside the 
current boundaries of the leased or owned property surrounding the 
Wireless Tower, including any access or utility easements currently 
related to the site. 

 
2. For Towers in the public rights-of-way and for all base stations, a substantial 

change occurs when: 
a. The proposed co-location or modification increases that overall height 

more than ten percent (10%) or ten (10) feet (whichever is greater); or 
b. The proposed co-location or modification increases the width more than 

six (6) feet from the edge of the Wireless Tower or base station; or 
c. The proposed co-location or modification involves the installation of any 

new equipment cabinets on the ground when there are no existing ground-
mounted equipment cabinets; or 

d. The proposed co-location or modification involves the installation of any 
new ground-mounted equipment cabinets that are ten percent (10%) 
larger in height or volume than any existing ground-mounted cabinets; or 

Formatted: Left, Don't adjust space between Latin and
Asian text, Don't adjust space between Asian text and

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Normal



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

e. The proposed co-location or modification involves excavation outside the 
area in proximity to the structure and other transmission equipment 
already deployed on the ground. 

 
3. In addition, for all Towers and base stations wherever located, a substantial 

change occurs when: 
a. The proposed co-location or modification would defeat the existing 

concealment elements of the support structure ad determined by the City; 
or 

b. The proposed co-location or modification violates a prior condition of 
approval as regards to height, width, number and size of equipment 
cabinets or any excavation that is inconsistent with the thresholds for a 
substantial change described in this section. 

 
4. As to all measurements set forth herein, the following principles shall govern: 

a. Any threshold or limit of height increases are cumulative or collective. 
b. For sites with horizontally separated deployments, the cumulative limit is 

measured from the originally permitted support structure without regard to 
any increases in size due to Wireless equipment not included in the 
original design. For sites with vertically separated deployments, the 
cumulative limit is measured from the permitted site dimensions as they 
existed on February 22, 2012, the date of passage of the Middle -Class 
Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012, Section 6409(a). 

b.  
 
“Telecommunication tower” means a freestanding mast, pole, monopole, guyed tower, 
lattice tower, free standing tower or other structure designed and primarily used to support 
wireless telecommunications facility antennas. 
 
"Transmission Equipment" shall have the same meaning as provided in 47C.F.R.§ 
1.40001(b)(8), as may be amended. 
 
“Tower” shall have the same meaning as set forth in 47 C.F.R. 1.40001(b)(9), as may be 
amended. 
 
“Utility pole” means any pole or tower owned by any utility company that is primarily used 
to support wires or cables necessary to the provision of electrical or other utility services 
regulated by the California Public Utilities Commission. 
 
"Wireless telecommunications services" means the provision of services using a 
wireless telecommunications facility or a wireless telecommunications collocation facility, 
and shall include, but not limited to, the following services: personal wireless services, 
cellular service, personal communication service, and/or data radio telecommunications.   
 

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering, Adjust space between
Latin and Asian text, Adjust space between Asian text and
numbers

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

“Wireless telecommunications facility” or “facilities” mean any facility that transmits 
and/or receives electromagnetic waves for commercial purposes.  It includes, but is not 
limited to, antennas and/or other types of equipment for the transmission or receipt of 
such signals, telecommunications towers or similar structures supporting such 
equipment, related accessory equipment, equipment buildings, parking areas, and other 
accessory development.  This definition includes DAS systems owned or operated by a 
commercial carrier and are part of a commercial wireless system, or are able to be used 
by the general public, regardless of the location or whether the facility or any of its 
components is located inside or outside a structure or building. 
 

Exceptions:  The term “wireless telecommunications facility” does not apply to the 
following:  

(a) A telecommunications facility that is both owned and operated by a governmental 
entity where the director determines enforcing the requirements of this Chapter are 
against the public interest.  

(b) Mobile services providing public information coverage of news events of a 
temporary nature.  

(d) Any wireless telecommunications facilities exempted from this Code by federal law 
or state law. 
 
 

17.150.030 Applicability 
 
A. Applicability. This chapter applies to the siting, construction or modification of any 
and all wireless telecommunications facilities proposed to be located in any portion of the 
City as follows: 
 
 1. All facilities, notwithstanding the date approved or the location installed, 
shall be subject immediately to the provisions of this chapter provided, however, if a 
condition of approval conflicts with a provision of this chapter, the condition of approval 
shall control until the permit is amended or revoked. 
 

2.  Any wireless telecommunication facility that was lawfully constructed prior 
to the adoption of this Ordinance that does not comply with the standards, regulations 
and/or requirements of this chapter, shall be allowed to continue as it presently exists, 
provided that i) it exists and is operating as originally permitted; and ii) any modification 
of the Facility has been properly permitted. 

 
3. Any modification not properly permitted under a previously- existing 

ordinance must be permitted under this Ordinance. 
 

4. Any modification of a Facility or its equipment subsequent to the adoption 
of this Ordinance, must be permitted under this Ordinance and will require the entire 
Facility and any new or modified installation to comply with this Ordinance, except that 

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Left, Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Left



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

any Tower or other support structure properly permitted prior to the adoption of this 
Ordinance may remain at the originally permitted height. 

 
5. Any repair and maintenance of a Wireless Facility that does not i) increase 

the height of the structure, ii) alter the equipment profile, iii) change the latest RF 
emissions levelsModeling  form provided for this site, iv) increase the footprint of the 
Facility, v) increase the structural loading on the support structure; or vi) otherwise 
exceed the conditions of the permit, does not require an application for a new permit, 
but may require a building permit, electrical permit or other authorizing permit. In no 
instance shall any additional construction or modification be considered to be repair or 
maintenance. 

 
B.   Exclusions. This chapter does not apply to any entity legally entitled to an 
exemption from these zoning requirements pursuant to state or federal law.  
 
 
17.150.040 Wireless Telecommunications Facility Permit Requirements. 
 
A. General Rule: Conditional Use Permit Required 
 

1. Unless otherwise provided herein, all new wireless facilities, except for 
small cells or collocations or modifications to existing wireless facilities, shall 
require a Conditional Use Permit.  See section 17.150.060, below for review 
procedures. 
  
1. The Planning Commission may refer a conditional use permit to the City 

Council for approval.  
 

2. The Planning Commission shall approve a Conditional Use Permit if all of the 
following apply:  

 
 
A. The facility will comply with all applicable laws including, but not limited to: 

 
1.     The Americans with Disabilities Act; 

 
2.   All building and safety requirements, including those within the 

California Building Standards Code, as amended by the city and the latest 
version of TIA ANSI 222, to the extent that such standards are more 
restrictive than the otherwise applicable requirements. 

 
3. All applicable current requirements of the FCC and OSHA 

(Occupational Safety and Health Administration), including requirements 
relating to radiofrequency (RF) emissions and limits on interference. 

 
4. The requirements of this Chapter 17.150. 

Formatted: Left, Don't keep with next, Don't keep lines
together

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left, Don't keep with next, Don't keep lines
together

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5",  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Keep with next, Keep lines together

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Left:  1", First line:  0"



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

 
 

2.5. Either the City has issued all required encroachment permits or it is a 
condition of the issuance of the permit that no installation begin in reliance on the 
permit until the City has issued all required encroachment permits.  

 
3.B. A facility that obtains an administrative permit need not obtain a 

conditional use permit. 
 
B. Administrative Permit. 
 
The Director shall approve an administrative permit if all of the following apply: 
 

1. The application is for i) a Small Wireless Facility, or ii) a collocation or 
modification of wireless telecommunication equipment on an existing Eligible 
Facility which does not create a Substantial Modification. 
 

2. The facility will comply with all applicable laws including, but not limited to: 
 

a.     The Americans with Disabilities Act; 
 

b.   All building and safety requirements, including those within the 
California Building Standards Code, as amended by the city and the latest version of TIA 
ANSI 222, to the extent that such standards are more restrictive than the otherwise 
applicable requirements. 

 
c.     All applicable requirements of the FCC and OSHA (Occupational 

Safety and Health Administration), including requirements relating to radio-
frequencyradiofrequency (RF) emissions and limits on interference. 

 
d.  The requirements of this Chapter 17.150. 
 

3. The proposed facility complies with the City’s published wireless design 
guidelines.   

 
4.  The proposed facility will be installed on either: 
 

a.    An existing support structure that meets all of the following 
requirements: 

 
i.     The facility will match the design of the pole; and 
 
ii.     If feasible, all equipment installed on the pole will be the same 

color as the pole; or 
 
 

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Tab after:  0.5" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: A, B,
C, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.75" +
Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: No underline, Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.75"

Formatted: Highlight



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

 
 
b.    A new light pole that meets all of the following requirements: 
 

i.       The pole is at least ninety (90) feet away fromnot closer to any 
existing light pole than the then current spacing between light poles 
upon the street the pole shall be installed; and 
 
ii.     Unless requested otherwise by the City in writing, the light on 
the pole will be illuminated, operated, and maintained consistent with 
the operation of the other light poles in the City, and the full costs of 
illumination shall be fully borne by the applicant. 

 
5.      Either the City has issued all required encroachment permits 

and entered into any required franchise agreement(s); or it is a condition of the 
issuance of the permit that no installation begin in reliance on the permit until the 
City has issued all required encroachment permits and entered into any required 
franchise agreement(s)..  

 
C. Master Deployment Plan Permit 
 

1. Excepting batched applications for Small Wireless Facilities, any applicant 
that seeks approval of five (5) or more wireless telecommunications facilities may elect to 
submit an application for a Master Development Plan Permit.  The proposed Master 
Deployment Plan shall be conceptual in nature and approval thereof shall not be deemed 
approval of any given Facility or specific address or location. The proposed facilities in a 
Master Development Plan shall be reviewed together at the same time and subject to the 
same requirements and procedures applicable to a Major Wireless Telecommunications 
Facility Permit.  

  
2. A Master Development Plan Permit shall not be deemed approval for all 

wireless telecommunications facilities within the plan; provided, however, that an 
encroachment permit shall be required.  

C.   
3. After the approval of a Master Development Plan Permit, an individual 

wireless telecommunications facility shall require either a CUP or an Administrative 
Permit, as applicable. 
 
D. Batched Application: An Applicant, or its agent of record, may submit Applications for 
multiple small wireless facilities or locations with the following conditions that are intended 
in order to assure compliance with the FCC’s ‘Shot Clock’ requirements: 
 

1.  No single batched submittal shall contain more than five (5) Applications;. 
 

2.  There must be a minimum of seven business days between submittals of 
batched Applications;. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.5"

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Strikethrough, Highlight

Formatted: Font color: Text 1



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

 
4. 3.  No more than 4 batched Applications shall be accepted in any thirty (30) 

consecutive day period.  
E 

D. Other Permits Required. In addition to any permit that may be required under 
this chapter, the applicant must obtain all other required prior permits or other approvals 
from other city departments, or state or federal agencies.  Any permit granted under this 
chapter is subject to the conditions and/or requirements of other required permits or other 
approvals from other city departments, state or federal agencies. 
 
FE. Eligible Applicants. Only applicants who have been granted the right to enter the 
public right-of-way pursuant to state of federal law, or who have entered into a franchise 
agreement with the city permitting them to use the public right-of-way, or who are acting 
at the behest and direction of one of the foregoing shall be eligible for a permit to install 
or modify a wireless telecommunications facility or a wireless telecommunication 
collocation facility in the public right-of-way.  
 
GF. Speculative Equipment Prohibited.    The city shall not approve any 
equipment or other improvements in connection with a Wireless Telecommunications 
Facility Permit when the applicant does not actually and presently intend to install such 
equipment or construct such improvements within one-hundred-eighty (180) days. 
 
17.150.050 Application for Wireless Telecommunications Facility Permit 
     
A) General Application Requirements: The following items are considered general 

application requirements and shall be included in all applications: 
 

1) Any items that are asserted not to be applicable to the instant Application(s) 
shall be clearly identified in the front of the Application. 

 
2)1. Identification of the specificall current applicable federal and State law and 

rule, including the specific section and subsection, regarding Wireless facilities 
under which the Application is filed. 
 

3)2. The name, address, phone number and e-mail address of the person 
preparing the application 

 
4)3. The name, address, and phone number of the property owner and the 

Applicant, including the legal name of the Applicant. If the owner of the structure 
is different than the Applicant, the name and all necessary contact information for 
each shall be provided. 

 
5)4. The postal address and tax map parcel number of the subject property, or 

when application is for installation in the public right of way real, for the real 
property closest to proposed installation, and, if applicable, the Public Utility Pole 
number. 

Formatted: Strikethrough, Highlight

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.5" + Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Not Bold

Formatted: Justified, Keep with next, Keep lines together

Formatted: Font: Bold, Font color: Text 1

Formatted: Font color: Text 1

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0", Keep with next, Keep
lines together

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font color: Text 1

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font color: Text 1



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

 
6)5. The zoning district or designation in which the property is situated. 

 
7)6. For all new Facilities, a list of the specific frequency bands to be initially 

activated immediately upon completion of constructioncompleted Propagation 
Study Data Form is required. 
 

8)7. For all new Facilities, a separate list of all frequencies licensed to the 
carrier not intended to be initially activated.  
 

9)8. A copy of the FCC licenses applicable for all the frequency bands licensed 
to the carrier to provide service in the City. 

 
10)9. All Applications shall include signed written commitment statementsstating 

that:  
 
 

a) the Applicant’s Facility shall at all times without exception be 
maintained in a safe manner, and in compliance with all conditions 
of the SpecialConditional Use Permit, as well as all applicable and 
permissible local codes, ordinances, and regulations and all 
applicable City, State and Federal Laws, rules, and regulations, 
unless specifically granted relief by the Council in writing;  

b) the construction of the Facility is legally permissible, 
including, but not limited to the fact that the Applicant is licensed to 
do business in the State. 

c) the Applicant commits to fully and completely indemnify the 
City for any use of the City’s Right-of-Way by Applicant, it’s 
employees, and agents. 

 
11)10. Certified detailed construction drawings, including but not limited to the 

following     information: 
 

a) the size of the property footprint on which the structure to be built or 
attached to is located, stated both in square feet and lot line 
dimensions, and a survey showing the location of all lot lines and 
rights-of-way. 

 
b) location of the nearest residential or habitable structure. 

 
c) the location, size and height of all existing and proposed structures on 

the property. 
 

d) enclosures and cabinets on the property on which the structure is 
located that are related to the subject of the application. 

 

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified, Numbered + Level: 1
+ Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left
+ Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5", Keep with next, Keep
lines together

Formatted: Font color: Text 1

Formatted: Font color: Text 1

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified, Keep with next, Keep
lines together

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 3 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  1.38" +
Indent at:  1.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Font color: Text 1

Formatted: Justified

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0"



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

e) a site plan to-scale showing the footprint of the support structure and 
the type, location and dimensions of boundaries, access drives, 
landscaping and buffers, fencing, underground utilities of any kind and 
any easements. 

 
f) elevation drawings showing the profile and the vertical rendition of the 

Facility and, where appropriate, its support Structure and identifying all 
existing and proposed attachments and all related fixtures, structures, 
appurtenances and apparatus, including the height above the existing 
grade, materials, colors and lighting. 

 
g) proposed electrical and grounding plans for the Facility. 

 
12)11. The azimuth, size, top of antenna height, locations of all proposed and 

existing antennas on the support structure, and the height of the tip of any 
lightning arrestor. 

 
13)12. Copies of the cut sheets for all antennas, RRU’s, Transmitters, Receivers, 

and other in line RF devices that are used in the site. 
 

14)13. The type and manufacturer of the Tower or other support Structure and a 
rigorous structural analysis and report for such, including the calculations, 
certified by a Professional Engineer licensed in the State and proving the 
structure’s capability to safely accommodate the facilities of the Applicant. 

 
15)14. An ANSI/TIA-222 Maintenance and Conditions Assessment report 

regarding the physical condition of the Facility and its components, using the 
most recently adopted version of ANSI/TIA-222, or a functional equivalent report 
for any support structure that is not a Tower. If applicable, the report shall identify 
and contain allowable tolerances including but not limited to guy tensions, plumb, 
twist, slip splices, and take-up devices.  No Conditional Use Permit or 
Administrative Permit or any authorization for anything other than remediation 
work shall be issued for any Wireless Facility or related equipment where the 
structure being attached to is in need of safety-related remediation to comply with 
the requirements of this Ordinance and other applicable adopted standards of the 
City, unless and until all remediation work that is deemed needed has been 
completed or a schedule for the remediation work has been approved by the 
City. 

 
16)15.  For telecommunications Towers, but only Towers, taller than thirty-three 

feet (33’) in height, a completed and signed checklist for categorical exclusion of 
radio frequency electromagnetic emissions.   If the modification, co-location or 
construction of a new Wireless Facility is not categorically excluded based on the 
Federal Communications Commission’s rules and regulations, the Applicant shall 
provide a compliance letter to the City committing to remain in full compliance 

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Font color: Text 1

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font color: Red



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

with all requirements set forth by the latest edition of the Federal 
Communications Commission (FCC) OET Bulletin 65 or its functional equivalent.   
 
17) In certain instances, the City may deem it appropriate to have an on-site RF 

survey of the Facility done after the construction or modification of the Facility. 
Such survey shall be done under the observation and direction of the City or 
its designee, and an un-redacted copy of the survey results along with all 
calculations provided, prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Compliance. 

 
18)16. A signed statement that the Applicant will expeditiously remedy any 

physical or RF interference with other Wireless devices or services. 
 

19)17. Cut Sheets or specifications for all equipment to be installed/mounted on 
the structure including a photograph and model name/number for each piece of 
equipment included.  
 

20)18. No applicant seeking to install wireless antennas shall seek an 
encroachment permit for fiber or coaxial cable only. Applicants shall 
simultaneously request fiber installation or other cable installation when seeking to 
install antennas in the right-of-way. 
 

21)19. If the applicant requests an exception to the requirements of this chapter (in 
accordance with section 17.150.180), the applicant shall provide all information 
and studies necessary for the city to evaluate that request. 
 

22)20. An application fee and a deposit for a consultant’s review as set forth herein; 
in an amount set by resolution by the city council. Failing to submit the correct 
Application fee shall make the Application incomplete on its face 
 

23)21. Proof that a temporary mock-up of the facility and sign has been installed 
at the proposed location for a period of at least thirty (30) calendar days. 
 
 

a) Applicant shall obtain an encroachment permit before 
installing the temporary mock-up, and must remove the temporary 
mock-up within five (5) calendar days of receiving a written notice to 
remove from the director. 

 
b) When seeking the encroachment permit, the applicant shall 

provide proof of written notice mailed to all property owners within 
500300 feet of the proposed installation.  The applicant shall mail a 
notice regarding installation of the mock-up at least five (5ten (10) 
business days prior to the installation. 

 
c) The mock-up shall demonstrate the height and mass of the 

facility, including all interconnecting cables.  The applicant shall not 

Formatted: List Paragraph

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: List Paragraph

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 3 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  1.38" +
Indent at:  1.5"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 3 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  1.38" +
Indent at:  1.5"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 3 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  1.38" +
Indent at:  1.5"



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

be entitled to install the facility it intends to install permanently.  The 
mock-up may consist of story poles or the like. 

 
d) The mock-up shall include a sign that displays photo 

simulations depicting before and after images, including any 
accessory equipment cabinet, and the telephone number of the 
Public Works Department. 

 
e) The applicant shall be required to follow any other city 

practices or processes relevant to the installation of a mock-up as 
may be provided in a publicly accessible form or document. 

 
f)   After installation of the mock-up, the applicant shall certify that 

the mock-up accurately represents the height and width of the 
proposed installation and has been installed consistent with this 
Code. 

 
B) Co-location Application Requirements: In addition to the requirements set forth in 

Subsection A, the following items shall be included in the application for co-locations 
on existing structures:. 

B)  
 

1) A copy of the lease with the owner of the structure, and with the landowner if 
different than the structure owner, and if applicable a signed letter of agency 
granting authorization to represent and commit for the party represented.  If 
the Applicant owns the site, a copy of proof of ownership is required.  

 
2) The frequency, modulation and class of service of radio or other transmitting 

equipment. 
 

3) Transmission and maximum effective radiated power of the antenna(s). 
 

4) Direction of maximum lobes and associated radiation of the antenna(s). 
 

5) If requested,Require to-scale photographic simulations of the Facility “before 
and after construction” from key viewpoints inside of the City as deemed 
appropriate and/or as designated and accompanied by i) a map showing the 
locations of where the photographs were taken; and ii) the distance(s) of each 
location from the proposed structure. Guidance will be provided concerning 
the appropriate key viewpoints on an individual Application basis. 

 
6) A copy of the Applicant’s Certificate of Liability Insurance. 

 
 
 
 

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 3 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  1.38" +
Indent at:  1.5"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 3 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  1.38" +
Indent at:  1.5"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 3 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  1.38" +
Indent at:  1.5"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font color: Text 1

Formatted: Font color: Text 1

Formatted: Font color: Text 1

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified, Indent: Left:  0.25"



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

C) New Wireless Structures and Substantial Modification Requirements: In addition to 
the preceding requirements, the following shall be included in the application for a 
new Wireless Support Structures and Substantial Modifications of support 
structures: 

 
1. General Liability Commercial Insurance $5 million to protect the City: The 
applicant shall obtain, pay for and maintain, in full force and effect until the facility 
approved by the permit is removed in its entirety from the public right-of-way, an 
insurance policy or policies of commercial general liability insurance,  with 
minimum limits of Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) for each occurrence and One 
Hundred Million Dollars ($100,000,000) in the aggregate, that fully protects the 
City from claims and suits for boards, commissions,  officers, officials, agents, 
consultants, employees and volunteers as additional named insureds, be issued 
by an insurer admitted in the State of California with a rating of at least a A:VII in 
the latest edition of A.M. Best  Insurance Guide, and include an endorsement 
providing that the policies cannot be canceled or reduced.  

 
1)2. The Applicant for a new Tower or Substantial Modification shall submit 
clear and convincing technical evidence, done by the Wireless service provider 
associated with the Application, justifying the technical Need for the proposed 
height of the Facility and the Need for such, to the exclusion of all reasonable 
less intrusive alternatives. Evidence in the form of propagation studies must 
include the modeling data and assumptions used to produce the studies on a 
form to be provided by the City.   

 
2)3. The Applicant shall disclose in writing any agreement in existence prior to 
submission of the application that would limit or preclude the ability of the 
Applicant to share space on the new Tower or support structure. 

 
3)4. If a Modification of a Facility is needed whereby the height, profile or size 

of the Facility is increased, or if construction is needed outside the permitted 
compound or property, a detailed narrative explaining what changes are needed 
and why they are needed. 

 
4)5. The type of support structure, the number of antenna arrays proposed to 

be accommodated and a Certified structural report, including all calculations, 
demonstrating the Facility’s capacity to accommodate the required number of 
antenna arrays and associated equipment for which the structure must be 
designed. 

 
5)6. A copy of the foundation design, including a geotechnical sub-surface 
soils investigation report and foundation design recommendation for the Tower or 
other structure. Such shall be Certified by a licensed Professional Engineer 
licensed in the State that is experienced in the structural design of Wireless 
support structures.  

 

Formatted: Font color: Auto

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Font color: Text 1

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Left:  0.19"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Hanging:  0.06",
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 2 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at: 

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Hanging:  0.06",
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 2 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at: 

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Hanging:  0.13",
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 2 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at: 

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Hanging:  0.13",
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 2 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at: 

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Hanging:  0.06",
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 2 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at: 



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

6)7. A written copy of an analysis completed by a qualified individual or 
organization to determine if the proposed Wireless telecommunications Facility is 
in compliance with Federal Aviation Administration Regulation Part 77 and if it 
requires lighting. Unless already lighted, this requirement shall also be for any 
Facility where there is a proposed increase in the height of the Facility. If this 
analysis determines that an FAA determination is required, then all filings with 
the FAA, all responses from the FAA and any related correspondence shall be 
provided with the application. 

 
7)8. A narrative description of the specifically what will be done to minimize the 

visual impact. The City expressly reserves the right to require the use of stealth 
or camouflage techniques.  
 
8)9. For a new support structure, or for a Substantial Modification, the 

Applicant shall be required to submit clear and convincing evidence that a new 
Tower or support structure or the Substantial Modification is the only option 
within one-half (1/2) mile of the proposed new Tower or support structure that will 
enable the provision of Wireless services substantially within the intended service 
area.  
 
10. Timely re-certifications (at the municipality’s discretion but no more 

frequent than every 5 years) will be denied if the re-certification has not been 
properly or timely submitted, or any equipment no longer in use has not been 
removed within the required 30-day period. In addition, no further applications for 
any new wireless facilities from the applicant and its representatives will be 
accepted by the City until such time as the timely re-certification has been 
submitted, all equipment no longer in use has been removed, and all fees and 
fines or any other amounts owed are paid in full. 

 
9)11. In order to better inform the public, in the case of a new Tower or 

support structure, the Applicant shall hold a “balloon test” or erect a story pole, 
i.e. a temporary mast, prior to the initial public hearing on the application. The 
choice of the use of a balloon test or story pole shall be that of the City based 
upon the facts and circumstances involved.  

 
a) The Applicant shall arrange to fly, or raise upon story pole, a 

minimum of a three (3) foot in diameter, brightly colored balloon at 
the maximum height of the proposed new Tower. To reasonably 
assure control and the stability of the balloon in winds, a spherical 
balloon shall not be used. 

 
b) At least fourteen (14) days prior to the conduct of the balloon test, a 

sign shall be erected so as to be clearly visible from the road 
nearest the proposed site and shall be removed no later than 
fourteen (14) days after the conduct of the balloon test. The sign 
shall be at least four feet (4’) by eight feet (8’) in size and shall be 

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: First line:  0", Numbered
+ Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 2 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: First line:  0.06",
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 2 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at: 

Formatted: List Paragraph

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: First line:  0.06",
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 2 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at: 

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: First line:  0.13",
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 2 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at: 

Formatted: Indent: Hanging:  0.19", Numbered + Level: 3
+ Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left
+ Aligned at:  1.38" + Indent at:  1.5"

Formatted: Indent: Hanging:  0.19", Numbered + Level: 3
+ Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left
+ Aligned at:  1.38" + Indent at:  1.5"



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

legible from the road by a person with 20/20 corrected vision.  The 
sign shall be placed off, but as near to, the public right-of-way as is 
possible and shall show the times and date(s) of the balloon test 
and City contact information.   

 
c) The dates (including a second date, in case of poor visibility or wind 

in excess of 15 mph on the initial date), times and location of the 
balloon test shall be advertised by the Applicant, in a newspaper 
with a general circulation in the City and as agreed to by the City, 
fourteen (14) and seven (7) days in advance of the first test date. 
The Applicant shall inform the City in writing of the dates and times 
of the test, at least fourteen (14) days in advance.  

 
d) The balloon shall be flown for at least four (4) consecutive 

hours between 10:00 am and 4:00 p.m. on the dates chosen. The 
primary date shall be on a week-endweekend, but the second date, 
in case of poor visibility on the initial date, may be on a week 
dayweekday. A report with photos from various locations of the 
balloon, and to-scale superimposed photo simulations of the 
Facility when completed, shall be provided with the application.  

 
e) The Applicant shall notify all property owners and residents located 

within one-thousand five hundred (1,500) feet of the nearest property 
line of the subject property of the proposed construction of the Tower 
or other support structure and the Wireless Facility, and of the date(s) 
and time(s) of the balloon test. Such notice shall be provided at least 
fourteen (14) days prior to the conduct of the balloon test and shall be 
delivered by first-class mail. The Applicant shall bear all costs 
associated with said notification.  

 
10)12.  The owner of a new Tower or other support structure, and his/her 

successors in interest, shall negotiate in good faith for the shared use of the 
Facility by other Wireless service providers, and shall:   

 
a) Respond within 60 days to a request for information from a potential 

shared- use Applicant;. 
 

b) Negotiate in good faith concerning future requests for shared use of 
the new Wireless telecommunications Facility by other 
telecommunications providers. 

 
c) Allow shared use of the new Wireless telecommunications Facility if 

another telecommunications provider agrees in writing to pay 
reasonable charges.   

 

Formatted: Indent: Hanging:  0.19", Numbered + Level: 3
+ Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left
+ Aligned at:  1.38" + Indent at:  1.5"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 3 +
Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  1.38" + Indent at:  1.5"

Formatted: List Paragraph

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 2 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.06", Hanging:  0.19", Numbered
+ Level: 3 + Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  1.38" + Indent at:  1.5"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.06", Hanging:  0.19", Numbered
+ Level: 3 + Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  1.38" + Indent at:  1.5", Tab
stops:  1.56", Left

Formatted: List Paragraph

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.06", Hanging:  0.19", Numbered
+ Level: 3 + Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  1.38" + Indent at:  1.5", Tab
stops:  1.56", Left



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

d) Understand that failure to abide by the conditions outlined above may 
be grounds for denial or revocation of the SpecialConditional Use 
Permit. 

 
11)13.  The Applicant shall provide a written description and a visual rendering 

demonstrating how it shall effectively screen from view the Facility and all related 
equipment and structures associated with the Facility. The buffer, which may be 
located within the required setback area, shall consist of a landscape strip, at 
least five (5) feet in depth, located outside the security fence.  The landscape 
strip should be planted with a combination of trees and/or shrubs which are 
capable of attaining the required minimum height at maturity and which will 
enhance and, at minimum, partially screen the outward appearance of the 
security fence.  For Towersfacilities located within 1,000500 feet of a residential 
areaenvironmentally sensitive areas, as the City may designate in its sole and 
absolute discretion, the City may require wider landscape buffers and other items 
such as decay resistant, solid wood fences, earth berms, and brick or masonry 
walls in addition to the security fence.  All fencing, walls, and landscaping shall 
be kept in good condition and repair and maintained in a neat manner by the 
owner of the Tower.  

 
12)14.  Co-location Not Reasonably Feasible: Co-location on an existing 

structure is not reasonably feasible if the co-location is Technically or 
Commercially Impracticable or the owner of the structure is unwilling to enter into 
a contract for its use. Written clear and convincing evidence to support such 
claims must be submitted with an application. 
 

13)15.  Spec Support Structures Prohibited: A building permit shall not be issued 
for construction of a new Towerfacility or other support structure until there is an 
application filed for or by a specific carrier that documents that the Facility is 
Necessary for that carrier to provide service in the intended service area for 
service primarily within the City and that a less visually intrusive option or co-
location on an existing structure is not Technologically Impracticable.  
 

   
D.  Small Cell Facilities Requirements. In addition to the preceding requirements, the 
following shall include in the application for a small cell facility a general description of the 
proposed scope of work and the specific purpose(s) of the small Wireless Facility. The 
scope and detail of such description shall be appropriate to the nature and character of 
the work to be performed, with emphasis on those maters likely to be affected or impacted 
by the work proposed. The description shall include at a minimum the type of equipment, 
number of antennas, height to top of antenna(s), statement of compliance with FCC 
requirements, and description and/or depiction of concealment elements. 
 
E. Effect of State or Federal Law Change.  If a subsequent state or federal law 
prohibits the collection of any information authorized by section 17.150.050, the director 
may omit, modify or add to that request from the city’s application form with the written 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.06", Hanging:  0.19", Numbered
+ Level: 3 + Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  1.38" + Indent at:  1.5"

Formatted: Font color: Text 1

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Left:  0.19"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 2 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font color: Text 1

Formatted: Font color: Text 1, Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Text 1

Formatted: Font color: Text 1

Formatted: Font color: Text 1

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 2 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: List Paragraph

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 2 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Font color: Auto



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

approval of the city attorney, which approval shall be a public record. 
 
F. Independent Expert. The directorDirector is authorized to retain on behalf of the 
city an independent, qualified consultant to review any application for a permit for a 
wireless telecommunications facility.  The review is intended to be a review of all aspects 
of the proposed wireless telecommunications facility and shall address any or all of the 
following: and confirm applicant’s ongoing compliance.   

 
1. Compliance with applicable radio frequency emission standards; 
 
2.  Compliance with applicable building standards (e.g. the latest version of 
TIA-ANSI 222 regarding the structural adequacy of the support structure to the 
extent that such standards are more stringent than otherwise applicable 
standards); 
 
3. Whether a denial of the application would be an “effective prohibition” in 

violation of applicable law;  
 

4. The accuracy and completeness of submissions; 
 
5. Technical demonstration of the unavailability of alternative sites or 

configurations and/or coverage analysis; 
 
6. The applicability of analysis techniques and methodologies; 
 
7. The validity of conclusions reached or claims made by applicant; 
 
8. The viability of alternative sites and alternative designs; and 
 
9. Any other specific technical issues identified by the consultant or designated 

by the city. 
 
The cost of this review shall be paid by the applicant through a deposit pursuant 

to an adopted fee schedule which may be adopted by resolution.  No permit shall be 
issued to any applicant which has not fully reimbursed the city for the cost of a consultant’s 
review, even if the cost exceeds the initial amount of the deposit.  Such amount shall be 
paid to the City prior to the issuance of the applicable permit or Certificate of Completion, 
whichever is procedurally needed next. Upon written request after the issuance of the 
Certificate of Completion and the payment of all expert assistance invoices, the City shall 
promptly refund any unexpended amount of the deposit.  The payment of the deposit shall 
precede any work being done that is related to the intended Application or lease.   
 
17.150.060  Review Procedure 
 
A. Pre-submittal Conference. Prior to application submittal, the city strongly 
encourages all applicants to schedule and attend a pre-submittal conference with 

Formatted: Font color: Auto

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Left:  1", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Left, Indent: First line:  0"



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

designated City staff/departments and or consultants to receive informal feedback on the 
proposed location, design and application materials. The pre-submittal conference is 
intended to identify potential concerns and streamline the formal application review 
process after submittal.  Staff will endeavor to provide applicants with a reasonable time 
and date mutually agreed upon. As the pre-submittal conference is not mandatory and is 
for the benefit of the applicant, it shall not precipitate the start of the FCC’s applicable 
shot clock deadlines.  
 
B. Application Submittal Appointment. All applications must be submitted to the city -
and/or its designated consultant for completeness and review.  
 
C. Notice; Decisions. The provisions in this section describe the procedures for 
approval and any required notice for an application. 
 

1. Planning Commission Hearings. Any permit application under this chapter 
subject to planning commission approval (directly, or via appeal) shall require notice and 
a public hearing.  The planning commission may approve, or conditionally approve, an 
application only after it makes the findings required in section 17.150.080. 
 

2. Decision by Planning Commission. The Planning Commission may 
approve, or conditionally approve, an application only after it makes the findings required 
in section 17.150.080. Within ten days after the Planning Commission approves or 
conditionally approves an application under this chapter, the director shall issue a notice 
of the decision and post the notice on the City’s Planning Department public website, and 
any applicable conditions of approval shall be provided to the applicant at the contact 
information provided on the application.  
 

3. Written Decision Required. All final decisions made pursuant to this chapter 
shall be in writing and based on substantial evidence in the written administrative record. 
The written decision shall include the reasons for the decision. 
 
D. Appeals. Appeals shall be subject to the requirements of Chapter 17.88.   
 
E.  Review of Applications.   
 

1. Engineer’s Certification.  Where a certification of any technical or 
engineering expert is called for in an application, such certification shall bear the signature 
and seal of a Professional Engineer licensed in the State. 

 
2. Leases Do Not Extinguish City Priorities.  The existence of a lease or an 

option to lease shall not be deemed justification for not complying with the city’s siting 
priorities. An Applicant may not bypass sites of higher priority solely because the site 
proposed is under lease or an option to lease exists. If a site other than the number 1 
priority is proposed, the applicant must explain to the reasonable satisfaction of the City 
why colocation is technically or commercially impracticable. Build-to-Suit agreements 

Formatted: Font color: Auto

Formatted: Left



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

between carriers and a proposed tower owner shall not be a valid basis for any claim of 
exemption, exception or waiver from compliance with this Section.  

 
3. Verifiable Information.  Any technical information must be provided in such 

a manner, form and with such content that it is able to be verified by a third party using 
the information used and provided by the applicant.  
 
17.150.070 Requirements for Facilities  
 
A. Design, Development, and Construction Standards.  
 
 All wirelessWireless telecommunications facilities shall be designed and maintained as 
to minimize visual, noise and other impacts on the surrounding community and shall be 
planned, designed, located, and erected in accordance with the following: 
 

1. General Guidelines: 
 

a. The applicant shall employ screening, undergrounding (where not 
prohibited by federal or state law) and camouflage design techniques in the design and 
placement of wireless telecommunications facilities to ensure that the facility is as visually 
screened as feasible, to prevent the facility from dominating the surrounding area and to 
minimize significant view impacts from surrounding properties all in a manner that 
achieves compatibility and does not result in visual disharmony with the community, and 
in compliance with section 17.400.175 of this Code. 

 
b. Screening shall be designed to be architecturally compatible with 

surrounding structures using appropriate techniques to camouflage, disguise, and/or 
blend into the environment, including landscaping, color, and other techniques to 
minimize the facility’s visual impact as well as be compatible with the architectural 
character of the surrounding buildings or structures in terms of color, size, proportion, 
style, and quality. 

 
c. Facilities shall be located such that the primary view from each residential 

structure is not significantly impaired. 
 

d. The installation of new wireless facilities to new or existing poles in the 
public right-of-way must be separated 500 feet away from the nearest wireless facility.  

 
e. Each component part of a facility shall be located in such manner as to 

minimize physical or visual obstructions to pedestrian or vehicular traffic, not 
inconvenience the public's use of the right-of-way, and not create safety hazards to 
pedestrians and motorists. 

 
f. A facility shall not be located within any portion of the public right-
of-way interfering with access to fire hydrants, fire stations, fire escapes, 
water valves, or underground vaults, valve housing structures, or any 

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Font color: Auto, Not Highlight

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Auto

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.5", Don't add space
between paragraphs of the same style

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75", First line:  0"



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

other vital public health and safety facility.  
 
2.   Traffic Safety.  All facilities shall be designed and located in such a manner as to 

avoid adverse impacts on traffic safety. 
 
3. Blending Methods. All facilities shall have subdued colors and non-reflective 
materials that blend with the materials and colors of the surrounding area and 
structures.   
 
4. Equipment.  The applicant shall use the least visible equipment possible.  Antenna 
elements shall be flush mounted, symmetrical to the top of the pole, and no more than 
four (4) inches wider in diameter than the existing pole, to the extent not technically 
impracticable.  All antenna mounts shall be designed so as not to preclude possible future 
collocation by the same or other operators or carriers.  Unless otherwise provided in this 
section, antennas shall be the minimum height above ground technically Neededneeded 
to achieve the intended purposerequirements herein.  When part of small cell or DAS, 
antenna and equipment attached to and directly associated with the antenna, excluding 
cabling, shall cumulatively not exceed 3 cubic feet in volume, nor be larger than two feet 
(2’) in height. 
 
5. Poles. 

 
a. Facilities shall be located consistent with section 17.150.190. 
 
b. Only pole-mounted antennas or strand mounted antennas (within 10 

feet of pole) shall be permitted in the right-of-way.  All other telecommunications 
towersfacilities are prohibited and no new poles are permitted that are not replacing an 
existing pole. 

 
c. Utility Poles. If the proposed facility is to be located upon a utility pole, 

the maximum height of any antenna shall not exceed the lesser of forty-eight (48) inches 
or ten percent (10%) above the existing height of the utility pole, nor shall any portion of 
the antenna or equipment mounted on a pole be less than twenty-four (24) feet above 
any drivable road surface or 16-and-one-half feet (16.5’) above any sidewalk or driveway 
surface.  All installations on utility poles shall fully comply with the California Public Utilities 
Commission general orders, including, but not limited to, General Order 95, as may be 
revised or superseded. 

 
d. Light Poles. If the proposed facility is to be located upon a light pole, 

the maximum height of any antenna shall not exceed the lesser of forty-eight (48) inches 
or ten percent (10%) above the existing height of the light pole, nor shall any portion of 
the antenna or equipment mounted on a pole be less than ten (10) feet above the ground 
and no less than twenty-four (24) feet above any drivable road surface or more than 
sixteen and a half (16.5) feet above any sidewalk or driveway surface. 

 
e. New or Replacement Poles.  Primarily but not exclusively for 

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0", Hanging:  0.25"

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

aesthetic reasons, the City reserves the right, at Applicant’s cost, to require a new pole, 
or a replacement pole if such is needed to accommodate Wireless Equipment. If an 
applicant proposes to replace a pole in order to accommodate a proposed facility, the 
pole shall either be (i) designed to resemble as closely as is reasonably possible the 
appearance and dimensions of existing poles near the proposed location, including size, 
height, color, materials and style to the maximum extent feasible; or (ii) designed 
consistent with adopted wireless design guidelines. The new or replacement pole shall 
also be a hollow metal or non-corrodablecorrodible functionally equivalent structure. 
 

f. A pole mounted equipment and enclosure, exclusive of antennas, 
shall not exceed four (4) cubic feet in total volume.   

 
g.  No utility or light pole shall ever exceed the lesser of fifty feet (50’) or 

the maximum permitted height for the zoning district in which it is located. 
 
h. Accessory Equipment: Except where otherwise preempted by 

federal or state law, all accessory equipment is required to be located underground 
to the extent feasible. When above-ground is the only feasible location for a particular 
type of accessory equipment and when such accessory equipment cannot be pole-
mounted, such accessory equipment shall be enclosed within a structure, and shall not 
exceed a height of five feet and a total footprint of 15 square feet, and when viewed 
from the street, is surrounded by foliage, which foliage, within 6 months of installation, will 
screen no less than 50% of the structure when viewed from the street.  
 

6.   Space.  Each facility to be located within the right of way shall be designed 
to occupy the least amount of space in the right-of-way that is technically feasible. 

 
7. Wind Loads. Each facility shall be properly engineered to withstand wind 

loads as required by this Code or any duly adopted or incorporated code. An evaluation 
of high wind load capacity shall include the impact of modification of an existing facility, 
where such modification is proposed. 

 
8.  Obstructions. Each component part of a facility shall be located soin such 

manner as not to cause anyminimize physical or visual obstruction to pedestrian or 
vehicular traffic, not incommode the public’s use of the right-of-way, orand not create 
safety hazards to pedestrians and motorists. 

 
9. Public Facilities.  No equipment or facility shall be located and no work 

associated thereto shall interfere with access to a fire hydrant, fire station, fire escape, 
water valve, underground vault, valve housing structure, utility or any other public health 
or safety facility or the public right-of-way. 

 
10. Screening and Aesthetics.   

 

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0", Hanging:  0.25"

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Auto

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Indent: First line:  1"

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

a. All ground-mounted facility, pole-mounted equipment, or walls, 
fences, landscaping or other screening methods shall be installed at least eighteen (18) 
inches from the curb and gutter flow line. 

 
b. If permitted to be mounted externally, no Wireless Antenna or other 

pole-mounted equipment shall extend laterally beyond the diameter of the structure as 
measured at the point of attachment. 

 
c. If permitted to be mounted externally, the point of attachment of any 

antennas shall not be more than three inches (3”) from the pole or other support structure, 
and the space between the structure and the attachment point of the antenna shall be 
concealed with a weather-proof material the same color as the structure or the antenna.  

 
d. Antennas shall be of a color that, as closely as is reasonably 

possible, matches that of the support structure. 
 

e. Except in such circumstances where federal or state law preempts 
this requirement, all antenna, cabling, electronic and accessory equipment not attached 
to the antenna(s) and transmission and distribution cable or fiber shall be placed 
underground in a weather-proof vault or contained inside the new support Structure; and 
when federal or state law or justifiable circumstance preempt or prohibit this requirement, 
the same shall be mounted so as to be the least visually intrusive given the facts and 
circumstances.  
 

f. A Small Wireless Facility shall not be easily recognizable as a 
wireless facility by a layperson. 

f. Signage shall be attached on all wireless facilities in such manner as 
to leave it clearly visible to any person by, near, under, or around  the site, indicating the 
level of  exposure to RF emissions from the site at  the  spot of the signage. Signage shall 
be in compliance with appropriate federal and state regulations. 
 

g. All small cell or DAS Antennas shall not be larger than two feet (2’) 
in height.  
 

11. Accessory Equipment. Not including the electric meter, all accessory 
equipment shall be located underground, except as provided below: 

 
a. If the proposed facility is in the right-of-way, unless city staff 

determines that there is no room in the public right-of-way for undergrounding, that 
undergrounding is not feasible, or federal or state law or regulation prohibit the City from 
requiring undergrounding, an exception shall be required in order to place accessory 
equipment above-ground and concealed with natural or manmade features to the 
maximum extent possible. 

 
b. When above-ground is the only feasible location for a particular type 

of accessory equipment and will be ground-mounted, such accessory equipment shall be 

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0", First line:  1", Don't
add space between paragraphs of the same style

Formatted: Normal, Don't add space between paragraphs of
the same style

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0", First line:  1", Don't
add space between paragraphs of the same style

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0.5", Don't add space
between paragraphs of the same style

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Normal, Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Normal, Justified

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font: Italic, Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

enclosed within a structure, and shall not exceed a height of three feet (3’) and a total of 
twenty-eight (28) cubic feet, and shall be fully screened and/or camouflaged, including 
the use of landscaping, architectural treatment, or acceptable alternate screening.  
Required electrical meter cabinets shall be screened and/or camouflaged.  Also, while 
pole-mounted equipment is generally the least favored installation, should pole-mounted 
equipment be sought, it shall be installed as required in this Chapter. 

 
c. In locations where homes are only along one side of a street, above-

ground accessory equipment shall not be installed directly in front of a residence.  Such 
above-ground accessory equipment shall be installed along the side of street with no 
homes. 

d. When otherwise preempted by federal or state law or regulation. 
 
12. Landscaping. Where appropriate, each facility shall be installed so as to maintain 
and enhance existing landscaping on the site, including trees, foliage and shrubs.  
Additional landscaping shall be planted, irrigated and maintained by applicant where such 
landscaping is deemed necessary by the city to provide screening or to conceal the 
facility. 
 
13. Signage. No facility shall bear any signs or advertising devices other than 
certification, warning or other signage required by law or permitted by the city. 

 
14. Lighting. 

 
a. No facility may be illuminated unless specifically required by the 

Federal Aviation Administration or other government agency. Beacon lights are not 
permitted unless required by the Federal Aviation Administration or other government 
agency. 

 
b. Legally required lightning arresters and beacons shall be included 

when calculating the height of facilities such as telecommunications towers, lattice towers 
and monopoles. 

 
c. Any required lighting shall be shielded to eliminate, to the maximum 

extent possible, impacts on the surrounding neighborhoods. 
 
d. Unless otherwise required under FAA or FCC regulations, applicants 

may install only timed or motion-sensitive light controllers and lights, and must install such 
lights so as to avoid illumination impacts to adjacent properties to the maximum extent 
feasible. The City may, in its discretion, exempt an applicant from the foregoing 
requirement when the applicant demonstrates a substantial public safety need. 

 
e. The applicant shall submit a lighting study which shall be prepared 

by a qualified lighting professional to evaluate potential impacts to adjacent properties. 
Should no lighting be proposed, no lighting study shall be required. 
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

15. Noise. 
 

a. Backup generators shall only be operated during periods of power 
outages, and shall not be tested on weekends or holidays, or between the hours of 7:00 
PM and 7:00 AM. A Fire Department Inspection on backup generators is required before 
generator installation 

 
b. At no time shall equipment noise from any facility exceed an exterior 

noise level of fifty-five (55) dBA three (3) feet from the source of the noise if the facility is 
located in the public right-of-way adjacent to a business, commercial, manufacturing, 
utility or school zone; provided, however, that for any such facility located within fivefifteen  
hundred (5001500) feet of any property zoned residential or improved with a residential 
use, such equipment noise shall not exceed forty-five (45) dBA three (3) feet from the 
sources of the noise. 
 

16. Security. Each facility shall be designed to be resistant to, and minimize 
opportunities for, unauthorized access, climbing, vandalism, graffiti and other conditions 
that would result in hazardous situations, visual blight or attractive nuisances.  The 
director may require the provision of warning signs, fencing, anti-climbing devices, or 
other techniques to prevent unauthorized access and vandalism when, because of its 
location and/or accessibility, a facility has the potential to become an attractive nuisance.  
Additionally, no dangerous or potentially lethal devices or elements shall be installed as 
a security device. 

 
17. Modification.  Consistent with current state and federal laws and, if 

permissible under the same, at the time of modification of a wireless telecommunications 
facility, existing equipment shall, to the extent feasible, be replaced with equipment that 
reduces visual, noise and other impacts, including, but not limited to, undergrounding the 
equipment and replacing larger, more visually intrusive facilities with smaller, less visually 
intrusive facilities. 

 
18. Expiration. The installation and construction approved by a wireless 

telecommunications facility permit shall begin within one (1) year after its approval or it 
will expire without further action by the city. 

 
19. Construction. All construction and maintenance shall at all times comply 

with all applicable portions of all federal, State and local safety and safety related codes.  
 

B. Conditions of Approval. In addition to compliance with the design and development 
standards outlined in this section, all facilities shall be subject to the following conditions 
of approval (approval may be by operation of law), as well as any modification of these 
conditions or additional conditions of approval deemed necessary by the director:  

 
1. As built drawings.  The permittee shall submit an as-built drawing within 

thirty (30) days after installation of the facility.  As-builts shall be in an electronic format 
acceptable to the city which can be linked to the city’s GIS. 

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0", First line:  1.06",
Don't add space between paragraphs of the same style

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Normal, Don't add space between paragraphs of
the same style

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

 
2. Contact information.  The permittee shall submit and maintain current at all 

times basic contact and site information on a form to be supplied by the city. The permittee 
shall notify the city of any changes to the information submitted within thirty (30) days of 
any change, including change of the name or legal status of the owner or operator. This 
information shall include, but is not limited to, the following: 

 
a. Identity, including the name, address and 24-hour local or toll -free 

contact phone number of the permittee, the owner, the operator, and the agent or person 
responsible for the maintenance of the facility. 

 
b. The legal status of the owner of the wireless telecommunications 

facility. 
  

3. Assignment.  The permittee shall notify the city in writing at least ninety (90) 
days prior to any proposed transfer or assignment of the permit. The written notice 
required in this section must include: (1) the transferee’s legal name; (2) the transferee’s 
full contact information, including a primary contact person, mailing address, telephone 
number and email address; and (3) a statement signed by the transferee that the 
transferee shall accept all permit terms and conditions. The director may require the 
transferor and/or the transferee to submit any materials or documentation necessary to 
determine that the proposed transfer complies with the existing permit and all its 
conditions of approval, if any. Such materials or documentation may include, but shall not 
be limited to: federal, state and/or local approvals, licenses, certificates or franchise 
agreements; statements; photographs; site plans and/or as-built drawings; and/or an 
analysis by a qualified radio frequency engineer demonstrating compliance with all 
applicable regulations and standards of the Federal Communications Commission. 
Noncompliance with the permit and all its conditions of approval, if any, or failure to submit 
the materials required by the director shall be a cause for the city to revoke the applicable 
permits pursuant to and following the procedure set on in section 17.150.170. 
 

4. Signs.  At all times, all required notices and/or signs shall be posted on the 
site as required by the Federal Communications Commission, California Public Utilities 
Commission, any applicable licenses or laws, and as approved by the city. The location 
and dimensions of a sign bearing the emergency contact name and telephone number 
shall be posted pursuant to the approved plans. 

 
5. Security.  For a CUP or a Master Deployment Plan Permit, permittee shall 

pay for and provide a performance bond or other form of security approved by the city 
attorney’s office, which shall be in effect until the facilities are fully and completely 
removed and the site reasonably returned to its original condition, to cover permittee’s 
obligations under these conditions of approval and this code.  The security instrument 
coverage shall include, but not be limited to, removal of the facility.  (The amount of the 
security instrument shall be calculated by the applicant in its submittal documents in an 
amount rationally related to the obligations covered by the bond and shall be specified in 
the conditions of approval.)  Before issuance of any building permit, permittee must 

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

submit said security instrument. 
 
6. Noise. If a nearby property owner registers a noise complaint, the city shall 

forward the same to the permittee.  Said compliant shall be reviewed and evaluated by 
the applicant.  The permittee shall have ten (10) business days to file a written response 
regarding the complaint which shall include any applicable remedial measures.  If the city 
determines the complaint is valid and the applicant has not taken any steps to minimize 
the noise, the city may hire a consultant to study, examine and evaluate the noise 
complaint and the permittee shall pay the fee for the consultant if the site is found in 
violation of this chapter. The matter shall be reviewed by the director.  If the director 
determines sound proofing or other sound attenuation measures should be required to 
bring the project into compliance with the Code, the director may impose conditions on 
the project to achieve said objective. 

 
7. Permit Expiration.  A condition setting forth the permit expiration date in 

accordance with section 17.150.150 shall be included in the conditions of approval.  
 

8. Additional conditions.  The wireless telecommunications facility shall be 
subject to such conditions, changes or limitations as are from time to time deemed 
necessary by the director for the purpose of: (a) protecting the public health, safety, and 
welfare; (b) preventing interference with pedestrian and vehicular traffic; and/or (c) 
preventing damage to the public right-of-way or any adjacent property.  The city may 
modify the permit to reflect such conditions, changes or limitations by following the same 
notice and public hearing procedures as are applicable to the underlying permit for 
similarly located facilities, except the permittee shall be given notice by personal service 
or by registered or certified mail at the last address provided to the city by the permittee. 

 
9. Permit Transfer.  The permittee shall not transfer the permit to any person 

prior to the completion of the construction of the facility covered by the permit, unless and 
until the transferee of the permit has submitted the security instrument required by section 
17.150.070(B)(5). 

 
10. Property Rights. The permittee shall not move, alter, temporarily relocate, 

change, or interfere with any existing structure, improvement or property without the prior 
consent of the owner of that structure, improvement or property. No structure, 
improvement or property owned by the city shall be moved to accommodate a wireless 
telecommunications facility unless the city determines that such movement will not 
adversely affect the city or any surrounding businesses or residents, and the permittee 
pays all costs and expenses related to the relocation of the city’s structure, improvement 
or property.  Prior to commencement of any work pursuant to an encroachment permit 
issued for any facility within the public right-of-way, the permittee shall provide the city 
with documentation establishing to the city’s satisfaction that the permittee has the legal 
right to use or interfere with any other structure, improvement or property within the public 
right-of-way to be affected by applicant’s facilities. 

 
11. Liability.  The permittee shall assume full liability for damage or injury 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font color: Black



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

caused to any property or person by the facility. 
 

12. Repair Obligations.  The permittee shall repair, at its sole cost and expense, 
any damage including, but not limited to subsidence, cracking, erosion, collapse, 
weakening, or loss of lateral support to city streets, sidewalks, walks, curbs, gutters, trees, 
parkways, street lights, traffic signals, improvements of any kind or nature, or utility lines 
and systems, underground utility line and systems, or sewer systems and sewer lines that 
result from any activities performed in connection with the installation and/or maintenance 
of a wireless telecommunications facility in the public right-of-way.  The permittee shall 
restore such areas, structures and systems to the condition in which they existed prior to 
the installation or maintenance that necessitated the repairs.  Such time period for 
correction shall be based on the facts and circumstances, danger to the community and 
severity of the disrepair.  Should the permittee not make said correction within the time 
period allotted the city engineer shall cause such repair to be completed at permittee’s 
sole cost and expense. 
 
13. Drip Line.  No facility shall be permitted to be installed in the drip line of any tree in 
the right-of-way.  
 
14. Insurance.  The permittee shall obtain, pay for and maintain, in full force and effect 
until the facility approved by the permit is removed in its entirety from the public right-of-
way, an insurance policy or policies meeting the City of Nevada City’s insurance 
requirements for contractors to perform work with public right-of-way. 

 
15. Indemnification.  Permittee shall defend, indemnify, protect and hold harmless city, 
its elected and appointed council members, boards, commissions, officers, officials, 
agents, consultants, employees, and volunteers from and against any and all claims, 
actions, or proceeding against the city, and its elected and appointed council members, 
boards, commissions, officers, officials, agents, consultants, employees, and volunteers 
to attack, set aside, void or annul, an approval of the city, planning commission or city 
council concerning this permit and the project.  Such indemnification shall include 
damages of any type, judgments, settlements, penalties, fines, defensive costs or 
expenses, including, but not limited to, interest, attorneys’ fees and expert witness fees, 
or liability of any kind related to or arising from such claim, action, or proceeding.  The 
city shall promptly notify the permittee of any claim, action, or proceeding.  Nothing 
contained herein shall prohibit city from participating in a defense of any claim, action or 
proceeding.  The city shall have the option of coordinating the defense, including, but not 
limited to, choosing counsel after consulting with permittee and at permittee’s expense. 

 
16. Hold Harmless.  Additionally, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the permittee, 
and every permittee and person in a shared permit, jointly and severally, shall defend, 
indemnify, protect and hold the city and its elected and appointed council members, 
boards, commissions, officers, officials, agents, consultants, employees and volunteers 
harmless from and against all claims, suits, demands, actions, losses, liabilities, 
judgments, settlements, costs (including, but not limited to, attorney’s fees, interest and 
expert witness fees), or damages claimed by third parties against the city for any injury 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

claim, and for property damage sustained by any person, arising out of, resulting from, or 
are in any way related to the wireless telecommunications facility, or to any work done by 
or use of the public right-of-way by the permittee, owner or operator of the wireless 
telecommunications facility, or their agents, excepting only liability arising out of the sole 
negligence or willful misconduct of the city and its elected and appointed council 
members, boards, commissions, officers, officials, agents, consultants, employees and 
volunteers. 

 
 

17. Cabinet Removal.  Should the utility company servicing the facility with electrical 
service that does not require the use of an above ground meter cabinet, the permittee 
shall at its sole cost and expense remove the meter cabinet and any related foundation 
within ninety (90) days of such service being offered and reasonably restore the area to 
its prior condition.  An extension may be granted if circumstances arise outside of the 
control of the permittee. 
 
18. Relocation.  The permittee shall modify, remove, or relocate its facility, or portion 
thereof, without cost or expense to city, if and when made necessary by (i) any public 
improvement project, including, but not limited to, the construction, maintenance, or 
operation of any underground or above ground facilities including but not limited to 
sewers, storm drains, conduits, gas, water, electric or other utility systems, or pipes 
owned by city or any other public agency, (ii) any abandonment of any street, sidewalk or 
other public facility, (iii) any change of grade, alignment or width of any street, sidewalk 
or other public facility, or (iv) a determination by the director that the wireless 
telecommunications facility has become incompatible with public health, safety or welfare 
or the public’s use of the public right-of-way.  Such modification, removal, or relocation of 
the facility shall be completed within ninety (90) days of notification by city unless 
exigencies dictate a shorter period for removal or relocation.  Modification or relocation of 
the facility shall require submittal, review and approval of a modified permit pursuant to 
the Code including applicable notice and hearing procedures. The permittee shall be 
entitled, on permittee’s election, to either a pro-rata refund of fees paid for the original 
permit or to a new permit, without additional fee, at a location as close to the original 
location as the standards set forth in the Code allow. In the event the facility is not 
modified, removed, or relocated within said period of time, city may cause the same to be 
done at the sole cost and expense of permittee.  Further, due to exigent circumstances 
including those of immediate or imminent threat to the public’s health and safety, the city 
may modify, remove, or relocate wireless telecommunications facilities without prior 
notice to permittee provided permittee is notified within a reasonable period thereafter. 
 
19. Conditions.  Permittee shall agree in writing that the permittee is aware of, and 
agrees to abide by, all conditions of approval imposed by the wireless 
telecommunications facility permit within thirty (30) days of permit issuance.  The permit 
shall be void and of no force or effect unless such written consent is received by the city 
within said thirty (30) day period. 
 
20. Right of Way Agreement.  Prior to the issuance of any encroachment permit, 

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

permittee shall be required to enter into a right-of-way agreement with the city in 
accordance with the City’s past practice. 
 
17.150.080 Findings. 
 
No CUP shall be granted for a wireless telecommunications facility unless the approving 
party makes all of the following findings: 
 
A. All notices required for the proposed installation have been timely given. 
 
B. The proposed facility has been designed and located in compliance with all 
applicable laws, including the requirements of this Chapter 17.150. 
 
C. The applicant has the right to enter the public right-of-way pursuant to state or 
federal law, or the applicant has otherwise obtained a legal authorization to use the public 
right-of-way. 
 
D. The facility is designed in a manner consistent with the architectural requirements 
applicable to the zone, if any. 
 
E.   The applicant has shown that no other feasible design would be less intrusive 
upon the values intended to be protected by Chapter 17.150.     The proposed facilities 
are designed in a way that preserves and promotes harmonious land uses and the 
public right-of-way in the City, furthers the purposes of the general plan, and protects 
public health and safety, visual resources, and the aesthetic quality of the City 
consistent with the goals, objectives and policies of the General Plan; 
 
FF.   The applicant has shown that no other feasible design would be less intrusive upon 
the values intended to be protected by Chapter 17.150. 
 
G.  There is no known feasible alternate location which is available to the applicant at 
rates that are not commercially impracticable and that would be less intrusive upon the 
values intended to be protected by Chapter 17.150, and which location would allow the 
applicant to meet its reasonable wireless coverage objectives.  
 
17.150.090 Planning Commission. 
 
The Planning Commission will review and approve, conditionally approve, or deny CUP 
and Master Deployment Plan Permitsa CUP. 
 
17.150.100 Nonexclusive Grant 

 
No permit or approval granted under this chapter shall confer any exclusive right, 
privilege, license or franchise to occupy or use the public right-of-way of the city for any 
purpose whatsoever.  Further, no approval shall be construed as any warranty of title. 
 
17.150.110 Emergency Deployment. 

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Red, Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Normal, Line spacing:  At least 10.4 pt, Don't
adjust space between Latin and Asian text, Don't adjust
space between Asian text and numbers

Formatted: Font: Arial, Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

 
A COW shall be permitted for the duration of an emergency declared by the city or at the 
discretion of the director.  “COW” means a “cell on wheels,” which is a wireless 
telecommunications facility temporarily rolled in or temporarily installed. Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, other than in extreme emergency situations as determined by the City, 
COWs shall not be permitted in the right-of-way. 
 
17.150.120 Operation and Maintenance Standards. 
 
All wireless telecommunications facilities must comply at all times with the following 
operation and maintenance standards. 
 
 
A. Unless otherwise provided herein, all necessary repairs and restoration shall be 
completed by the permittee, owner, operator or any designated maintenance agent within 
forty-eight (48) hours: 
 

1. After discovery of the need by the permittee, owner, operator or any 
designated maintenance agent; or 
 

2. After permittee, owner, operator or any designated maintenance agent 
receives notification from the city. 
 
B. Each permittee of a wireless telecommunications facility shall provide the director 
with the name, address and 24-hour local or toll-free contact phone number of the 
permittee, the owner, the operator and the agent responsible for the maintenance of the 
facility (“contact information”).  Contact information shall be updated within seven (7) days 
of any change. 
 
C. All facilities, including, but not limited to, telecommunication towers, poles, 
accessory equipment, lighting, fences, walls, shields, cabinets, artificial foliage or 
camouflage, and the facility site shall be maintained in good and safe condition, including 
compliance with the applicable portions of the most current version of TIA-ANSI 222, 
including but not limited to  ensuring the facilities are free of: 
 

1. Unreasonable amount of General dirt and grease;. 
 
2. Chipped, faded, peeling, and cracked paint;. 
 
3. Rust and corrosion;. 
 
4. Cracks, dents, and discoloration;. 
 
5. Missing, discolored or damaged artificial foliage or other camouflage;. 
 
6.        Graffiti, bills, stickers, advertisements, litter and debris;. 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0.5", Hanging:  0.19",
Don't add space between paragraphs of the same style

Formatted: Font color: Black



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

 
7.       Loose or unsecured fittings. 
 
8. Broken and misshapen structural parts; and 
 
9. Any damage from any cause. 

 
D. All trees, foliage or other landscaping elements approved as part of the facility shall 
be maintained in good condition at all times, and the permittee, owner and operator of the 
facility shall be responsible for replacing any damaged, dead or decayed landscaping.  
No amendment to any approved landscaping plan may be made until it is submitted to 
and approved by the director. 
 
E. The permittee shall replace its facilities, after obtaining all required permits, if 
maintenance or repair is not sufficient to return the facility to the condition it was in at the 
time of installation. 
 
F. Each facility shall be operated and maintained to comply with all conditions of 
approval. Each owner or operator of a facility shall routinely inspect each site to ensure 
compliance with the same and the standards set forth in this chapter. 
 
17.150.130 Certificate of Completion for New Work 
 
A. No work shall be allowed to be done at or on any wireless facility, excepting normal 
repair and maintenance work, for which the owner cannot produce a certificate of 
completion for the most recent previous work, until a final inspection has been conducted 
and a certificate of completion has been issued. The owner of the wireless facility, 
telecommunications tower, or other support structure shall pay for any inspection(s) prior 
to the inspection(s) being conducted. A passing final inspection is required prior to the 
issuance of a certificate of completion. 
 
B. Operation of a facility without a certificate of completion is prohibited and may be 
enforced either pursuant to Chapter 1.12 or 1.22 of this Code. 
 
17.150.140 No Dangerous Condition or Obstructions Allowed. 
 
No person shall install, use or maintain any facility, when such installation, use or 
maintenance endangers or is reasonably likely to endanger the safety of persons or 
property, or when such site or location is used for public utility purposes, public 
transportation purposes or other governmental use, or when such facility unreasonably 
interferes with or unreasonably impairs or impedes the flow of pedestrian, bicycle, or 
vehicular traffic including any legally parked or stopped vehicle, the ingress into or egress 
from any residence or place of business, the use of poles, posts, traffic signs or signals, 
hydrants, mailboxes, permitted sidewalk dining, permitted street furniture or other objects 
permitted at or near said location. A facility, an equipment enclosure, and ancillary 
equipment must be designed and located in a manner that does not materially obstruct 

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0.5", Don't add space
between paragraphs of the same style

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0.5", Don't add space
between paragraphs of the same style

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Not Bold

Formatted: Font color: Black



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

the roadway views of vehicles, bicycles, and pedestrians traveling within the public right-
of-way, and does not obstruct the visibility of signs located within the right-of-way. 
 
17.150.150 Permit Expiration. 
 

A. Unless Government Code section 65964, as may be amended, authorizes the 
city to issue a permit with a shorter term, a permit for any wireless 
telecommunications facility shall be valid for a period of ten (10) years, unless 
pursuant to another provision of this Code it lapses sooner or is revoked.  At 
the end of ten (10) years from the date of issuance, such permit shall 
automatically expire. 
 

 
B. B. A permittee may apply for a new permit within one hundred and eighty (180) 

days prior to expiration.  Said application and proposal shall comply with the 
city’s current code requirements for wireless telecommunications facilities. 

 
17.150.160 Cessation of Use or Abandonment. 
 
A. A wireless telecommunications facility is considered abandoned and shall be 
promptly removed as provided herein if it ceases to provide wireless telecommunications 
services for ninety (90) or more consecutive days unless the permittee has obtained prior 
written approval from the director which shall not be unreasonably denied.  If there are 
two (2) or more users of a single facility, then this provision shall not become effective 
until all users cease using the facility. 
 
B. The operator of a facility shall notify the city in writing of its intent to abandon or 
cease use of a permitted site or a nonconforming site (including unpermitted sites) within 
ten (10) days of ceasing or abandoning use.  Notwithstanding any other provision herein, 
the operator of the facility shall provide written notice to the director of any discontinuation 
of operations of thirty (30) days or more.  
 
C. Failure to inform the director of cessation or discontinuation of operations of any 
existing facility as required by this section shall constitute a violation of any approvals and 
be grounds for: 
 

1. Litigation; 
 
2. Revocation or modification of the permit; 
 
3. Acting on any bond or other assurance required by this article or conditions 

of approval of the permit; 
 
4. Removal of the facilities by the city in accordance with the procedures 

established under this Code for abatement of a public nuisance at the 
owner’s expense; and/or 

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Normal, Don't add space between paragraphs of
the same style

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0", Don't add space between
paragraphs of the same style

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Don't add space between paragraphs of the
same style

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Don't add space between paragraphs of the
same style

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Hanging:  0.5", Don't add
space between paragraphs of the same style

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Hanging:  0.5", Don't add
space between paragraphs of the same style



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

 
5. Any other remedies permitted under this Code. 
 

 
17.150.170 Removal and Restoration – Permit Expiration, Revocation or 
Abandonment. 
 
A. Upon the expiration date of the permit, including any extensions, earlier termination 
or revocation of the permit or abandonment of the facility, the permittee, owner or operator 
shall remove its wireless telecommunications facility and restore the site to its natural 
condition except for retaining the landscaping improvements and any other improvements 
at the discretion of the city.  Removal shall be in accordance with proper health and safety 
requirements and all ordinances, rules, and regulations of the city.  The facility shall be 
removed from the property, at no cost or expense to the city. 
 
B. Failure of the permittee, owner or operator to promptly remove its facility and 
restore the property within ninety (90) days after expiration, earlier termination or 
revocation of the permit, or abandonment of the facility, shall be a violation of this Code.  
Upon a showing of good cause, an extension may be granted by the director where 
circumstances are beyond the control of the permittee after expiration. Further failure to 
abide by the timeline provided in this section shall be grounds for: 
 

1. Prosecution; 
 
2. Acting on any security instrument required by this chapter or conditions of 

approval of permit; 
 
3. Removal of the facilities by the city in accordance with the procedures 

established under this Code for abatement of a public nuisance at the 
owner’s expense; and/or 

 
4. Any other remedies permitted under this Code. 

 
C. C. Summary Removal. In the event the director or city engineer determines 
that the condition or placement of a wireless telecommunications facility located in the 
public right-of-way constitutes a dangerous condition, obstruction of the public right-of-
way, or an imminent threat to public safety, or determines other exigent circumstances 
require immediate corrective action (collectively, “exigent circumstances”), the director or 
city engineer may cause the facility to be removed summarily and immediately without 
advance notice or a hearing.  Written notice of the removal shall include the basis for the 
removal and shall be served upon the permittee and person who owns the facility within 
five (5) business days of removal and all property removed shall be preserved for the 
owner’s pick-up as feasible.  If the owner cannot be identified following reasonable effort 
or if the owner fails to pick-up the property within sixty (60) days, the facility shall be 
treated as abandoned property. 
 

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Don't add space between paragraphs of the
same style

Formatted: Don't add space between paragraphs of the
same style

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Hanging:  0.5"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Hanging:  0.5"

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0", Don't add space between
paragraphs of the same style, Tab stops: Not at  0.47"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0",
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: A, B, C, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at: 
0.75", Tab stops: Not at  0.47"

Formatted: Tab stops:  0.47", Left



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

D. Removal of Facilities by City. In the event the city removes a facility in accordance 
with nuisance abatement procedures or summary removal, any such removal shall be 
without any liability to the city for any damage to such facility that may result from 
reasonable efforts of removal.  In addition to the procedures for recovering costs of 
nuisance abatement, the city may collect such costs from the performance bond posted 
and to the extent such costs exceed the amount of the performance bond, collect those 
excess costs in accordance with this Code.  Unless otherwise provided herein, the city 
has no obligation to store such facility. Neither the permittee, owner nor operator shall 
have any claim if the city destroys any such facility not timely removed by the permittee, 
owner or operator after notice, or removed by the city due to exigent circumstances. 
 
17.150.180 Exceptions. 
 
A.  Effective Prohibition.  In the event that any applicant asserts that strict compliance 
with any provisions in this chapter, as applied to a specific proposed wireless services 
facility, would effectively prohibit the provision of wireless services, the Planning 
Commission, when the application is for a CUP, or the Director, when the application is 
for an Administrative Permit, may grant a limited, one-time exemption from strict 
compliance subject to the provisions in this section. 
 
B. Required Findings. The Planning Commission or Director shall not grant any 
exception unless the applicant demonstrates with clear and convincing evidence all the 
following: 
 

1. The applicant has provided the city with a clearly defined technical service 
objective and a clearly defined potential site search area; 

 
32. The applicant has provided the city with a meaningful comparative analysis 

that includes the factual reasons why any alternative location(s) or design(s) suggested 
by the city of otherwise identified in the administrative record, including but not limited to 
potential alternatives identified at any public meeting or hearing, are not technically 
feasible or potentially available; and 

 
43. The applicant has provided the city with a meaningful comparative analysis 

that includes the factual reasons why the proposed location and design deviates is the 
least noncompliant location and design necessary to reasonably achieve the applicant’s 
reasonable technical service objectives. 
 
C. Scope.  The Planning Commission and Director shall limit itstheir exemption to the 
extent to which the applicant demonstrates such exemption in Necessary to reasonably 
achieve its reasonable technical service Needs.  The Planning Commission may adopt 
conditions of approval as reasonably necessary to promote the purposes in this chapter 
and protect the public health, safety and welfare. 
 
D.  Procedure. An applicant desiring relief, waiver, or exemption from any aspect or 
requirement of this Ordinance shall address and identify such at the earliest possible time.  

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Not Bold

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Font color: Black



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

If relief is not requested at or prior to a Pre-Application meeting, the city reserves the right 
to require a formal Amendment of the Application, including payment of all applicable fees 
and charges. The burden of providing the need for requested relief shall be solely on 
Applicant. Applicant bears all costs of the city in considering the request for relief.  
 
 
17.150.190 Location Prohibitions and Preferences 
 

A. Prohibited.  Unless otherwise required by law, no wireless facility in the right of 
way may be located in any area the City Engineer determines is inconsistent 
with existing or planned or expected uses of the right of way.   
 

B. Especially Discouraged.  Unless authorized by CUP or otherwise allowed by 
law, telecommunicationsTelecommunications facilities shall not be allowed 
within those portions of the right of way which are especially discouraged in the 
7-Hills Business District, any residential and historical zone or in the Historical 
Combining District. as well as designated sensitive areas. 
 

C. Discouraged.  Wireless telecommunication facilities are discouraged from 
being in the Scenic Corridor Combining District. or any Historic Districts.  A 
facility in the scenic corridor combining district must either obtain a CUP or 
administrative permit where required by federal or state law and this ordinance.   
 

D. Encouraged.  Wireless telecommunication facilities are encouraged to be in 
industrial and commercial zones. 

 
17.150.200 Effect on Other Ordinances. 
 
Compliance with the provisions of this chapter shall not relieve a person from complying 
with any other applicable provision of this Code. In the event of a conflict between any 
provision of this chapter and other sections of this Code, this chapter shall control. 
 
17.150.210 State or Federal Law. 
 
A. In the event it is determined by the city attorney that state or federal law prohibits 
certain discretionary permitting requirements for certain wireless telecommunications 
facilities, such requirement shall be deemed severable and all remaining regulations shall 
remain in full force and effect.  For those facilities, in lieu of a CUP required by section 
17.150.040, an administrative permit shall be required, and all provisions of that section 
shall be required except to the extent determined by the city attorney to be prohibited by 
law.  Any conditions of approval set forth in this provision or deemed necessary by the 
director shall be imposed and administered as reasonable time, place and manner rules. 
 
B. If subsequent to the issuance of the city attorney’s opinion pursuant to (A) above, 
the city attorney determines that the law has changed and that such discretionary 
permitting is permissible, the city attorney shall inform appropriate city staff and all 



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

discretionary permitting requirements shall be reinstated.   
 
 
17.150.220 Nonconforming Wireless Telecommunications Facilities in the Right-
of-Way. 
 
A. Nonconforming wireless telecommunications facilities are those facilities that do 
not conform to this chapter. 
 
B. Nonconforming wireless telecommunications facilities shall be brought into 
conformity with all requirements of this article upon the first modification or upgrade of the 
Facility or Equipment following adoption of this ordinance; provided, however, that should 
the owner desire to expand or modify the facility, intensify the use, or make some other 
change in a conditional use, the owner shall comply with all applicable provisions of this 
Code at such time, to the extent the city can require such compliance under federal and 
state law. 
 
C. An aggrieved person may file an appeal to the city council of any decision of the 
director made pursuant to this section.  In the event of an appeal alleging that the ten (10) 
year amortization period is not reasonable as applied to a particular property, the city 
council may consider the amount of investment or original cost, present actual or 
depreciated value, dates of construction, amortization for tax purposes, salvage value, 
remaining useful life, the length and remaining term of the lease under which it is 
maintained (if any), and the harm to the public if the structure remains standing beyond 
the prescribed amortization period, and set an amortization period accordingly for the 
specific property.” 
 
SECTION 17.150.230  MAP OF 7-HILLS BUSINESS DISTRICT 
 



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left 



19 | P a g e  
 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Left

 
 Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Left



1 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2020-XX 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY 
REPEALING AND READOPTING CHAPTER 17.150 OF THE 
NEVADA CITY MUNICIPAL CODE ENTITLED “WIRELESS 
TELECOMMUNICATION FACILITIES IN THE CITY” 
 

 
WHEREAS, Section 7901 of the California Public Utilities Code (“section 7901”) 

authorizes telephone and wireless corporations to construct telephone or wireless 
telecommunication lines along and upon any public road or highway, along or across any of the 
waters or lands within this state, and to erect poles, posts, piers, or abatements for supporting the 
insulators, wires, and other necessary fixtures of their lines, in such manner and at such points as 
not to incommode the public use of the road or highway or interrupt the navigation of the waters; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 7901.1 of the California Public Utilities Code confirms the right of 

municipalities to exercise reasonable control as to the time, place, and manner in which roads, 
highways, and waterways are accessed, which control must be applied to all entities in an 
equivalent manner, and may involve the imposition of fees. Specifically, it has been determined 
by the courts that a municipality has authority to regulate the placement and appearance of 
telecommunications equipment installed on its public rights-of-way, and that a municipality need 
not grant wireless providers blanket permission to install their equipment throughout a 
municipality, but may require wireless providers to go through a site-specific permitting process 
provided it is not so burdensome that it runs afoul of section 7901; and 

 
 
WHEREAS, Section 1455 of Title 47 of the United States Code mandates approval by 

local agencies of certain eligible facilities requests for modification of an existing wireless tower 
or base station that does not substantially change the physical dimensions of such wireless tower 
or base station; and 

 
WHEREAS, on October 10, 2018, the City Council adopted an interim ordinance, and on 

November 14, 2018, the City Council extended that ordinance through October 9, 2019;  
 
WHEREAS, on September 25, 2020, the City Council of the City of Nevada City adopted 

an Ordinance amending Chapter 17.150 of the Nevada City Municipal Code and renaming it 
“Wireless Telecommunication Facilities in the City;” and  

 
WHEREAS, the City Council desires to adopt further amendments to Chapter 17.150 of 

the Municipal Code, consistent s authority under federal and state law.    
 
 
NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY 

DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 



 
 

 
SECTION 1:  Chapter 17.150 of the Municipal Code Replaced and Readopted.  Chapter 17.150 
entitled “Wireless Telecommunications Facilities” is hereby repealed in its entirety and readopted 
to read as follows:   
 
“17.150.010  Purpose and Policy. 
 
The purpose and intent of this chapter is to provide a uniform and comprehensive set of 
zoning regulations and standards for the permitting, development, siting, installation, 
modification, design, operation and maintenance of wireless telecommunications facilities 
in the city.  These regulations are intended to prescribe clear and reasonable criteria to 
assess and process applications in a consistent and expeditious manner, while reducing 
the impacts associated with wireless telecommunications facilities.  This chapter provides 
standards necessary (1) for the preservation of the public right-of-way in the city for the 
maximum benefit and use of the public, (2) to promote and protect public health and 
safety, community welfare, visual resources and the aesthetic quality of the city consistent 
with the goals, objectives and policies of the General Plan, and (3) to provide for the 
orderly, managed and efficient development of wireless telecommunications facilities in 
accordance with all current state and federal laws, rules and regulations.   
 
This chapter is intended solely as a zoning regulation.  These requirements are in addition 
to any other applicable law, such as the requirement to obtain an encroachment permit, 
and any required authorization from a third party, such as an electric utility. 
 
17.150.020 Definitions. 
 
 “7-Hills Business District” means the areas shown in Section 17.150.230. 
 
“Accessory Facility or Structure” means an accessory facility or structure serving or 
being used in conjunction with Wireless Telecommunication Facilities, and located on the 
same property or lot as the Wireless Telecommunications Facilities, including but not 
limited to, utility or transmission equipment, storage sheds, or cabinets. 
 
“Accessory equipment” means any equipment associated with the installation of a 
wireless telecommunications facility, including but not limited to cabling, generators, fans, 
air conditioning units, electrical panels, equipment shelters, equipment cabinets, 
equipment buildings, pedestals, meters, vaults, splice boxes, and surface location 
markers. 
 
“ADA” means the Americans With Disabilities Act or ADA. 
 
“Applicant” means any Wireless service provider submitting an application for a 
conditional use permit or administrative permit for Wireless telecommunications 
facilities.  

 



 
 

“Application” means all necessary and required documentation that an Applicant 
submits in order to receive a conditional use permit, administrative permit, or a building 
permit for Wireless telecommunications facilities. 
 
“Antenna” means that part of a wireless telecommunications facility designed to radiate 
or receive radio frequency signals or electromagnetic waves for the provision of 
services, including, but not limited to cellular, paging, personal communications services 
(PCS) and microwave communications. Such devices include, but are not limited to, 
directional antennas, such as panel antenna, microwave dishes, and satellite dishes; 
omnidirectional antennas; wireless access points (Wi-Fi); and strand-mounted wireless 
access points.  This definition does not apply to broadcast antennas, antennas 
designed for amateur radio use, or satellite dishes designed for residential or household 
purposes. 
 
“Base station” shall have the same meaning as set forth in 47 C.F.R. 1.6100 (b)(1), as 
may be amended.  
 
“Cellular” means an analog or digital wireless telecommunications technology that is 
based on a system of interconnected neighboring cell sites. 
 
“Code” means the Nevada City Municipal Code. 
 
“Collocation” or “Co-location” has the same meaning as set forth in 47 C.F.R. 
§1.40001(b)(2), as may be amended. 
 
“Commercial Impracticability” or “Commercially Impracticable” means the inability to 
perform an act on terms that are reasonable in commerce, the cause or occurrence of 
which could not have been reasonably anticipated or foreseen and which jeopardizes the 
financial efficacy of the project.   
 
“Complete Application” means an application that contains all necessary and required 
information and/or data necessary to enable an informed decision to be made with 
respect to an application and that all information is true, accurate and correct. 
 
“Concealment” shall have the same meaning as Stealth below.  
 
“DAS” or “Distributive Antenna System” means a network of antennas and related fiber 
optic nodes, including strand-mounted antennas, which provide access and signal 
transfer for Wireless Telecommunication Service providers. DAS also includes antenna 
combining technology, managed hubs and remote antennas that distribute a wireless 
signal to a series of connected indoor or outdoor multi-band, multi-technology radio heads 
allowing for multiple carriers or Wireless Service Providers to use the same set of 
antennas, cabling or fiber optics.  
 
“CUP” shall mean conditional use permit. 
 



 
 

“Director” means the City Manager, or his or her designee. 
 

“Eligible Facility” means an existing Wireless tower or base station that involves 
collocation of new transmission equipment or the replacement of transmission 
equipment that does not constitute a substantial modification. 
 
“FAA” means the Federal Aviation Administration, or its duly designated and 
authorized successor agency. 
 
“Facility(ies)” means wireless telecommunications facility(ies). 
 
“FCC” means the Federal Communications Commission, or its duly designated and 
authorized successor agency. 
 
“Ground-Mounted” means any communications equipment that is mounted to a 
separate post or to a foundation on the ground and extends above the natural grade. 
 
“Located within public right-of-way” includes any facility which in whole or in part, itself 
or as part of another structure, rests upon, in, over or under the public right-of-way. 
 
“Modification” means a change to an existing wireless telecommunications facility that 
involves any of the following: collocation, expansion, alteration, enlargement, 
intensification, reduction, or augmentation, including, but not limited to, changes in size, 
shape, color, visual design, or exterior material.  “Modification” does not include repair, 
replacement or maintenance if those actions do not involve a change to the existing facility 
involving any of the following: a change or addition of equipment, collocation, expansion, 
alteration, enlargement, intensification, reduction, or augmentation. 
 
“Monopole” means a structure composed of a hollow non-wooden pole or 
telecommunications tower used to support antennas or related equipment.  A monopole 
also includes any disguised monopole, including but not limited to trees or other object. 
 
“Mounted” means attached or supported. 
 
“Necessary” or “Necessity” or “Need” means what is technologically required for the 
equipment to function as designed by the manufacturer and that anything less will result 
in prohibiting the provision of service in violation of applicable law. Necessary or Need 
does not mean what may be desired, preferred or the most cost-efficient approach and is 
not related to an Applicant’s specific chosen design standards. Any situation involving a 
choice between or among alternatives or options is not a Need or a Necessity. 
 
“Personal wireless service(s)” shall have the same meaning as set forth in 47 U.S.C. § 
332(c)(7)(C), as it may be amended.  
 
“Pole” means a single shaft of wood, steel, concrete or other material capable of 
supporting the equipment mounted thereon in a safe and adequate manner and as 



 
 

required by provisions of this Code. 
 
“Small wireless facility” or “Small cell” shall have the same meaning as provided in 47 
CFR 1.6002(l) as it may be amended from time to time.   
 
“Stealth” or “Stealth Siting Technique” means a design or treatment that minimizes 
adverse aesthetic and visual impacts on the land, property, buildings, and other facilities 
adjacent to, surrounding, and in generally the same area as the requested location of 
such Wireless Telecommunications Facilities, which means the least visually and 
physically intrusive Facility, so as to make it substantially invisible, and that is not 
technologically or commercially impracticable under the facts and circumstances. 
Stealth technique includes such techniques as i) DAS or its functional equivalent; or ii) 
camouflage where the Facility is disguised to make it less visually obtrusive and not 
recognizable to the average person as a Wireless Facility.  
 
“Substantial Modification” has the same meaning as provided in 47 C.F.R § 
1.40001(b)(7), as may be amended, which defines that term differently based on the 
particular Facility type and location.  For clarity, the definition in this section organizes 
the FCC’s criteria and thresholds for a substantial change according to the Facility type 
and location. 
 

1. For Towers outside the public rights-of-way, a substantial change occurs when: 
a. The proposed co-location or modification increases the overall height 

more than ten percent (10%) or the height of one additional antenna array 
not to exceed twenty (20) feet (whichever is greater); or 

b. The proposed co-location or modification increases the width more than 
twenty (20) feet from the edge of the Wireless Tower or the width of the 
Wireless Tower at the level of the appurtenance (whichever is greater); or 

c. The proposed co-location or modification involves the installation of more 
than the standard number of equipment cabinets for the technology 
involved, not to exceed four (4); or 

d. The proposed co-location or modification involves excavation outside the 
current boundaries of the leased or owned property surrounding the 
Wireless Tower, including any access or utility easements currently 
related to the site. 

 
2. For Towers in the public rights-of-way and for all base stations, a substantial 

change occurs when: 
a. The proposed co-location or modification increases that overall height 

more than ten percent (10%) or ten (10) feet (whichever is greater); or 
b. The proposed co-location or modification increases the width more than 

six (6) feet from the edge of the Wireless Tower or base station; or 
c. The proposed co-location or modification involves the installation of any 

new equipment cabinets on the ground when there are no existing ground-
mounted equipment cabinets; or 



 
 

d. The proposed co-location or modification involves the installation of any 
new ground-mounted equipment cabinets that are ten percent (10%) 
larger in height or volume than any existing ground-mounted cabinets; or 

e. The proposed co-location or modification involves excavation outside the 
area in proximity to the structure and other transmission equipment 
already deployed on the ground. 

 
3. In addition, for all Towers and base stations wherever located, a substantial 

change occurs when: 
a. The proposed co-location or modification would defeat the existing 

concealment elements of the support structure ad determined by the City; 
or 

b. The proposed co-location or modification violates a prior condition of 
approval as regards to height, width, number and size of equipment 
cabinets or any excavation that is inconsistent with the thresholds for a 
substantial change described in this section. 

 
4. As to all measurements set forth herein, the following principles shall govern: 

a. Any threshold or limit of height increases are cumulative or collective. 
b. For sites with horizontally separated deployments, the cumulative limit is 

measured from the originally permitted support structure without regard to 
any increases in size due to Wireless equipment not included in the 
original design. For sites with vertically separated deployments, the 
cumulative limit is measured from the permitted site dimensions as they 
existed on February 22, 2012, the date of passage of the Middle-Class 
Tax Relief and Job Creation Act of 2012, Section 6409(a). 

 
 
“Telecommunication tower” means a freestanding mast, pole, monopole, guyed tower, 
lattice tower, free standing tower or other structure designed and primarily used to support 
wireless telecommunications facility antennas. 
 
"Transmission Equipment" shall have the same meaning as provided in 47C.F.R.§ 
1.40001(b)(8), as may be amended. 
 
“Tower” shall have the same meaning as set forth in 47 C.F.R. 1.40001(b)(9), as may be 
amended. 
 
“Utility pole” means any pole or tower owned by any utility company that is primarily used 
to support wires or cables necessary to the provision of electrical or other utility services 
regulated by the California Public Utilities Commission. 
 
"Wireless telecommunications services" means the provision of services using a 
wireless telecommunications facility or a wireless telecommunications collocation facility, 
and shall include, but not limited to, the following services: personal wireless services, 
cellular service, personal communication service, and/or data radio telecommunications.   



 
 

“Wireless telecommunications facility” or “facilities” mean any facility that transmits 
and/or receives electromagnetic waves for commercial purposes.  It includes, but is not 
limited to, antennas and/or other types of equipment for the transmission or receipt of 
such signals, telecommunications towers or similar structures supporting such 
equipment, related accessory equipment, equipment buildings, parking areas, and other 
accessory development.  This definition includes DAS systems owned or operated by a 
commercial carrier and are part of a commercial wireless system, or are able to be used 
by the general public, regardless of the location or whether the facility or any of its 
components is located inside or outside a structure or building. 
 

Exceptions:  The term “wireless telecommunications facility” does not apply to the 
following:  

(a) A telecommunications facility that is both owned and operated by a governmental 
entity where the director determines enforcing the requirements of this Chapter are 
against the public interest.  

(b) Mobile services providing public information coverage of news events of a 
temporary nature.  

(d) Any wireless telecommunications facilities exempted from this Code by federal law 
or state law. 
 
 

17.150.030 Applicability 
 
A. Applicability. This chapter applies to the siting, construction or modification of any 
and all wireless telecommunications facilities proposed to be located in any portion of the 
City as follows: 
 
 1. All facilities, notwithstanding the date approved or the location installed, 
shall be subject immediately to the provisions of this chapter provided, however, if a 
condition of approval conflicts with a provision of this chapter, the condition of approval 
shall control until the permit is amended or revoked. 
 

2.  Any wireless telecommunication facility that was lawfully constructed prior 
to the adoption of this Ordinance that does not comply with the standards, regulations 
and/or requirements of this chapter, shall be allowed to continue as it presently exists, 
provided that i) it exists and is operating as originally permitted; and ii) any modification 
of the Facility has been properly permitted. 

 
3. Any modification not properly permitted under a previously existing 

ordinance must be permitted under this Ordinance. 
 

4. Any modification of a Facility or its equipment subsequent to the adoption 
of this Ordinance, must be permitted under this Ordinance and will require the entire 
Facility and any new or modified installation to comply with this Ordinance, except that 



 
 

any Tower or other support structure properly permitted prior to the adoption of this 
Ordinance may remain at the originally permitted height. 

 
5. Any repair and maintenance of a Wireless Facility that does not i) increase 

the height of the structure, ii) alter the equipment profile, iii) change the latest RF 
Modeling  form provided for this site, iv) increase the footprint of the Facility, v) increase 
the structural loading on the support structure; or vi) otherwise exceed the conditions of 
the permit, does not require an application for a new permit, but may require a building 
permit, electrical permit or other authorizing permit. In no instance shall any additional 
construction or modification be considered to be repair or maintenance. 

 
B.   Exclusions. This chapter does not apply to any entity legally entitled to an 
exemption from these zoning requirements pursuant to state or federal law.  
 
 
17.150.040 Wireless Telecommunications Facility Permit Requirements. 
 
A. General Rule: Conditional Use Permit Required 
 

Unless otherwise provided herein, all new wireless facilities, except for small cells 
or collocations or modifications to existing wireless facilities, shall require a 
Conditional Use Permit.  See section 17.150.060, below for review procedures. 
  
1. The Planning Commission may refer a conditional use permit to the City 

Council for approval.  
 

2. The Planning Commission shall approve a Conditional Use Permit if all of the 
following apply:  

 
 
A. The facility will comply with all applicable laws including, but not limited to: 

 
1.     The Americans with Disabilities Act; 

 
2.   All building and safety requirements, including those within the 

California Building Standards Code, as amended by the city and the latest 
version of TIA ANSI 222, to the extent that such standards are more 
restrictive than the otherwise applicable requirements. 

 
3. All applicable current requirements of the FCC and OSHA 

(Occupational Safety and Health Administration), including requirements 
relating to radiofrequency (RF) emissions and limits on interference. 

 
4. The requirements of this Chapter 17.150. 
 

 



 
 

5. Either the City has issued all required encroachment permits or it is a condition of 
the issuance of the permit that no installation begin in reliance on the permit until 
the City has issued all required encroachment permits.  

 
B. A facility that obtains an administrative permit need not obtain a conditional 

use permit. 
 
B. Administrative Permit. 
The Director shall approve an administrative permit if all of the following apply: 
 

1. The application is for i) a Small Wireless Facility, or ii) a collocation or 
modification of wireless telecommunication equipment on an existing Eligible 
Facility which does not create a Substantial Modification. 
 

2. The facility will comply with all applicable laws including, but not limited to: 
 

a.     The Americans with Disabilities Act; 
 

b.   All building and safety requirements, including those within the 
California Building Standards Code, as amended by the city and the latest version of TIA 
ANSI 222, to the extent that such standards are more restrictive than the otherwise 
applicable requirements. 

 
c.     All applicable requirements of the FCC and OSHA (Occupational 

Safety and Health Administration), including requirements relating to radiofrequency (RF) 
emissions and limits on interference. 

d.  The requirements of this Chapter 17.150. 
 

3. The proposed facility complies with the City’s published wireless design 
guidelines.   

 
4.  The proposed facility will be installed on either: 
 

a.    An existing support structure that meets all of the following 
requirements: 

 
i.     The facility will match the design of the pole; and 
 
ii.     If feasible, all equipment installed on the pole will be the same 

color as the pole; or 
 
b.    A new light pole that meets all of the following requirements: 
 

i.       The pole is not closer to any existing light pole than the then 
current spacing between light poles upon the street the pole shall be 
installed; and 



 
 

 
ii.     Unless requested otherwise by the City in writing, the light on 
the pole will be illuminated, operated, and maintained consistent with 
the operation of the other light poles in the City, and the full costs of 
illumination shall be fully borne by the applicant. 

5.  Either the City has issued all required encroachment permits 
or it is a condition of the issuance of the permit that no installation begin in reliance 
on the permit until the City has issued all required encroachment permits.  

 
C.  Batched Application: An Applicant, or its agent of record, may submit Applications 
for multiple small wireless facilities or locations with the following conditions that are 
intended in order to assure compliance with the FCC’s ‘Shot Clock’ requirements: 
 

1.  No single batched submittal shall contain more than five (5) Applications. 
 

2.  There must be a minimum of seven business days between submittals of 
batched Applications. 

 
4. No more than 4 batched Applications shall be accepted in any thirty 

consecutive day period.  
 

D. Other Permits Required. In addition to any permit that may be required under 
this chapter, the applicant must obtain all other required prior permits or other approvals 
from other city departments, or state or federal agencies.  Any permit granted under this 
chapter is subject to the conditions and/or requirements of other required permits or other 
approvals from other city departments, state or federal agencies. 
 
E. Eligible Applicants. Only applicants who have been granted the right to enter the 
public right-of-way pursuant to state of federal law, or who have entered into a franchise 
agreement with the city permitting them to use the public right-of-way, or who are acting 
at the behest and direction of one of the foregoing shall be eligible for a permit to install 
or modify a wireless telecommunications facility or a wireless telecommunication 
collocation facility in the public right-of-way.  
 
F. Speculative Equipment Prohibited.   The city shall not approve any equipment or 
other improvements in connection with a Wireless Telecommunications Facility Permit 
when the applicant does not actually and presently intend to install such equipment or 
construct such improvements within one-hundred-eighty (180) days. 
 
17.150.050 Application for Wireless Telecommunications Facility Permit 
 
A) General Application Requirements: The following items are considered general 

application requirements and shall be included in all applications: 



 
 

 
1. Identification of all current applicable federal and State law and rule, including the 

specific section and subsection, regarding Wireless facilities under which the 
Application is filed. 
 

2. The name, address, phone number and e-mail address of the person preparing 
the application 

 
3. The name, address, and phone number of the property owner and the Applicant, 

including the legal name of the Applicant. If the owner of the structure is different 
than the Applicant, the name and all necessary contact information for each shall 
be provided. 

 
4. The postal address and tax map parcel number of the subject property, or when 

application is for installation in the public right of way real, for the real property 
closest to proposed installation, and, if applicable, the Public Utility Pole number. 

 
5. The zoning district or designation in which the property is situated. 

 
6. For all new Facilities, a completed Propagation Study Data Form is required. 

 
7. For all new Facilities, a separate list of all frequencies licensed to the carrier not 

intended to be initially activated.  
 

8. A copy of the FCC licenses applicable for all the frequency bands licensed to the 
carrier to provide service in the City. 

 
9. All Applications shall include signed written commitment stating that: 

 
 

a) the Applicant’s Facility shall at all times without exception be 
maintained in a safe manner, and in compliance with all conditions 
of the Conditional Use Permit, as well as all applicable and 
permissible local codes, ordinances, and regulations and all 
applicable City, State and Federal Laws, rules, and regulations, 
unless specifically granted relief by the Council in writing;  

b) the construction of the Facility is legally permissible, 
including, but not limited to the fact that the Applicant is licensed to 
do business in the State. 

c) the Applicant commits to fully and completely indemnify the 
City for any use of the City’s Right-of-Way by Applicant, it’s 
employees, and agents. 

 
10. Certified detailed construction drawings, including but not limited to the following     

information: 
 



 
 

a) the size of the property footprint on which the structure to be built or 
attached to is located, stated both in square feet and lot line 
dimensions, and a survey showing the location of all lot lines and 
rights-of-way. 

 
b) location of the nearest residential or habitable structure. 

 
c) the location, size and height of all existing and proposed structures on 

the property. 
 

d) enclosures and cabinets on the property on which the structure is 
located that are related to the subject of the application. 

 
e) a site plan to-scale showing the footprint of the support structure and 

the type, location and dimensions of boundaries, access drives, 
landscaping and buffers, fencing, underground utilities of any kind and 
any easements. 

 
f) elevation drawings showing the profile and the vertical rendition of the 

Facility and, where appropriate, its support Structure and identifying all 
existing and proposed attachments and all related fixtures, structures, 
appurtenances and apparatus, including the height above the existing 
grade, materials, colors and lighting. 

 
g) proposed electrical and grounding plans for the Facility. 

 
11. The azimuth, size, top of antenna height, locations of all proposed and existing 

antennas on the support structure, and the height of the tip of any lightning 
arrestor. 

 
12. Copies of the cut sheets for all antennas, RRU’s, Transmitters, Receivers, and 

other in line RF devices that are used in the site. 
 

13. The type and manufacturer of the Tower or other support Structure and a 
rigorous structural analysis and report for such, including the calculations, 
certified by a Professional Engineer licensed in the State and proving the 
structure’s capability to safely accommodate the facilities of the Applicant. 

 
14. An ANSI/TIA-222 Maintenance and Conditions Assessment report regarding the 

physical condition of the Facility and its components, using the most recently 
adopted version of ANSI/TIA-222, or a functional equivalent report for any 
support structure that is not a Tower. If applicable, the report shall identify and 
contain allowable tolerances including but not limited to guy tensions, plumb, 
twist, slip splices, and take-up devices.  No Conditional Use Permit or 
Administrative Permit or any authorization for anything other than remediation 
work shall be issued for any Wireless Facility or related equipment where the 



 
 

structure being attached to is in need of safety-related remediation to comply with 
the requirements of this Ordinance and other applicable adopted standards of the 
City, unless and until all remediation work that is deemed needed has been 
completed or a schedule for the remediation work has been approved by the 
City. 

 
15.  For telecommunications Towers, but only Towers, taller than thirty-three feet 

(33’) in height, a completed and signed checklist for categorical exclusion of radio 
frequency electromagnetic emissions.   If the modification, co-location or 
construction of a new Wireless Facility is not categorically excluded based on the 
Federal Communications Commission’s rules and regulations, the Applicant shall 
provide a compliance letter to the City committing to remain in full compliance 
with all requirements set forth by the latest edition of the Federal 
Communications Commission (FCC) OET Bulletin 65 or its functional equivalent.   
 

16. A signed statement that the Applicant will expeditiously remedy any physical or 
RF interference with other Wireless devices or services. 
 

17. Cut Sheets or specifications for all equipment to be installed/mounted on the 
structure including a photograph and model name/number for each piece of 
equipment included.  
 

18. No applicant seeking to install wireless antennas shall seek an encroachment 
permit for fiber or coaxial cable only. Applicants shall simultaneously request fiber 
installation or other cable installation when seeking to install antennas in the right-
of-way. 
 

19. If the applicant requests an exception to the requirements of this chapter (in 
accordance with section 17.150.180), the applicant shall provide all information 
and studies necessary for the city to evaluate that request. 
 

20. An application fee and a deposit for a consultant’s review as set forth herein; in an 
amount set by resolution by the city council. Failing to submit the correct 
Application fee shall make the Application incomplete on its face 
 

21. Proof that a temporary mock-up of the facility and sign has been installed at the 
proposed location for a period of at least thirty (30) calendar days. 
 
 

a) Applicant shall obtain an encroachment permit before 
installing the temporary mock-up and must remove the temporary 
mock-up within five (5) calendar days of receiving a written notice to 
remove from the director. 

 
b) When seeking the encroachment permit, the applicant shall 

provide proof of written notice mailed to all property owners within 



 
 

300 feet of the proposed installation.  The applicant shall mail a 
notice regarding installation of the mock-up at least ten (10) business 
days prior to the installation. 

 
c) The mock-up shall demonstrate the height and mass of the 

facility, including all interconnecting cables.  The applicant shall not 
be entitled to install the facility it intends to install permanently.  The 
mock-up may consist of story poles or the like. 

 
d) The mock-up shall include a sign that displays photo 

simulations depicting before and after images, including any 
accessory equipment cabinet, and the telephone number of the 
Public Works Department. 

 
e) The applicant shall be required to follow any other city 

practices or processes relevant to the installation of a mock-up as 
may be provided in a publicly accessible form or document. 

 
f)   After installation of the mock-up, the applicant shall certify that 

the mock-up accurately represents the height and width of the 
proposed installation and has been installed consistent with this 
Code. 

 
B) Co-location Application Requirements: In addition to the requirements set forth in 

Subsection A, the following items shall be included in the application for co-
locations. 

 
 

1) A copy of the lease with the owner of the structure, and with the landowner if 
different than the structure owner, and if applicable a signed letter of agency 
granting authorization to represent and commit for the party represented.  If 
the Applicant owns the site, a copy of proof of ownership is required.  

 
2) The frequency, modulation and class of service of radio or other transmitting 

equipment. 
 

3) Transmission and maximum effective radiated power of the antenna(s). 
 

4) Direction of maximum lobes and associated radiation of the antenna(s). 
 

5) Require to-scale photographic simulations of the Facility “before and after 
construction” from key viewpoints inside of the City as deemed appropriate 
and/or as designated and accompanied by i) a map showing the locations of 
where the photographs were taken; and ii) the distance(s) of each location 
from the proposed structure. Guidance will be provided concerning the 
appropriate key viewpoints on an individual Application basis. 



 
 

 
6) A copy of the Applicant’s Certificate of Liability Insurance. 

 
 
 
 

C) New Wireless Structures and Substantial Modification Requirements: In addition to 
the preceding requirements, the following shall be included in the application for new 
Wireless Support Structures and Substantial Modifications of support structures: 

 
1. General Liability Commercial Insurance $5 million to protect the City: The 
applicant shall obtain, pay for and maintain, in full force and effect until the facility 
approved by the permit is removed in its entirety from the public right-of-way, an 
insurance policy or policies of commercial general liability insurance,  with 
minimum limits of Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) for each occurrence and One 
Hundred Million Dollars ($100,000,000) in the aggregate, that fully protects the 
City from claims and suits for boards, commissions,  officers, officials, agents, 
consultants, employees and volunteers as additional named insureds, be issued 
by an insurer admitted in the State of California with a rating of at least a A:VII in 
the latest edition of A.M. Best  Insurance Guide, and include an endorsement 
providing that the policies cannot be canceled or reduced.  

 
2. The Applicant for a new Tower or Substantial Modification shall submit 
clear and convincing technical evidence, done by the Wireless service provider 
associated with the Application, justifying the technical Need for the proposed 
height of the Facility and the Need for such, to the exclusion of all reasonable 
less intrusive alternatives. Evidence in the form of propagation studies must 
include the modeling data and assumptions used to produce the studies on a 
form to be provided by the City.   

 
3. The Applicant shall disclose in writing any agreement in existence prior to 
submission of the application that would limit or preclude the ability of the 
Applicant to share space on the new Tower or support structure. 

 
4. If a Modification of a Facility is needed whereby the height, profile or size 

of the Facility is increased, or if construction is needed outside the permitted 
compound or property, a detailed narrative explaining what changes are needed 
and why they are needed. 

 
5. The type of support structure, the number of antenna arrays proposed to 

be accommodated and a Certified structural report, including all calculations, 
demonstrating the Facility’s capacity to accommodate the required number of 
antenna arrays and associated equipment for which the structure must be 
designed. 

 



 
 

6. A copy of the foundation design, including a geotechnical sub-surface 
soils investigation report and foundation design recommendation for the Tower or 
other structure. Such shall be Certified by a licensed Professional Engineer 
licensed in the State that is experienced in the structural design of Wireless 
support structures.  

 
7. A written copy of an analysis completed by a qualified individual or 
organization to determine if the proposed Wireless telecommunications Facility is 
in compliance with Federal Aviation Administration Regulation Part 77 and if it 
requires lighting. Unless already lighted, this requirement shall also be for any 
Facility where there is a proposed increase in the height of the Facility. If this 
analysis determines that an FAA determination is required, then all filings with 
the FAA, all responses from the FAA and any related correspondence shall be 
provided with the application. 

 
8. A narrative description of the specifically what will be done to minimize the 

visual impact. The City expressly reserves the right to require the use of stealth 
or camouflage techniques.  
 
9. For a new support structure, or for a Substantial Modification, the 

Applicant shall be required to submit clear and convincing evidence that a new 
Tower or support structure or the Substantial Modification is the only option 
within one-half (1/2) mile of the proposed new Tower or support structure that will 
enable the provision of Wireless services substantially within the intended service 
area. 
 
10. Timely re-certifications (at the municipality’s discretion but no more 

frequent than every 5 years) will be denied if the re-certification has not been 
properly or timely submitted, or any equipment no longer in use has not been 
removed within the required 30-day period. In addition, no further applications for 
any new wireless facilities from the applicant and its representatives will be 
accepted by the City until such time as the timely re-certification has been 
submitted, all equipment no longer in use has been removed, and all fees and 
fines or any other amounts owed are paid in full. 

 
11. In order to better inform the public, in the case of a new Tower or support 

structure, the Applicant shall hold a “balloon test” or erect a story pole, i.e. a 
temporary mast, prior to the initial public hearing on the application. The choice 
of the use of a balloon test or story pole shall be that of the City based upon the 
facts and circumstances involved.  

 
a) The Applicant shall arrange to fly, or raise upon story pole, a 

minimum of a three (3) foot in diameter, brightly colored balloon at 
the maximum height of the proposed new Tower. To reasonably 
assure control and the stability of the balloon in winds, a spherical 
balloon shall not be used. 



 
 

 
b) At least fourteen (14) days prior to the conduct of the balloon test, a 

sign shall be erected so as to be clearly visible from the road 
nearest the proposed site and shall be removed no later than 
fourteen (14) days after the conduct of the balloon test. The sign 
shall be at least four feet (4’) by eight feet (8’) in size and shall be 
legible from the road by a person with 20/20 corrected vision.  The 
sign shall be placed off, but as near to, the public right-of-way as is 
possible and shall show the times and date(s) of the balloon test 
and City contact information.   

 
c) The dates (including a second date, in case of poor visibility or wind 

in excess of 15 mph on the initial date), times and location of the 
balloon test shall be advertised by the Applicant, in a newspaper 
with a general circulation in the City and as agreed to by the City, 
fourteen (14) and seven (7) days in advance of the first test date. 
The Applicant shall inform the City in writing of the dates and times 
of the test, at least fourteen (14) days in advance.  

 
d) The balloon shall be flown for at least four (4) consecutive 

hours between 10:00 am and 4:00 p.m. on the dates chosen. The 
primary date shall be on a weekend, but the second date, in case of 
poor visibility on the initial date, may be on a weekday. A report 
with photos from various locations of the balloon, and to-scale 
superimposed photo simulations of the Facility when completed, 
shall be provided with the application. 

 
12. The owner of a new Tower or other support structure, and his/her successors in 

interest, shall negotiate in good faith for the shared use of the Facility by other 
Wireless service providers, and shall:   

 
a) Respond within 60 days to a request for information from a potential 

shared use Applicant. 
 

b) Negotiate in good faith concerning future requests for shared use of 
the new Wireless telecommunications Facility by other 
telecommunications providers. 

 
c) Allow shared use of the new Wireless telecommunications Facility if 

another telecommunications provider agrees in writing to pay 
reasonable charges.   

 
d) Understand that failure to abide by the conditions outlined above may 

be grounds for denial or revocation of the Conditional Use Permit. 
 



 
 

13. The Applicant shall provide a written description and a visual rendering 
demonstrating how it shall effectively screen from view the Facility and all related 
equipment and structures associated with the Facility. The buffer, which may be 
located within the required setback area, shall consist of a landscape strip, at 
least five (5) feet in depth, located outside the security fence.  The landscape 
strip should be planted with a combination of trees and/or shrubs which are 
capable of attaining the required minimum height at maturity and which will 
enhance and, at minimum, partially screen the outward appearance of the 
security fence.  For facilities located within 1,500 feet of environmentally sensitive 
areas, as the City may designate in its sole and absolute discretion, the City may 
require wider landscape buffers and other items such as decay resistant, solid 
wood fences, earth berms, and brick or masonry walls in addition to the security 
fence.  All fencing, walls, and landscaping shall be kept in good condition and 
repair and maintained in a neat manner by the owner of the Tower.  

 
14. Co-location Not Reasonably Feasible: Co-location on an existing structure is not 

reasonably feasible if the co-location is Technically or Commercially 
Impracticable or the owner of the structure is unwilling to enter into a contract for 
its use. Written clear and convincing evidence to support such claims must be 
submitted with an application. 
 

15. Spec Support Structures Prohibited: A building permit shall not be issued for 
construction of a new facility or other support structure until there is an 
application filed for or by a specific carrier that documents that a less visually 
intrusive option or co-location on an existing structure is not Technologically 
Impracticable.  
 

   
D.  Small Cell Facilities Requirements. In addition to the preceding requirements, the 
following shall include in the application for a small cell facility a general description of the 
proposed scope of work and the specific purpose(s) of the small Wireless Facility. The 
scope and detail of such description shall be appropriate to the nature and character of 
the work to be performed, with emphasis on those maters likely to be affected or impacted 
by the work proposed. The description shall include at a minimum the type of equipment, 
number of antennas, height to top of antenna(s), statement of compliance with FCC 
requirements, and description and/or depiction of concealment elements. 
 
E. Effect of State or Federal Law Change.  If a subsequent state or federal law 
prohibits the collection of any information authorized by section 17.150.050, the director 
may omit, modify or add to that request from the city’s application form with the written 
approval of the city attorney, which approval shall be a public record. 
 
F. Independent Expert. The Director is authorized to retain on behalf of the city an 
independent, qualified consultant to review any application for a permit for a wireless 
telecommunications facility and confirm applicant’s ongoing compliance.   

 



 
 

The cost of this review shall be paid by the applicant through a deposit pursuant 
to an adopted fee schedule which may be adopted by resolution.  No permit shall be 
issued to any applicant which has not fully reimbursed the city for the cost of a consultant’s 
review, even if the cost exceeds the initial amount of the deposit.  Such amount shall be 
paid to the City prior to the issuance of the applicable permit or Certificate of Completion, 
whichever is procedurally needed next. Upon written request after the issuance of the 
Certificate of Completion and the payment of all expert assistance invoices, the City shall 
promptly refund any unexpended amount of the deposit.  The payment of the deposit shall 
precede any work being done that is related to the intended Application or lease.   
 
17.150.060  Review Procedure 
 
A. Pre-submittal Conference. Prior to application submittal, the city strongly 
encourages all applicants to schedule and attend a pre-submittal conference with 
designated City staff/departments and or consultants to receive informal feedback on the 
proposed location, design and application materials. The pre-submittal conference is 
intended to identify potential concerns and streamline the formal application review 
process after submittal.  Staff will endeavor to provide applicants with a reasonable time 
and date mutually agreed upon. As the pre-submittal conference is not mandatory and is 
for the benefit of the applicant, it shall not precipitate the start of the FCC’s applicable 
shot clock deadlines.  
 
B. Application Submittal Appointment. All applications must be submitted to the city 
and/or its designated consultant for completeness and review.  
 
C. Notice; Decisions. The provisions in this section describe the procedures for 
approval and any required notice for an application. 
 

1. Planning Commission Hearings. Any permit application under this chapter 
subject to planning commission approval (directly, or via appeal) shall require notice and 
a public hearing.  The planning commission may approve, or conditionally approve, an 
application only after it makes the findings required in section 17.150.080. 
 

2. Decision by Planning Commission. The Planning Commission may 
approve, or conditionally approve, an application only after it makes the findings required 
in section 17.150.080. Within ten days after the Planning Commission approves or 
conditionally approves an application under this chapter, the director shall issue a notice 
of the decision and post the notice on the City’s Planning Department public website, and 
any applicable conditions of approval shall be provided to the applicant at the contact 
information provided on the application.  
 

3. Written Decision Required. All final decisions made pursuant to this chapter 
shall be in writing and based on substantial evidence in the written administrative record. 
The written decision shall include the reasons for the decision. 
 
D. Appeals. Appeals shall be subject to the requirements of Chapter 17.88.   



 
 

 
E.  Review of Applications.   
 

1. Engineer’s Certification.  Where a certification of any technical or 
engineering expert is called for in an application, such certification shall bear the signature 
and seal of a Professional Engineer licensed in the State. 

 
2. Leases Do Not Extinguish City Priorities.  The existence of a lease or an 

option to lease shall not be deemed justification for not complying with the city’s siting 
priorities. An Applicant may not bypass sites of higher priority solely because the site 
proposed is under lease or an option to lease exists. If a site other than the number 1 
priority is proposed, the applicant must explain to the reasonable satisfaction of the City 
why colocation is technically or commercially impracticable. Build-to-Suit agreements 
between carriers and a proposed tower owner shall not be a valid basis for any claim of 
exemption, exception or waiver from compliance with this Section.  

 
3. Verifiable Information.  Any technical information must be provided in such 

a manner, form and with such content that it is able to be verified by a third party using 
the information used and provided by the applicant.  
 
17.150.070 Requirements for Facilities  
 
A. Design, Development, and Construction Standards.  
 
 All Wireless telecommunications shall be planned, designed, located, and erected in 
accordance with the following: 
 

1. General Guidelines: 
 

a. The applicant shall employ screening, undergrounding (where not 
prohibited by federal or state law) and camouflage design techniques in the design and 
placement of wireless telecommunications facilities to ensure that the facility is as visually 
screened as feasible, to prevent the facility from dominating the surrounding area and to 
minimize significant view impacts from surrounding properties all in a manner that 
achieves compatibility and does not result in visual disharmony with the community. 

 
b. Screening shall be designed to be architecturally compatible with 

surrounding structures using appropriate techniques to camouflage, disguise, and/or 
blend into the environment, including landscaping, color, and other techniques to 
minimize the facility’s visual impact as well as be compatible with the architectural 
character of the surrounding buildings or structures in terms of color, size, proportion, 
style, and quality. 

 
c. Facilities shall be located such that the primary view from each residential 

structure is not significantly impaired. 
 



 
 

d. The installation of new wireless facilities to new or existing poles in the 
public right-of-way must be separated at least five hundred (500) feet away from the 
nearest wireless facility.  

 
e. Each component part of a facility shall be located in such manner as to 

minimize physical or visual obstructions to pedestrian or vehicular traffic, not 
inconvenience the public's use of the right-of-way, and not create safety hazards to 
pedestrians and motorists. 

 
f. A facility shall not be located within any portion of the public right-
of-way interfering with access to fire hydrants, fire stations, fire escapes, 
water valves, or underground vaults, valve housing structures, or any 
other vital public health and safety facility.  

 
2.   Traffic Safety.  All facilities shall be designed and located in such a manner as to 

avoid adverse impacts on traffic safety. 
 
3. Blending Methods. All facilities shall have subdued colors and non-reflective 
materials that blend with the materials and colors of the surrounding area and 
structures.   
 
4. Equipment.  The applicant shall use the least visible equipment possible.  Antenna 
elements shall be flush mounted, symmetrical to the top of the pole, and no more than 
four (4) inches wider in diameter than the existing pole, to the extent not technically 
impracticable.  All antenna mounts shall be designed so as not to preclude possible future 
collocation by the same or other operators or carriers.  Unless otherwise provided in this 
section, antennas shall be the minimum height above ground technically needed to 
achieve the requirements herein.  When part of small cell or DAS, antenna and equipment 
attached to and directly associated with the antenna, excluding cabling, shall cumulatively 
not exceed 3 cubic feet in volume, nor be larger than two feet (2’) in height. 
 
5. Poles. 

 
a. Facilities shall be located consistent with section 17.150.190. 
 
b. Only pole-mounted antennas shall be permitted in the right-of-way.  

All other telecommunications facilities are prohibited and no new poles are permitted that 
are not replacing an existing pole. 

 
c. Utility Poles. If the proposed facility is to be located upon a utility pole, 

the maximum height of any antenna shall not exceed the lesser of forty-eight (48) inches 
or ten percent (10%) above the existing height of the utility pole, nor shall any portion of 
the antenna or equipment mounted on a pole be less than twenty-four (24) feet above 
any drivable road surface or 16-and-one-half feet (16.5’) above any sidewalk or driveway 
surface.  All installations on utility poles shall fully comply with the California Public Utilities 
Commission general orders, including, but not limited to, General Order 95, as may be 



 
 

revised or superseded. 
 
d. Light Poles. If the proposed facility is to be located upon a light pole, 

the maximum height of any antenna shall not exceed the lesser of forty-eight (48) inches 
or ten percent (10%) above the existing height of the light pole, nor shall any portion of 
the antenna or equipment mounted on a pole be less than ten (10) feet above the ground 
and no less than twenty-four (24) feet above any drivable road surface or more than 
sixteen and a half (16.5) feet above any sidewalk or driveway surface. 

 
e. New or Replacement Poles.  Primarily but not exclusively for 

aesthetic reasons, the City reserves the right, at Applicant’s cost, to require a new pole, 
or a replacement pole if such is needed to accommodate Wireless Equipment. If an 
applicant proposes to replace a pole in order to accommodate a proposed facility, the 
pole shall either be (i) designed to resemble as closely as is reasonably possible the 
appearance and dimensions of existing poles near the proposed location, including size, 
height, color, materials and style to the maximum extent feasible; or (ii) designed 
consistent with adopted wireless design guidelines. The new or replacement pole shall 
also be a hollow metal or non-corrodible functionally equivalent structure. 
 

f. A pole mounted equipment and enclosure, exclusive of antennas, 
shall not exceed four (4) cubic feet in total volume.   

 
g.  No utility or light pole shall ever exceed the lesser of fifty feet (50’) or 

the maximum permitted height for the zoning district in which it is located. 
 
h. Accessory Equipment: Except where otherwise preempted by 

federal or state law, all accessory equipment is required to be located underground 
to the extent feasible. When above-ground is the only feasible location for a particular 
type of accessory equipment and when such accessory equipment cannot be pole-
mounted, such accessory equipment shall be enclosed within a structure, and shall not 
exceed a height of five feet and a total footprint of 15 square feet, and when viewed 
from the street, is surrounded by foliage, which foliage, within 6 months of installation, will 
screen no less than 50% of the structure when viewed from the street.  
 

6.   Space.  Each facility to be located within the right of way shall be designed 
to occupy the least amount of space in the right-of-way that is technically feasible. 

 
7. Wind Loads. Each facility shall be properly engineered to withstand wind 

loads as required by this Code or any duly adopted or incorporated code. An evaluation 
of high wind load capacity shall include the impact of modification of an existing facility, 
where such modification is proposed. 

 
8.  Obstructions. Each component part of a facility shall be located in such 

manner as to minimize physical or visual obstruction to pedestrian or vehicular traffic, not 
incommode the public’s use of the right-of-way, and not create safety hazards to 
pedestrians and motorists. 



 
 

 
9. Public Facilities.  No equipment or facility shall be located and no work 

associated thereto shall interfere with access to a fire hydrant, fire station, fire escape, 
water valve, underground vault, valve housing structure, utility or any other public health 
or safety facility or the public right-of-way. 

 
10. Screening and Aesthetics.   

a. All ground-mounted facility, pole-mounted equipment, or walls, 
fences, landscaping or other screening methods shall be installed at least eighteen (18) 
inches from the curb and gutter flow line. 

 
b. If permitted to be mounted externally, no Wireless Antenna or other 

pole-mounted equipment shall extend laterally beyond the diameter of the structure as 
measured at the point of attachment. 

 
c. If permitted to be mounted externally, the point of attachment of any 

antennas shall not be more than three inches (3”) from the pole or other support structure, 
and the space between the structure and the attachment point of the antenna shall be 
concealed with a weather-proof material the same color as the structure or the antenna.  

 
d. Antennas shall be of a color that, as closely as is reasonably 

possible, matches that of the support structure. 
 

e. Except in such circumstances where federal or state law preempts 
this requirement, all antenna, cabling, electronic and accessory equipment not attached 
to the antenna(s) and transmission and distribution cable or fiber shall be placed 
underground in a weather-proof vault or contained inside the new support Structure; and 
when federal or state law or justifiable circumstance preempt or prohibit this requirement, 
the same shall be mounted so as to be the least visually intrusive given the facts and 
circumstances.  
 

f. Signage shall be attached on all wireless facilities in such manner as 
to leave it clearly visible to any person by, near, under, or around  the site, indicating the 
level of  exposure to RF emissions from the site at  the  spot of the signage. Signage shall 
be in compliance with appropriate federal and state regulations. 
 

g. All small cell or DAS Antennas shall not be larger than two feet (2’) 
in height.  
 

11. Accessory Equipment. Not including the electric meter, all accessory 
equipment shall be located underground, except as provided below: 

 
a. If the proposed facility is in the right-of-way, unless city staff 

determines that there is no room in the public right-of-way for undergrounding, that 
undergrounding is not feasible, or federal or state law or regulation prohibit the City from 
requiring undergrounding, an exception shall be required in order to place accessory 



 
 

equipment above-ground and concealed with natural or manmade features to the 
maximum extent possible. 

 
b. When above-ground is the only feasible location for a particular type 

of accessory equipment and will be ground-mounted, such accessory equipment shall be 
enclosed within a structure, and shall not exceed a height of three feet (3’) and a total of 
twenty-eight (28) cubic feet, and shall be fully screened and/or camouflaged, including 
the use of landscaping, architectural treatment, or acceptable alternate screening.  
Required electrical meter cabinets shall be screened and/or camouflaged.  Also, while 
pole-mounted equipment is generally the least favored installation, should pole-mounted 
equipment be sought, it shall be installed as required in this Chapter. 

 
c. In locations where homes are only along one side of a street, above-

ground accessory equipment shall not be installed directly in front of a residence.  Such 
above-ground accessory equipment shall be installed along the side of street with no 
homes. 

d. When otherwise preempted by federal or state law or regulation. 
 
12. Landscaping. Where appropriate, each facility shall be installed so as to maintain 
and enhance existing landscaping on the site, including trees, foliage and shrubs.  
Additional landscaping shall be planted, irrigated and maintained by applicant where such 
landscaping is deemed necessary by the city to provide screening or to conceal the 
facility. 
 
13. Signage. No facility shall bear any signs or advertising devices other than 
certification, warning or other signage required by law or permitted by the city. 

 
14. Lighting. 

 
a. No facility may be illuminated unless specifically required by the 

Federal Aviation Administration or other government agency. Beacon lights are not 
permitted unless required by the Federal Aviation Administration or other government 
agency. 

 
b. Legally required lightning arresters and beacons shall be included 

when calculating the height of facilities such as telecommunications towers, lattice towers 
and monopoles. 

 
c. Any required lighting shall be shielded to eliminate, to the maximum 

extent possible, impacts on the surrounding neighborhoods. 
 
d. Unless otherwise required under FAA or FCC regulations, applicants 

may install only timed or motion-sensitive light controllers and lights and must install such 
lights so as to avoid illumination impacts to adjacent properties to the maximum extent 
feasible. The City may, in its discretion, exempt an applicant from the foregoing 
requirement when the applicant demonstrates a substantial public safety need. 



 
 

 
e. The applicant shall submit a lighting study which shall be prepared 

by a qualified lighting professional to evaluate potential impacts to adjacent properties. 
Should no lighting be proposed, no lighting study shall be required. 
 
15. Noise. 

 
a. Backup generators shall only be operated during periods of power 

outages, and shall not be tested on weekends or holidays, or between the hours of 7:00 
PM and 7:00 AM. A Fire Department Inspection on backup generators is required before 
generator installation 

 
b. At no time shall equipment noise from any facility exceed an exterior 

noise level of fifty-five (55) dBA three (3) feet from the source of the noise if the facility is 
located in the public right-of-way adjacent to a business, commercial, manufacturing, 
utility or school zone; provided, however, that for any such facility located within fifteen  
hundred (1500) feet of any property zoned residential or improved with a residential use, 
such equipment noise shall not exceed forty-five (45) dBA three (3) feet from the sources 
of the noise. 
 

16. Security. Each facility shall be designed to be resistant to, and minimize 
opportunities for, unauthorized access, climbing, vandalism, graffiti and other conditions 
that would result in hazardous situations, visual blight or attractive nuisances.  The 
director may require the provision of warning signs, fencing, anti-climbing devices, or 
other techniques to prevent unauthorized access and vandalism when, because of its 
location and/or accessibility, a facility has the potential to become an attractive nuisance.  
Additionally, no dangerous or potentially lethal devices or elements shall be installed as 
a security device. 

 
17. Modification.  Consistent with current state and federal laws and, if 

permissible under the same, at the time of modification of a wireless telecommunications 
facility, existing equipment shall, to the extent feasible, be replaced with equipment that 
reduces visual, noise and other impacts, including, but not limited to, undergrounding the 
equipment and replacing larger, more visually intrusive facilities with smaller, less visually 
intrusive facilities. 

 
18. Expiration. The installation and construction approved by a wireless 

telecommunications facility permit shall begin within one (1) year after its approval or it 
will expire without further action by the city. 

 
19. Construction. All construction and maintenance shall at all times comply 

with all applicable portions of all federal, State and local safety and safety related codes.  
 

B. Conditions of Approval. In addition to compliance with the design and development 
standards outlined in this section, all facilities shall be subject to the following conditions 
of approval (approval may be by operation of law), as well as any modification of these 



 
 

conditions or additional conditions of approval deemed necessary by the director:  
 
1. As built drawings.  The permittee shall submit an as-built drawing within 

thirty (30) days after installation of the facility.  As-builts shall be in an electronic format 
acceptable to the city which can be linked to the city’s GIS. 

 
2. Contact information.  The permittee shall submit and maintain current at all 

times basic contact and site information on a form to be supplied by the city. The permittee 
shall notify the city of any changes to the information submitted within thirty (30) days of 
any change, including change of the name or legal status of the owner or operator. This 
information shall include, but is not limited to, the following: 

 
a. Identity, including the name, address and 24-hour local or toll-free 

contact phone number of the permittee, the owner, the operator, and the agent or person 
responsible for the maintenance of the facility. 

 
b. The legal status of the owner of the wireless telecommunications 

facility. 
  

3. Assignment.  The permittee shall notify the city in writing at least ninety (90) 
days prior to any proposed transfer or assignment of the permit. The written notice 
required in this including a primary contact person, mailing address, telephone number 
and email address; and (3) a statement signed by the transferee that the transferee shall 
accept all permit terms and conditions. The director may require the transferor and/or the 
transferee to submit any materials or documentation necessary to determine that the 
proposed transfer complies with the existing permit and all its conditions of approval, if 
any. Such materials or documentation may include, but shall not be limited to: federal, 
state and/or local approvals, licenses, certificates or franchise agreements; statements; 
photographs; site plans and/or as-built drawings; and/or an analysis by a qualified radio 
frequency engineer demonstrating compliance with all applicable regulations and 
standards of the Federal Communications Commission. Noncompliance with the permit 
and all its conditions of approval, if any, or failure to submit the materials required by the 
director shall be a cause for the city to revoke the applicable permits pursuant to and 
following the procedure set on in section 17.150.170. 
 

4. Signs.  At all times, all required notices and/or signs shall be posted on the 
site as required by the Federal Communications Commission, California Public Utilities 
Commission, any applicable licenses or laws, and as approved by the city. The location 
and dimensions of a sign bearing the emergency contact name and telephone number 
shall be posted pursuant to the approved plans. 

 
5. Security.  For a CUP a permittee shall pay for and provide a performance 

bond or other form of security approved by the city attorney’s office, which shall be in 
effect until the facilities are fully and completely removed and the site reasonably returned 
to its original condition, to cover permittee’s obligations under these conditions of approval 
and this code.  The security instrument coverage shall include, but not be limited to, 



 
 

removal of the facility.  (The amount of the security instrument shall be calculated by the 
applicant in its submittal documents in an amount rationally related to the obligations 
covered by the bond and shall be specified in the conditions of approval.)  Before issuance 
of any building permit, permittee must submit said security instrument. 

 
6. Noise. If a nearby property owner registers a noise complaint, the city shall 

forward the same to the permittee.  Said compliant shall be reviewed and evaluated by 
the applicant.  The permittee shall have ten (10) business days to file a written response 
regarding the complaint which shall include any applicable remedial measures.  If the city 
determines the complaint is valid and the applicant has not taken any steps to minimize 
the noise, the city may hire a consultant to study, examine and evaluate the noise 
complaint and the permittee shall pay the fee for the consultant if the site is found in 
violation of this chapter. The matter shall be reviewed by the director.  If the director 
determines sound proofing or other sound attenuation measures should be required to 
bring the project into compliance with the Code, the director may impose conditions on 
the project to achieve said objective. 

 
7. Permit Expiration.  A condition setting forth the permit expiration date in 

accordance with section 17.150.150 shall be included in the conditions of approval.  
 

8. Additional conditions.  The wireless telecommunications facility shall be 
subject to such conditions, changes or limitations as are from time to time deemed 
necessary by the director for the purpose of: (a) protecting the public health, safety, and 
welfare; (b) preventing interference with pedestrian and vehicular traffic; and/or (c) 
preventing damage to the public right-of-way or any adjacent property.  The city may 
modify the permit to reflect such conditions, changes or limitations by following the same 
notice and public hearing procedures as are applicable to the underlying permit for 
similarly located facilities, except the permittee shall be given notice by personal service 
or by registered or certified mail at the last address provided to the city by the permittee. 

 
9. Permit Transfer.  The permittee shall not transfer the permit to any person 

prior to the completion of the construction of the facility covered by the permit, unless and 
until the transferee of the permit has submitted the security instrument required by section 
17.150.070(B)(5). 

 
10. Property Rights. The permittee shall not move, alter, temporarily relocate, 

change, or interfere with any existing structure, improvement or property without the prior 
consent of the owner of that structure, improvement or property. No structure, 
improvement or property owned by the city shall be moved to accommodate a wireless 
telecommunications facility unless the city determines that such movement will not 
adversely affect the city or any surrounding businesses or residents, and the permittee 
pays all costs and expenses related to the relocation of the city’s structure, improvement 
or property.  Prior to commencement of any work pursuant to an encroachment permit 
issued for any facility within the public right-of-way, the permittee shall provide the city 
with documentation establishing to the city’s satisfaction that the permittee has the legal 
right to use or interfere with any other structure, improvement or property within the public 



 
 

right-of-way to be affected by applicant’s facilities. 
 
11. Liability.  The permittee shall assume full liability for damage or injury 

caused to any property or person by the facility. 
 

12. Repair Obligations.  The permittee shall repair, at its sole cost and expense, 
any damage including, but not limited to subsidence, cracking, erosion, collapse, 
weakening, or loss of lateral support to city streets, sidewalks, walks, curbs, gutters, trees, 
parkways, street lights, traffic signals, improvements of any kind or nature, or utility lines 
and systems, underground utility line and systems, or sewer systems and sewer lines that 
result from any activities performed in connection with the installation and/or maintenance 
of a wireless telecommunications facility in the public right-of-way.  The permittee shall 
restore such areas, structures and systems to the condition in which they existed prior to 
the installation or maintenance that necessitated the repairs.  Such time period for 
correction shall be based on the facts and circumstances, danger to the community and 
severity of the disrepair.  Should the permittee not make said correction within the time 
period allotted the city engineer shall cause such repair to be completed at permittee’s 
sole cost and expense. 
 
13. Drip Line.  No facility shall be permitted to be installed in the drip line of any tree in 
the right-of-way.  
 
14. Insurance.  The permittee shall obtain, pay for and maintain, in full force and effect 
until the facility approved by the permit is removed in its entirety from the public right-of-
way, an insurance policy or policies meeting the City of Nevada City’s insurance 
requirements for contractors to perform work with public right-of-way. 

 
15. Indemnification.  Permittee shall defend, indemnify, protect and hold harmless city, 
its elected and appointed council members, boards, commissions, officers, officials, 
agents, consultants, employees, and volunteers from and against any and all claims, 
actions, or proceeding against the city, and its elected and appointed council members, 
boards, commissions, officers, officials, agents, consultants, employees, and volunteers 
to attack, set aside, void or annul, an approval of the city, planning commission or city 
council concerning this permit and the project.  Such indemnification shall include 
damages of any type, judgments, settlements, penalties, fines, defensive costs or 
expenses, including, but not limited to, interest, attorneys’ fees and expert witness fees, 
or liability of any kind related to or arising from such claim, action, or proceeding.  The 
city shall promptly notify the permittee of any claim, action, or proceeding.  Nothing 
contained herein shall prohibit city from participating in a defense of any claim, action or 
proceeding.  The city shall have the option of coordinating the defense, including, but not 
limited to, choosing counsel after consulting with permittee and at permittee’s expense. 

 
16. Hold Harmless.  Additionally, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the permittee, 
and every permittee and person in a shared permit, jointly and severally, shall defend, 
indemnify, protect and hold the city and its elected and appointed council members, 
boards, commissions, officers, officials, agents, consultants, employees and volunteers 



 
 

harmless from and against all claims, suits, demands, actions, losses, liabilities, 
judgments, settlements, costs (including, but not limited to, attorney’s fees, interest and 
expert witness fees), or damages claimed by third parties against the city for any injury 
claim, and for property damage sustained by any person, arising out of, resulting from, or 
are in any way related to the wireless telecommunications facility, or to any work done by 
or use of the public right-of-way by the permittee, owner or operator of the wireless 
telecommunications facility, or their agents, excepting only liability arising out of the sole 
negligence or willful misconduct of the city and its elected and appointed council 
members, boards, commissions, officers, officials, agents, consultants, employees and 
volunteers. 

 
17. Cabinet Removal.  Should the utility company servicing the facility with electrical 
service that does not require the use of an above ground meter cabinet, the permittee 
shall at its sole cost and expense remove the meter cabinet and any related foundation 
within ninety (90) days of such service being offered and reasonably restore the area to 
its prior condition.  An extension may be granted if circumstances arise outside of the 
control of the permittee. 
 
18. Relocation.  The permittee shall modify, remove, or relocate its facility, or portion 
thereof, without cost or expense to city, if and when made necessary by (i) any public 
improvement project, including, but not limited to, the construction, maintenance, or 
operation of any underground or above ground facilities including but not limited to 
sewers, storm drains, conduits, gas, water, electric or other utility systems, or pipes 
owned by city or any other public agency, (ii) any abandonment of any street, sidewalk or 
other public facility, (iii) any change of grade, alignment or width of any street, sidewalk 
or other public facility, or (iv) a determination by the director that the wireless 
telecommunications facility has become incompatible with public health, safety or welfare 
or the public’s use of the public right-of-way.  Such modification, removal, or relocation of 
the facility shall be completed within ninety (90) days of notification by city unless 
exigencies dictate a shorter period for removal or relocation.  Modification or relocation of 
the facility shall require submittal, review and approval of a modified permit pursuant to 
the Code including applicable notice and hearing procedures. The permittee shall be 
entitled, on permittee’s election, to either a pro-rata refund of fees paid for the original 
permit or to a new permit, without additional fee, at a location as close to the original 
location as the standards set forth in the Code allow. In the event the facility is not 
modified, removed, or relocated within said period of time, city may cause the same to be 
done at the sole cost and expense of permittee.  Further, due to exigent circumstances 
including those of immediate or imminent threat to the public’s health and safety, the city 
may modify, remove, or relocate wireless telecommunications facilities without prior 
notice to permittee provided permittee is notified within a reasonable period thereafter. 
 
19. Conditions.  Permittee shall agree in writing that the permittee is aware of, and 
agrees to abide by, all conditions of approval imposed by the wireless 
telecommunications facility permit within thirty (30) days of permit issuance.  The permit 
shall be void and of no force or effect unless such written consent is received by the city 
within said thirty (30) day period. 



 
 

 
20. Right of Way Agreement.  Prior to the issuance of any encroachment permit, 
permittee shall be required to enter into a right-of-way agreement with the city in 
accordance with the City’s past practice. 
 
17.150.080 Findings. 
 
No CUP shall be granted for a wireless telecommunications facility unless the approving 
party makes all of the following findings: 
 
A. All notices required for the proposed installation have been timely given. 
 
B. The proposed facility has been designed and located in compliance with all 
applicable laws, including the requirements of this Chapter 17.150. 
 
C. The applicant has the right to enter the public right-of-way pursuant to state or 
federal law, or the applicant has otherwise obtained a legal authorization to use the public 
right-of-way. 
 
D. The facility is designed in a manner consistent with the architectural requirements 
applicable to the zone, if any. 
 
E.       The proposed facilities are designed in a way that preserves and promotes 
harmonious land uses and the public right-of-way in the City, furthers the purposes of 
the general plan, and protects public health and safety, visual resources, and the 
aesthetic quality of the City consistent with the goals, objectives and policies of the 
General Plan; 
 
F.   The applicant has shown that no other feasible design would be less intrusive upon 
the values intended to be protected by Chapter 17.150. 
 
G.  There is no known feasible alternate location which is available to the applicant at 
rates that are not commercially impracticable and that would be less intrusive upon the 
values intended to be protected by Chapter 17.150, and which location would allow the 
applicant to meet its reasonable wireless coverage objectives.  
 
17.150.090 Planning Commission. 
 
The Planning Commission will review and approve, conditionally approve, or deny a CUP. 
 
17.150.100 Nonexclusive Grant 

 
No permit or approval granted under this chapter shall confer any exclusive right, 
privilege, license or franchise to occupy or use the public right-of-way of the city for any 
purpose whatsoever.  Further, no approval shall be construed as any warranty of title. 
 
17.150.110 Emergency Deployment. 



 
 

 
A COW shall be permitted for the duration of an emergency declared by the city or at the 
discretion of the director.  “COW” means a “cell on wheels,” which is a wireless 
telecommunications facility temporarily rolled in or temporarily installed. Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, other than in extreme emergency situations as determined by the City, 
COWs shall not be permitted in the right-of-way. 
 
17.150.120 Operation and Maintenance Standards. 
 
All wireless telecommunications facilities must comply at all times with the following 
operation and maintenance standards. 
 
A. Unless otherwise provided herein, all necessary repairs and restoration shall be 
completed by the permittee, owner, operator or any designated maintenance agent within 
forty-eight (48) hours: 
 

1. After discovery of the need by the permittee, owner, operator or any 
designated maintenance agent; or 
 

2. After permittee, owner, operator or any designated maintenance agent 
receives notification from the city. 
 
B. Each permittee of a wireless telecommunications facility shall provide the director 
with the name, address and 24-hour local or toll-free contact phone number of the 
permittee, the owner, the operator and the agent responsible for the maintenance of the 
facility (“contact information”).  Contact information shall be updated within seven (7) days 
of any change. 
 
C. All facilities, including, but not limited to, telecommunication towers, poles, 
accessory equipment, lighting, fences, walls, shields, cabinets, artificial foliage or 
camouflage, and the facility site shall be maintained in good and safe condition, including 
compliance with the applicable portions of the most current version of TIA-ANSI 222, 
including but not limited to  ensuring the facilities are free of: 
 

1. Unreasonable amount of General dirt and grease. 
 
2. Chipped, faded, peeling, and cracked paint. 
 
3. Rust and corrosion. 
 
4. Cracks, dents, and discoloration. 
 
5. Missing, discolored or damaged artificial foliage or other camouflage. 
 
6.        Graffiti, bills, stickers, advertisements, litter and debris. 
 



 
 

7.       Loose or unsecured fittings. 
 
8. Broken and misshapen structural parts; and 
 
9. Any damage from any cause. 

 
D. All trees, foliage or other landscaping elements approved as part of the facility shall 
be maintained in good condition at all times, and the permittee, owner and operator of the 
facility shall be responsible for replacing any damaged, dead or decayed landscaping.  
No amendment to any approved landscaping plan may be made until it is submitted to 
and approved by the director. 
 
E. The permittee shall replace its facilities, after obtaining all required permits, if 
maintenance or repair is not sufficient to return the facility to the condition it was in at the 
time of installation. 
 
F. Each facility shall be operated and maintained to comply with all conditions of 
approval. Each owner or operator of a facility shall routinely inspect each site to ensure 
compliance with the same and the standards set forth in this chapter. 
 
17.150.130 Certificate of Completion for New Work 
 
A. No work shall be allowed to be done at or on any wireless facility, excepting normal 
repair and maintenance work, for which the owner cannot produce a certificate of 
completion for the most recent previous work, until a final inspection has been conducted 
and a certificate of completion has been issued. The owner of the wireless facility, 
telecommunications tower, or other support structure shall pay for any inspection(s) prior 
to the inspection(s) being conducted. A passing final inspection is required prior to the 
issuance of a certificate of completion. 
 
B. Operation of a facility without a certificate of completion is prohibited and may be 
enforced either pursuant to Chapter 1.12 or 1.22 of this Code. 
 
17.150.140 No Dangerous Condition or Obstructions Allowed. 
 
No person shall install, use or maintain any facility, when such installation, use or 
maintenance endangers or is reasonably likely to endanger the safety of persons or 
property, or when such site or location is used for public utility purposes, public 
transportation purposes or other governmental use, or when such facility unreasonably 
interferes with or unreasonably impairs or impedes the flow of pedestrian, bicycle, or 
vehicular traffic including any legally parked or stopped vehicle, the ingress into or egress 
from any residence or place of business, the use of poles, posts, traffic signs or signals, 
hydrants, mailboxes, permitted sidewalk dining, permitted street furniture or other objects 
permitted at or near said location. A facility, an equipment enclosure, and ancillary 
equipment must be designed and located in a manner that does not materially obstruct 
the roadway views of vehicles, bicycles, and pedestrians traveling within the public right-



 
 

of-way, and does not obstruct the visibility of signs located within the right-of-way. 
 
17.150.150 Permit Expiration. 
 

A. Unless Government Code section 65964, as may be amended, authorizes the 
city to issue a permit with a shorter term, a permit for any wireless 
telecommunications facility shall be valid for a period of ten (10) years, unless 
pursuant to another provision of this Code it lapses sooner or is revoked.  At 
the end of ten (10) years from the date of issuance, such permit shall 
automatically expire. 
 

B. A permittee may apply for a new permit within one hundred and eighty (180) 
days prior to expiration.  Said application and proposal shall comply with the 
city’s current code requirements for wireless telecommunications facilities. 

 
17.150.160 Cessation of Use or Abandonment. 
 
A. A wireless telecommunications facility is considered abandoned and shall be 
promptly removed as provided herein if it ceases to provide wireless telecommunications 
services for ninety (90) or more consecutive days unless the permittee has obtained prior 
written approval from the director which shall not be unreasonably denied.  If there are 
two (2) or more users of a single facility, then this provision shall not become effective 
until all users cease using the facility. 
 
B. The operator of a facility shall notify the city in writing of its intent to abandon or 
cease use of a permitted site or a nonconforming site (including unpermitted sites) within 
ten (10) days of ceasing or abandoning use.  Notwithstanding any other provision herein, 
the operator of the facility shall provide written notice to the director of any discontinuation 
of operations of thirty (30) days or more.  
 
C. Failure to inform the director of cessation or discontinuation of operations of any 
existing facility as required by this section shall constitute a violation of any approvals and 
be grounds for: 
 

1. Litigation; 
2. Revocation or modification of the permit; 
3. Acting on any bond or other assurance required by this article or conditions 

of approval of the permit; 
4. Removal of the facilities by the city in accordance with the procedures 

established under this Code for abatement of a public nuisance at the 
owner’s expense; and/or 

5. Any other remedies permitted under this Code. 
 

 
17.150.170 Removal and Restoration – Permit Expiration, Revocation or 
Abandonment. 



 
 

 
A. Upon the expiration date of the permit, including any extensions, earlier termination 
or revocation of the permit or abandonment of the facility, the permittee, owner or operator 
shall remove its wireless telecommunications facility and restore the site to its natural 
condition except for retaining the landscaping improvements and any other improvements 
at the discretion of the city.  Removal shall be in accordance with proper health and safety 
requirements and all ordinances, rules, and regulations of the city.  The facility shall be 
removed from the property, at no cost or expense to the city. 
 
B. Failure of the permittee, owner or operator to promptly remove its facility and 
restore the property within ninety (90) days after expiration, earlier termination or 
revocation of the permit, or abandonment of the facility, shall be a violation of this Code.  
Upon a showing of good cause, an extension may be granted by the director where 
circumstances are beyond the control of the permittee after expiration. Further failure to 
abide by the timeline provided in this section shall be grounds for: 
 

1. Prosecution; 
 
2. Acting on any security instrument required by this chapter or conditions of 

approval of permit; 
 
3. Removal of the facilities by the city in accordance with the procedures 

established under this Code for abatement of a public nuisance at the 
owner’s expense; and/or 

 
4. Any other remedies permitted under this Code. 

 
C. Summary Removal. In the event the director or city engineer determines that the 
condition or placement of a wireless telecommunications facility located in the public right-
of-way constitutes a dangerous condition, obstruction of the public right-of-way, or an 
imminent threat to public safety, or determines other exigent circumstances require 
immediate corrective action (collectively, “exigent circumstances”), the director or city 
engineer may cause the facility to be removed summarily and immediately without 
advance notice or a hearing.  Written notice of the removal shall include the basis for the 
removal and shall be served upon the permittee and person who owns the facility within 
five (5) business days of removal and all property removed shall be preserved for the 
owner’s pick-up as feasible.  If the owner cannot be identified following reasonable effort 
or if the owner fails to pick-up the property within sixty (60) days, the facility shall be 
treated as abandoned property. 
 
D. Removal of Facilities by City. In the event the city removes a facility in accordance 
with nuisance abatement procedures or summary removal, any such removal shall be 
without any liability to the city for any damage to such facility that may result from 
reasonable efforts of removal.  In addition to the procedures for recovering costs of 
nuisance abatement, the city may collect such costs from the performance bond posted 
and to the extent such costs exceed the amount of the performance bond, collect those 



 
 

excess costs in accordance with this Code.  Unless otherwise provided herein, the city 
has no obligation to store such facility. Neither the permittee, owner nor operator shall 
have any claim if the city destroys any such facility not timely removed by the permittee, 
owner or operator after notice, or removed by the city due to exigent circumstances. 
 
17.150.180 Exceptions. 
 
A.  Effective Prohibition.  In the event that any applicant asserts that strict compliance 
with any provisions in this chapter, as applied to a specific proposed wireless services 
facility, would effectively prohibit the provision of wireless services, the Planning 
Commission, when the application is for a CUP, or the Director, when the application is 
for an Administrative Permit, may grant a limited, one-time exemption from strict 
compliance subject to the provisions in this section. 
 
B. Required Findings. The Planning Commission or Director shall not grant any 
exception unless the applicant demonstrates with clear and convincing evidence all the 
following: 
 

1. The applicant has provided the city with a clearly defined technical service 
objective and a clearly defined potential site search area; 

 
2. The applicant has provided the city with a meaningful comparative analysis 

that includes the factual reasons why any alternative location(s) or design(s) suggested 
by the city of otherwise identified in the administrative record, including but not limited to 
potential alternatives identified at any public meeting or hearing, are not technically 
feasible or potentially available; and 

 
3. The applicant has provided the city with a meaningful comparative analysis 

that includes the factual reasons why the proposed location and design deviates is the 
least noncompliant location and design necessary to reasonably achieve the applicant’s 
reasonable technical service objectives. 
 
C. Scope.  The Planning Commission and Director shall limit their exemption to the 
extent to which the applicant demonstrates such exemption in Necessary to reasonably 
achieve its reasonable technical service Needs.  The Planning Commission may adopt 
conditions of approval as reasonably necessary to promote the purposes in this chapter 
and protect the public health, safety and welfare. 
 
D.  Procedure. An applicant desiring relief, waiver, or exemption from any aspect or 
requirement of this Ordinance shall address and identify such at the earliest possible time.  
If relief is not requested at or prior to a Pre-Application meeting, the city reserves the right 
to require a formal Amendment of the Application, including payment of all applicable fees 
and charges. The burden of providing the need for requested relief shall be solely on 
Applicant. Applicant bears all costs of the city in considering the request for relief.  
 
 



 
 

17.150.190 Location Prohibitions and Preferences 
 

A. Prohibited.  Unless otherwise required by law, no wireless facility in the right of 
way may be located in any area the City Engineer determines is inconsistent 
with existing or planned or expected uses of the right of way.   
 

B. Especially Discouraged. Telecommunications facilities are especially 
discouraged in any residential and historical zone as well as designated 
sensitive areas. 
 

C. Discouraged.  Wireless telecommunication facilities are discouraged from 
being in the Scenic Corridor Combining District or any Historic Districts.  A 
facility in the scenic corridor combining district must obtain a CUP where 
required by federal or state law and this ordinance.   
 

D. Encouraged.  Wireless telecommunication facilities are encouraged to be in 
industrial and commercial zones. 

 
17.150.200 Effect on Other Ordinances. 
 
Compliance with the provisions of this chapter shall not relieve a person from complying 
with any other applicable provision of this Code. In the event of a conflict between any 
provision of this chapter and other sections of this Code, this chapter shall control. 
 
17.150.210 State or Federal Law. 
 
A. In the event it is determined by the city attorney that state or federal law prohibits 
certain discretionary permitting requirements for certain wireless telecommunications 
facilities, such requirement shall be deemed severable and all remaining regulations shall 
remain in full force and effect.  For those facilities, in lieu of a CUP required by section 
17.150.040, an administrative permit shall be required, and all provisions of that section 
shall be required except to the extent determined by the city attorney to be prohibited by 
law.  Any conditions of approval set forth in this provision or deemed necessary by the 
director shall be imposed and administered as reasonable time, place and manner rules. 
 
B. If subsequent to the issuance of the city attorney’s opinion pursuant to (A) above, 
the city attorney determines that the law has changed and that such discretionary 
permitting is permissible, the city attorney shall inform appropriate city staff and all 
discretionary permitting requirements shall be reinstated.   
 
 
17.150.220 Nonconforming Wireless Telecommunications Facilities in the Right-
of-Way. 
 
A. Nonconforming wireless telecommunications facilities are those facilities that do 
not conform to this chapter. 



 
 

 
B. Nonconforming wireless telecommunications facilities shall be brought into 
conformity with all requirements of this article upon the first modification or upgrade of the 
Facility or Equipment following adoption of this ordinance; provided, however, that should 
the owner desire to expand or modify the facility, intensify the use, or make some other 
change in a conditional use, the owner shall comply with all applicable provisions of this 
Code at such time, to the extent the city can require such compliance under federal and 
state law. 
 
C. An aggrieved person may file an appeal to the city council of any decision of the 
director made pursuant to this section.  In the event of an appeal alleging that the ten (10) 
year amortization period is not reasonable as applied to a particular property, the city 
council may consider the amount of investment or original cost, present actual or 
depreciated value, dates of construction, amortization for tax purposes, salvage value, 
remaining useful life, the length and remaining term of the lease under which it is 
maintained (if any), and the harm to the public if the structure remains standing beyond 
the prescribed amortization period, and set an amortization period accordingly for the 
specific property.” 
 
SECTION 17.150.230  MAP OF 7-HILLS BUSINESS DISTRICT 
 



 
 

 



 
 

 
SECTION 2.  CEQA. This Ordinance is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) under CEQA Guidelines section 15061 because it can be seen with certainty that there is 
no possibility that the adoption of this ordinance will have a significant impact on the environment. 
 
SECTION 3.  Effective Date.  This ordinance shall become effective on the 31st day after adoption.   
 
SECTION 4.  Severability.  If any portion of this ordinance is found to be unenforceable, each 
such provision shall be severed, and all remaining portions of this ordinance shall be enforced to 
the maximum extent legally permissible. 

 
SECTION 5.  Certification.  The City Clerk shall certify to the passage and adoption of this 
ordinance as required by law.   
 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this ___th day of ______2020 by the following 
vote: 
 
AYES:  COUNCILMEMBERS:   
NOES:  COUNCILMEMBERS:   
ABSENT: COUNCILMEMBERS:   

____________________________ 
Reinette Senum, Mayor 

 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM 
 
_______________________________ 
Crystal V. Hodgson, City Attorney 
 

I, Niel Locke, City Clerk of Nevada City, do hereby certify that the foregoing 
urgency ordinance was introduced and adopted at a meeting thereof on the ____day of 
____________ 2020. 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk 



REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL     City of Nevada City 
          317 Broad Street 
          Nevada City CA 95959 
May 13, 2020         www.nevadacityca.gov 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
TITLE:   Declaration of Fiscal Emergency 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Approve Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council of the 
City of Nevada City Proclaiming a Local Financial Emergency and Recognizing the financial 
Hardship Facing the City in Fiscal Years 19/20 and 20/21. 
 
CONTACT:  Catrina Olson, City Manager 
 
BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION:  
On Wednesday, March 4, 2020, the Governor of California declared a Statewide state of 
emergency due to the COVID-19 virus, and on March 5, 2020 the City’s Director of the 
Defense and Disaster declared a local emergency due to the existence or threatened 
existence of conditions of disaster or of extreme peril to the safety of persons and property 
within the City of Nevada City.  The City Council of the City of Nevada City confirmed the 
Declaration of Local Emergency on March 11, 2020. Despite sustained efforts, the virus 
remains a threat, and further efforts to control the spread of the virus to reduce and minimize 
the risk of infection and otherwise mitigate the effects of COVID-19 are needed. The economic 
impacts of COVID-19 have been significant in the City of Nevada City, and many businesses 
are experiencing substantial losses. Accordingly, the City is facing a continued decline in 
General Fund revenues and limited or no growth in other revenues. The City is anticipating 
total General Fund revenue to decline in the current Fiscal Year 2019-20 below budget 
estimates with similar trends projected for FY2020-21. Specifically, the City has experienced a 
shortfall in the General Fund (based on reduced approximated year-end revenues).  The 
shortfall is estimated at $40k for FY 19/20 and continued declines in Sales Tax and Transient 
Occupancy Tax and parking revenues.  The estimated shortfall is projected at $ $441.5k for FY 
20/21. 
 
Analysis/Discussion: 
 
Declaring a fiscal emergency has several legal effects. Usually, the main purpose of declaring 
a fiscal emergency is to qualify a city for bankruptcy or to take more drastic personnel actions if 
deemed necessary. It provides no relief from financial constraints in and of itself. However, the 
California Constitution provides that in cases of “emergency,” not necessarily fiscal 
emergency, declared by a majority vote of the City Council, a city can place a tax measure on 
the ballot at a special election instead of at a regular election when members of the legislative 
body are up for election. Cal. Const. art. XIIIC (2)(b), Gov. Code § 53724(d). A fiscal 
emergency also is a requirement in many labor agreements before certain personnel actions 
can occur, like a reduction in force, for example. 
 

http://www.nevadacityca.gov/


Due to the current and anticipated reduction in revenues, the City is facing a serious shortfall 
with respect to its ability to maintain services at the current level. A declaration of fiscal 
emergency is needed to afford the City Manager authority to begin staff reductions if deemed 
necessary, obtain any available State and Federal assistance, and develop a budget that 
includes a reduction in force and other reductions necessary to meet the financial limitations 
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.  

Recommendation:  
Approve the Resolution Declaring the Existence of a Fiscal Emergency. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  There are no budget impacts of declaring a fiscal emergency but doing 
so will afford the City Administrator authority to begin to address the challenges to the City’s 
current and future budgets. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 Resolution 2020-XX, a Resolution of the City Council of the City of Nevada City

Proclaiming a Local Financial Emergency and Recognizing the Financial Hardship
Facing the City in Fiscal Years 19/20 and 20/21



RESOLUTION 2020-XX 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NEVADA CITY PROCLAIMING A 
LOCAL FINANCIAL EMERGENCY AND RECOGNIZING THE FINANCIAL HARDSHIP 

FACING THE CITY IN FISCAL YEARS 19/20 AND 20/21 
 
WHEREAS, conditions of extreme peril to the safety of persons or property have arisen within 
the City of Nevada City as a result of the spread of the COVID-19 virus throughout the State of 
California; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Governor of California declared a Statewide state of emergency due to the 
COVID-19 virus on Wednesday, March 4, 2020; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council confirmed the declaration of a local emergency due to the 
existence or threatened existence of conditions of disaster or of extreme peril to the safety of 
persons and property within the City of Nevada City on March 11, 2020; and 
 
WHEREAS, despite sustained efforts, the virus remains a threat, and further efforts to control 
the spread of the virus to reduce and minimize the risk of infection and otherwise mitigate the 
effects of COVID-19 are needed; and 
 
WHEREAS the economic impacts of COVID-19 have been significant, and businesses are 
experiencing substantial losses; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City is facing a continued decline in General Fund revenues and limited or no 
growth in other revenues; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City is anticipating total General Fund revenue to decline in the current Fiscal 
Year 2019-20 below budget estimates; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City has experienced a drop in economic activity as evidenced by the decline in 
business activity and the closure of all non-essential business establishments within the City 
due to COVID-19, thereby reducing the revenues for FY2019-20 with similar trends projected for 
FY2020-21; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City has experienced a shortfall in the General Fund (based on reduced 
approximated year-end revenues), the shortfall is estimated at $40k for FY 19/20 and continued 
declines in Sales Tax and Transient Occupancy Tax and parking revenues and the estimated 
shortfall is projected at $ $441.5k for FY 20/21. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED AND ORDERED that the City Council hereby 
proclaims a local financial emergency due to the existence or threatened existence of conditions 
relating to COVID-19 and associated economic impacts within the City of Nevada City; and 
 
IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED AND ORDERED that based on the current financial status and 
revenue projections, the City Council must make findings that enable and authorize potential 
reductions to staffing; therefore:  
 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the City Manager of the City of Nevada City is the authorized 
representative of the City of Nevada City for the purpose of processing, negotiating, and 
implementing the layoffs of City employees should they be deemed necessary, and processing, 



and coordinating all inquiries and requirements necessary to obtain any available State and 
Federal assistance. 
 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED due to the financial hardship facing the City, the City Manager is 
authorized to proceed with budget development that includes a reduction in force if deemed 
necessary and other reductions that may be implemented to meet the financial limitations of the 
City and to be incorporated into the FY2020-21 budget. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regularly scheduled meeting of the City Council of Nevada City 
held on the 13th day of May, 2020 by the following vote: 
 
AYES: 
  
NOES: 
 
ABSTAIN: 
 
ABSENT: 
       _____________________________ 
       Reinette Senum, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 
Niel Locke, City Clerk  


	1 REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING - 05.13.20
	WEDNESDAY, MAY 13, 2020
	PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

	3A-1 SR 5.13.20 Accounts Payable Activity Report - April 2020
	3A-2 Accounts Payable Activity Report-April 2020
	3B-1 SR 5.13.20 Budget Workshop Reschedule
	3C-1 SR 03-31-2020 3rd Quarter Financials
	3C-2 Combined financials Q3 2020
	01-fund status 03-31-20-FINAL
	02-Summary Financial Reports 03-31-20
	03-Summary Financial Reports 03-31-20
	04-Summary Financial Reports 03-31-20
	05-Summary Financial Reports 03-31-20
	06-Major Revenue Analysis -03-31-20-FINAL
	07-Major Revenue Analysis -03-31-20-FINAL
	08-Major Revenue Analysis -03-31-20-FINAL
	09-Major Revenue Analysis -03-31-20-FINAL
	10-Major Revenue Analysis -03-31-20-FINAL
	11-Major Revenue Analysis -03-31-20-FINAL
	12-Major Revenue Analysis -03-31-20-FINAL
	13-Major Revenue Analysis -03-31-20-FINAL
	14-Major Revenue Analysis -03-31-20-FINAL
	15-Major Revenue Analysis -03-31-20-FINAL
	16-Major Revenue Analysis -03-31-20-FINAL
	17-Major Revenue Analysis -03-31-20-FINAL

	3D-1 SR 5.13.20 Contract for Wastewater Plant Belt Press Wash Water Return Pump
	3D-2 Reso 2020-XX -  Wastewater Plant Belt Press Wash Return Pump
	3D-3 quote wwtp pump for belt press return
	City of Nevada Flygt 3127Pump Quote 05.04.20
	Quote

	Repair Estimate

	3E-1 SR 5.13.20 Chevy Silverado's
	3E-2 Reso 2020-XX Resolution Authorizing CM to Execute Lease for PD Chevy Tahoes
	3E-3 Chevy Silverado Price Sheet
	3F-1 SR 5.13.20 Commercial Street 0
	3F-2 Reso 2020-XX Commercial Street Recommending Approval of NOE for SB1 Grant 1.0
	AYES:
	NOES:
	ABSTAIN:
	ABSENT:

	3F-3 Commercial Street Exhbit 1 NOE 1.1
	3H-1 SR 5.13.20 Action Minutes
	3H-2 Meeting Minutes - April 22, 2020
	PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

	3I-1 SR 5.13.20 Special Action Minutes 5.1.20
	3I-2 Meeting Minutes - May 1, 2020
	PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

	4A-1 SR 5.13.20  Broad Street Closure
	4A-2 Reso 2020-XX Resolution Re Suspension of Parking Fees During Local Emergency
	4A-3 Stage 2 Notice
	5A-1 SR 5.13.20 Telecommunications Ordinance
	5A-2 SR Attachment (Telecommunication Ordinance) Redlined of Orginal 17.150 and proposed changes
	5A-3 Ordinance Amending NCMC Chapter 17.150 Telecommunications Facilities in the City
	ORDINANCE NO. 2020-XX
	AYES:  COUNCILMEMBERS:
	Reinette Senum, Mayor
	ATTEST:
	Niel Locke, City Clerk
	APPROVED AS TO FORM

	7A-1 SR 5.13.20 Declaration of Fiscal Emergency
	7A-2 Reso 2020-XX Declaration of Financial Emergency

	From Public Agency: City of Nevada City
	FromAddress1: 317 Broad Street
	FromAddress2: Nevada City, CA 95959
	County of 1: Nevada
	County of 2: 950 Maidu Avenue
	County of 3: Nevada City, CA 95959
	Project Title: Commercial Street Phase II
	Project Applicant: City of Nevada City
	Project Location  City: Nevada City
	Project Location  County: Nevada County
	Name of Public Agency Approving Project: City of Nevada City
	Name of Person or Agency Carrying Out Project: City of Nevada City
	Ministerial Sec 21080b1 15268: 
	Declared Emergency Sec 21080b3 15269a: 
	Emergency Project Sec 21080b4 15269bc: 
	Categorical Exemption State type and section number: x
	Categorical Exemption Type and Section Number: 15301 (c)
	Statutory Exemptions State code number: 
	Statuatory Exemptions: Code: 
	Contact Person: Amy Wolfson, City Planner
	Area CodeTelephoneExtension: 530-265-2496 x130
	YesNOWfiled: Off
	Date: 
	Title: 
	Signed by Applicant: Off
	Date Received for filing at OPR: 
	Description of Nature: Commercial Street Phase II (Project) consists of roadway rehabilitation of Commercial Street within the project limits (approx. 600 linear feet).  Sidewalk will be widened and enhanced at intersections to provide safe, convenient and efficient pedestrian access within the Downtown Historic District.  Pavement improvements include replacement of deteriorated pavement and improvements to cross-slope for drainage.   This project will help reduce traffic congestion and improve pedestrian safety which reduces vehicle emissions helping the State achieve its air quality and greenhouse gas emissions reductions goals. 
	Project Location: 200 block of Commercial Street
	ReasonExempt: The project is exempt pursuant to Section 15301(c) CEQA Guidelines because it involves rehabilitation and repair of an existing public street and sidewalk involving no or negligible expansion of use. 
	NOWfiledno: Off
	Signed by Lead Agency: Off


